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DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. YUEN Chow Ming (Chairman)
Mr. YUEN Wai Keung
(Deputy Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. SO Yiu Cheung (Deputy Chairman)
Mr. CHEUNG Chi Man, Dennis
Mr. LIM Siong, Dennis
Mr. WONG Tak Chung
(Resigned on 27 July 2011)
Mr. ENEBISH Burenkhuu
Mr. LEUNG, Chung Tak Barry

Non-Executive Directors
Mr. HO Hin Hung, Henry
(Re-designated from executive director to non-executive director
on 28 April 2011, and resigned on 28 June 2012)
Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. CHAN, Sai Kit Kevin

Mr. LIAO Cheung Tin, Stephen
Mr. TAM Tsz Kan

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. YUEN Wai Keung
Mr. LEUNG, Chung Tak Barry

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. CHEUNG Chi Man, Dennis

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. TAM Tsz Kan (Chairman)
Mr. CHAN, Sai Kit Kevin
Mr. LIAO Cheung Tin, Stephen
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. CHAN, Sai Kit Kevin

(Appointed as Chairman on 28 March 2012)
Mr. YUEN Wai Keung
Mr. TAM Tsz Kan

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. CHAN, Sai Kit Kevin

(Appointed as Chairman on 28 March 2012)
Mr. YUEN Wai Keung
Mr. TAM Tsz Kan

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

Units 1809-1812
Telford House

16 Wang Hoi Road
Kowloon Bay
Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISERS

K&L Gates

44/F., Edinburgh Tower, The Landmark
15 Queen’s Road Central

Hong Kong
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AUDITORS

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants
25th Floor, Wing On Centre
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Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Citibank (Hong Kong) Limited

Dah Sing Bank, Limited

DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

Hang Seng Bank Limited

The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ, Ltd.

The Hong Kong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
United Overseas Bank Limited
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On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of
Mongolia Investment Group Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”), | am pleased to present the
results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2012.

During the year, the Group continued to generate considerable
revenue from its waterworks business, while devoting efforts to further
develop its mining business in Mongolia. In late 2011, the Group
also announced the signing of a memorandum of understanding
regarding the proposed acquisition of an entity engaging in aerial
photography, aviation and aerospace remote sensing image data
processing, and provision of geographic information system software
and solutions, with an aim of further diversifying the Group’s business
into areas with long term growth potential. The related formal
conditional acquisition agreement was entered into in May 2012 and
is subject to shareholders’ approval.

Following the acquisition of Tugrugnuuriin Energy LLC (“TNE"), which
holds four mining licenses for a coal mine in Tugrug Valley (the “TNE
Mine”), located approximately 170 km southeast of Ulaanbaatar,
Mongolia, in 2010, the Group has been working very hard on its mining
operation. However, due to unforeseeable technical causes in
dewatering processing and severe competition in marketing coal of
lower calorific value, our overall production schedule has been further
delayed. The management has engaged independent mining experts
to review and advise on a more feasible mining plan, which can drive
a profitable business when commercial production commences.

For the year ended 31 March 2012, the Group recorded revenue of
HK$935.6 million, representing a slight increase of 6.9% over last
year (2011: HK$875.0 million). The growth was mainly due to revenue
derived from two waterworks maintenance projects that started in
September 2009, and two major water mains replacement and
rehabilitation projects that commenced in early 2009.
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Gross profit decreased by 32.6% to HK$31.3 million (2011: HK$46.5
million), owing to rising labour costs and subcontracting charges.
Loss attributable to shareholders totalled HK$1,387.8 million (2011:
loss attributable to shareholders was HK$369.9 million). This was
due to an impairment loss of HK$1,268.1 million on the revaluation
of the mining right at the TNE Mine. Other losses include (i) imputed
interest expenses of HK$85.9 million on promissory note and
convertible note issued as part of consideration for the acquisition of
Mongolia Investment Group Limited, a company incorporated in the
British Virgin Island and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, on 17 June 2010 (the “ Acquisition”), and (ii) fair value
loss on the derivative component of the convertible note amounted
to HK$0.8 million. The impairment loss, imputed interest expenses
and fair value loss were all non-cash items and have no impact on
the Group’s cash position. Basic loss per share was HK15.223 cents
(2011: Basic loss per share was HK6.676 cents).

As at 31 March 2012, cash at banks and in hand and pledged bank
deposits reached HK$335.4 million (as at 31 March 2011: HK$323.2
million). Total borrowings, including promissory note and convertible
note issued in 2010, as at the end of the review year were HK$846.5
million (as at 31 March 2011: HK$949.6 million). The Group’s current
ratio, being the ratio of current assets to current liabilities, was 4.0
times (as of 31 March 2011: 3.4 times), and its gearing ratio, in terms
of total borrowings net of cash at banks and in hand and pledged
bank deposits to total equity, stood at 149.9% (31 March 2011:
37.0%).

The Group’s transactions are primarily denominated in Hong Kong
dollars, United States dollars and Mongolian Tughrik. The Group has
not implemented any formal hedging policy. However, the Group
monitors its foreign exchange exposure continuously and, when it
considers appropriate and necessary, will consider hedging significant
foreign exchange exposure by way of forward foreign exchange
contracts where appropriate.

Mongolia Investment Group Limited
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As at 31 March 2012, the Group had approximately 720 employees
(for the year ended 31 March 2011: 790 employees) with nearly 100%
holding permanent positions. Total staff costs, including Director’s
emoluments for the year under review amounted to HK$140.1 million
(for the year ended 31 March 2011: HK$145.9 million).

The Group’s remuneration policies are primarily based on prevailing
market salary levels and the performance of the Group and of the
individuals concerned. In addition to salary payments, other staff
benefits include performance bonuses, education subsidies, provident
fund, medical insurance and the use of share option scheme to
recognise and acknowledge contributions made or may make to the
business development of the Group by its employees.

The management believes economic growth in Mongolia will sustain
as the country remains one of the fastest growing economies in the
world. Resources and mining has always been a major contributor to
Mongolia’s economic growth, thus it is believed the Mongolian
government will continue to foster the development of the mining
industry. The Group will continue to dedicate efforts to develop its
mining business in the country.

The Group’s TNE Mine holds four coal mining licences that cover a
1,114 hectares of mine site. It also holds three exploration licences
in respect of coal deposits in DundGobi (14,087 hectares), two
exploration licences in respect of gold and copper deposits in Gobi-
Altai (44,016 hectares), and two exploration licences in respect of
gold and copper in Zavkhan (15,517 hectares), all located in Mongolia.
The Group will seek to convert these exploration licenses into mining
licenses should there be abundance of resources discovered.
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Mining activities continued during the review year, total output of coal
from the TNE Mine was about 1,094 tonnes, which was significantly
lower than expected. This was due mainly to the fact that the calorific
value range of the coal products was not high enough for a profitable
contribution, while mining production costs in Mongolia had greatly
escalated in relation to the actual production. The management sees
the immediate need to adjust the mining plan to reduce overall
production costs to improve profitability and competitiveness. Hence,
independent mining experts were engaged to review and advise ways
to achieve cost reduction and improve production.

As a result of the unsatisfactory progress in production of the coal
mine operated by Tugrugnuuriin Energy LLC, a further impairment
loss net of deferred taxation amounting to HK$1,268.1 million (2011:
HK$ 300.6 million) on the valuation of the mining rights of the TNE
Mine is recognised to the consolidated result.

Despite the delay in commencement of production, the Group
achieved stable progress on the TNE Mine preparatory work
development. Our 2012 mine plan and 2012 environmental protection
plan were approved by the Mongolian authorities during the year. In
addition, several mining feasibility studies have been carried out, and
the Group has already obtained a mine operation permit for its TNE
Mine.

The construction of a compacted haul road has been completed
during the year. This road connects the mine to the loading point at
Maanit railway station, which is approximately 60 km from the mine
site and the main railway station from which the Group’s coal products
will be transported. The Group also conducted an environmental
impact assessment at Maanit railway station to better address the
possible impact on environmental, social and economic aspects.

The Group continued exploration works at other regions for the seven
exploration licenses. Exploration work including technical assessment
and geophysical works continued. Annual exploration reports were
submitted and approved by the relevant Control Agency. All the annual
license payments were also settled during the year.

Mongolia Investment Group Limited
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Waterworks Business in Hong Kong

During the review year, waterworks business recorded revenue of
approximately HK$930.3 million (2011: HK$874.3 million). Revenue
from waterworks maintenance projects increased by 10.7% to
approximately HK$583.6 million, representing 62.7% of total revenue.
Those from water mains replacement and rehabilitation projects
remained steady at around HK$298.9 million, making up 32.1% of
total revenue. As for landslip prevention projects, HK$43.1 million in
revenue was recorded, equivalent to 4.6% of total revenue.

Waterworks Maintenance Contracts
A main source of revenue during the review year was derived from
two waterworks maintenance projects that started in September 2009,

specifically:

1. Term Contract for Waterworks District E — New Territories East
(contract number: 1/WSD/09(E)); and

2. Term Contract for Waterworks District W — New Territories West
(contract number: 1/WSD/09(W)).

Water Mains Replacement and Rehabilitation Projects

Two major water mains replacement and rehabilitation projects of
the Group have been underway since the 2010 financial year:

1. Replacement and rehabilitation of water mains in East Kowloon
(contract number: 7/WSD/08) — estimated completion in May
2013; and

2. The second contract concerns replacement and rehabilitation

of water mains on Hong Kong Island South and outlying islands
(contract number: 18/WSD/08) — Estimated completion in
September 2013.
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PROSPECTS

Looking ahead, the Group will continue to consolidate resources and
develop its various businesses. Although both the exciting mining
business and, subject to shareholders’ approval and acquisition
completion, the aerial photography solutions business are at relatively
initial stages, the management believes both sectors possess vast
and long term growth opportunities.

Ongoing efforts will be placed at commercialising the TNE Mine. The
management will continue to closely monitor operation flow and begin
to work on securing off-take agreements with customers once the
time is right. With the outlook of the commodities market remaining
optimistic, the Group will also continue with exploration activities within
the licensed areas.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to express
my gratitude to the management and staff for their diligence and
dedication over the past year. Along the line, we will continue to
consolidate our existing operations while ramping up development of
new business ventures, with an aim of enhancing shareholders’ value
in the long run.

Mongolia Investment Group Limited
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. YUEN Chow Ming, aged 75, is an executive Director, the Chairman
and the founder of the Company and the Group. Mr. YUEN and three
other partners found Ming Hing Engineering Company (the “Partnership”)
in 1967. In January 1987, Mr. YUEN, together with Mr. SO Yiu Cheung
and two other partners, established Ming Hing Waterworks Engineering
Company Limited and he was one of the founding directors. Mr. YUEN
studied engineering science at “ R & 2 RBHE K2 in the early 1960s
and has over 40 years’ experience in waterworks engineering, most time
of which were devoted to developing and managing the Group’s
waterworks projects. Mr. YUEN was appointed as an executive Director
on 29 October 2004. Mr. YUEN has been since the inception of the
business responsible for the marketing, formulation of corporate
strategies, business planning and overall management of the Group. Mr.
YUEN is the father of Mr. YUEN Wai Keung.

Mr. YUEN Wai Keung, aged 45, is an executive Director, the Deputy
Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the Group and is
responsible for the overall business management and corporate
development of the Group. Mr. YUEN graduated from the Imperial
College of Science, Technology and Medicine, University of London
with a bachelor’s degree in mechanical engineering in 1990.
Mr. YUEN also holds a master’s degree in business administration
from the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology in 2000.
Mr. YUEN is a member of The Hong Kong Institution of Engineers
and a member of Institution of Mechanical Engineers (UK).
Mr. YUEN joined the Group in 1991 and has since then been heavily
involved in all aspects relating to the waterworks business of the Group.
He is a member of The 10" Committee of Changsha City Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference. Mr. YUEN became a
director of Ming Hing Waterworks Engineering Company Limited in
1996 and was appointed as an executive Director of the Group on 2
June 2004. Mr. YUEN is the son of Mr. YUEN Chow Ming.
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Mr. SO Yiu Cheung, aged 60, is an executive Director and the Deputy
Chairman of the Group and is responsible for the overall project
management of the Group. Mr. SO is also involved in the formulation
of corporate plans and strategies of the Group. Mr. SO obtained his
certificate in structural engineering from Hong Kong Polytechnic in
July 1973. Mr. SO is also an associate member of the Institute of
Plumbing in the UK. Mr. SO has over 35 years’ experience in
waterworks engineering. Mr. SO joined the Group in 1985 as a partner
to the Partnership and became one of the founding partners of Ming
Hing Waterworks Engineering Company Limited in 1987. Mr. SO was
appointed as an executive Director on 29 October 2004.

Mr. CHEUNG Chi Man, Dennis, aged 44, is an executive Director,
Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary. Mr. CHEUNG has
over 17 years of experience in accounting and financial management.
He has been an independent non-executive director of Powerwell
Pacific Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Growth Enterprise
Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, since 27
September 2010. Prior to taking up the above-mentioned posts of
the Company, he has been the chief financial officer of the China
division of Midland Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). Mr. CHEUNG holds a Master’s degree in Commerce from
the University of New South Wales, Australia. Mr. CHEUNG is a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and Australian Society of Certified Practicing Accountants. Mr.
CHEUNG was appointed as an executive Director on 15 October 2008.

Mr. LIM Siong, Dennis, aged 45, is an executive Director. Mr. LIM is
a graduate of the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in hospitality
management in 1990. He has substantial experience in the exploration
and mining industry in Mongolia. Mr. LIM also possesses a wealth of
experience in consumer products and sales and marketing in Asia
Pacific Region as he worked for a USA multinational corporation
before. Mr. LIM was appointed as an executive Director on 17 June
2010.

Mongolia Investment Group Limited
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Mr. ENEBISH Burenkhuu, aged 51, is an executive Director.
Mr. ENEBISH graduated from the Geological Faculty of Mongolian
Polytechnic University with a degree in geological engineering in 1984.
Mr. ENEBISH has over 25 years of experience in dealing with copper
and other deposits evaluation and mining exploration works in
Mongolia. Mr. ENEBISH was appointed as an executive Director on

17 June 2010.

Mr. LEUNG, Chung Tak Barry, aged 49, obtained his master degree
of business administration, majoring in finance and banking from
McLaren School of Business, the University of San Francisco in the
United States of America in 1997. Mr. LEUNG has over 10 years’
experience in taking management role for a Hong Kong listed red-
chip company, managing the transactions for mergers and acquisitions
and corporate finance activities and working closely with various
provincial governments in the People’s Republic of China. From 20
January 2006 to 4 June 2007, Mr. LEUNG was a non-executive
director of China Best Group Holding Limited (the shares of which
are listed on the Stock Exchange; stock code: 370), which has coal
and coke manufacturing related businesses. Mr. LEUNG was also
appointed as a non-executive director of Thunder Sky Battery Limited
(now known as Sinopoly Battery Limited and the shares of which are
listed on the Stock Exchange; stock code: 729) on 20 October 2006,
re-designated as an executive director on 22 November 2006 and
then re-designated as a non-executive director on 1 June 2009. Mr.
LEUNG has resigned as a non-executive director of Thunder Sky
Battery Limited (now known as Sinopoly Battery Limited) on 1 July
2010. Mr. LEUNG was appointed as an executive Director on 14 March
2011.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. HO Hin Hung, Henry, aged 55, is an executive Director from
15 March 2010 to 27 April 2011 and re-designated as non-executive
Director on 28 April 2011. Mr. HO has over 27 years of experience in
investment management, investment banking and research. In the
past ten years, Mr. HO worked for several internationally prestigious
investment banks heading their research departments. He has been
a director of KEXRT NHIZERMDBR AR (Tianjin Tasly
Pharmaceutical Joint Stock Company Limited), a company listed on
the Shanghai Stock Exchange, since 24 March 2009. During the
period from 1994 to 1999, Mr. HO served as a part-time member of
the Central Policy Unit of the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region. Mr. HO holds a degree of Master of Arts in
Accounting and Finance from the University of Lancaster, United
Kingdom. Mr. HO was appointed as an executive Director on 15 March
2010.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. CHAN, Sai Kit Kevin, aged 56, graduated from the Buckingham
University of United Kingdom in 1979 with L.L.B. and further obtained
L.L.M. qualification at King’s College London, University of London in
1980. He was called to the Bar of the United Kingdom and the Bar of
Hong Kong in 1980 and 1981 respectively. He is a member of the
Hong Kong Bar Association and has been practising as a barrister in
Hong Kong since 1981. Mr. CHAN was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 1 November 2010.

Mr. LIAO Cheung Tin, Stephen, aged 50, is an independent
non-executive Director and was appointed on 20 February 2009.
Mr. LIAO has over 24 years’ experience in the trade and commerce
industry. Mr. LIAO is currently the general manager of the corporate
development division of Sky Holdings Group Limited. Mr. LIAO holds
a Joint-honors degree in Chemistry with Management Studies from
the University of London. Mr. LIAO returned back to Hong Kong in
1985 and had held senior management positions in both international

Mongolia Investment Group Limited
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and local listed and private companies since then. Mr. LIAO also serves
in various non-profit organizations and is the member of Guangxi
Qinzhou Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference, the Vice-
President of Guangxi Youth Entrepreneur Association, the Vice-
Chairman of Guangxi Guilin Youth Federation, the Executive Member
of Guangxi Qinzhou Overseas Friendship Association and the
Committee Member of Guangxi Youth Federation.

Mr. TAM Tsz Kan, aged 44, has extensive experience in auditing,
taxation, accounting and financial management. He is currently the
managing director of a local corporate accounting firm. Prior to that,
Mr. TAM has worked for two international accounting firms for about
5 years and a private company as a financial controller for about
6 years. Mr. TAM is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and The Taxation Institute of Hong
Kong. Mr. TAM holds a Bachelor degree in Accounting and Finance
from the Middlesex University, United Kingdom. Mr. TAM was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 1 October
2010.
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The Directors are pleased to present their annual report together with
the audited financial statements of the Company and the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2012.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. Details of the
principal activities of each member of the Group are set forth in note
16 to the financial statements.

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of maintenance
and construction works on civil engineering contracts in respect of
waterworks engineering, road works and drainage and slope upgrading
for the public sector in Hong Kong, the provision of water supply
services in Mainland China as well as the mining and exploration of
mineral resources in Mongolia.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The Group’s results for the year ended 31 March 2012 and the state
of affairs of the Group and the Company at that date are set out in the
financial statements on pages 41 to 179.

No dividend has been recommended by the Board for the year ended
31 March 2012.

GROUP FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 180.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended 31 March 2012 are set out in note 14 to
the financial statements.

BORROWINGS

Details of bank borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2012 are set
out in note 27 to the financial statements.

ELREEEAER2T | Mongolia Investment Group Limited
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the year
ended 31 March 2012, are set out in note 30 to the financial
statements.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Details of the contingent liabilities of the Group as at 31 March 2012
are set out in note 35 to the financial statements.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Details of the pledge of assets of the Group as at 31 March 2012 are
set out in note 24 to the financial statements.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Details of the segment information of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2012 are set out in note 6 to the financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year ended 31 March 2012 are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and note 32 to the financial statements
respectively.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association of the Company (the “Articles”) or the laws of the Cayman
Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new shares of the
Company on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE
OF LISTED SECURITIES OF THE
COMPANY

During the year under review, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries has purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Shares.

17
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:
Executive Directors

Mr. YUEN Chow Ming (Chairman)
Mr. YUEN Wai Keung
(Deputy Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. SO Yiu Cheung (Deputy Chairman)
Mr. CHEUNG Chi Man, Dennis
Mr. LIM Siong, Dennis
Mr. WONG Tak Chung
(Resigned on 27 July 2011)
Mr. ENEBISH Burenkhuu
Mr. LEUNG, Chung Tak Barry

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. HO Hin Hung, Henry (Re-designated from executive Director to
non-executive Director on 28 April 2011, and resigned on
28 June 2012)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. CHAN, Sai Kit Kevin

Mr. LIAO Cheung Tin, Stephen
Mr. TAM Tsz Kan

RIFARGEER MB8T5 - RIKFAILAE - #RIRAF In accordance with article 87 of the Articles, Mr. YUEN Chow Ming,

o MRESE A RENEBISH Burenkhuu 2t A& 5 7 Mr. SO Yiu Cheung, Mr. LIM Siong, Dennis and Mr. ENEBISH

EEREBFRSHERMT  WEERBEE Burenkhuu will retire by rotation at the forthcoming annual general

o BEMMEEFKEIE - meeting and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election. All
the other Directors will continue in office.

RAREEESBYIENITESRIEBIMES The Company has received, from each of the independent

EARA (T EWmRAN) 231363 H 2 B i non-executive Director, a confirmation of his independence pursuant

RE - ARAREMBBUINTESHES to rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the

AV Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”). The Company considers that all
the independent non-executive Directors are independent.
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Mr. YUEN Chow Ming, Mr. YUEN Wai Keung and Mr. SO Yiu Cheung,
each of them has entered into a service agreement with the Company
for a term of three years commencing on 1 March 2012. Either the
Company or the executive Director may, after one year of the
commencement date of their respective agreements, terminate the
appointment of the executive Director by giving to the other party not
less than six months' written notice of termination or by payment in
lieu of such notice.

Mr. CHEUNG Chi Man, Dennis has entered into a service agreement
with the Company for a term of three years commencing on
15 October 2011. Either the Company or the executive Director may,
after one year of the commencement date of the agreement, terminate
the appointment of the executive Director by giving to the other party
not less than three months' written notice of termination or by payment
in lieu of such notice.

Mr. LIM Siong, Dennis and Mr. ENEBISH Burenkhuu, each of them
has entered into a service agreement with the Company for a term of
three years commencing on 17 June 2010. Mr. LEUNG, Chung Tak
Barry has entered into a service agreement with the Company for a
term of three years commencing on 14 March 2011. Either the
Company or the executive Director may, after one year of the
commencement date of their respective agreements, terminate the
appointment of the executive Director by giving to the other party not
less than three months’ written notice of termination or by payment
in lieu of such notice. Mr. HO Hin Hung, Henry has entered into a
service agreement with the Company for a term of three years
commencing on 15 March 2010 and may be terminated by either
party by giving the other three months’ written notice of termination
or by payment in lieu of such notice.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE AGREEMENTS

(Continued)

Mr. CHAN, Sai Kit Kevin, an independent non-executive Director, has
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for a fixed
term of one year commencing on 1 November 2011 and may be
terminated by either party by giving one month’s written notice.
Mr. LIAO Cheung Tin, Stephen, an independent non-executive
Director, has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company
for a fixed term of two years commencing on 1 August 2010 and may
be terminated by either party by giving one month’s written notice.
Mr. TAM Tsz Kan, an independent non-executive Director, has entered
into a letter of appointment with the Company for a fixed term of one
year commencing on 1 October 2011 and may be terminated by either
party by giving one month’s written notice.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has a contract of service
with the Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries not
determinable by the employing company within one year without
payment of compensation (except for statutory compensation).

The Company's policies concerning emoluments of the Directors are
as follows:

(i) the amount of remuneration is determined on the basis of the
relevant Directors' experience, responsibilities, workload and
the time devoted to the Group;

(ii) non-cash benefits may be provided to the Directors under their
remuneration package; and

(iii) ~ the Directors may be granted, at the discretion of the Board,
options pursuant to the share option scheme adopted by the
Company, as part of their remuneration package.

DIRECTORS’ AND THE FIVE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS’ EMOLUMENTS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and of the five highest
paid individuals of the Group are set out in note 13 to the financial
statements.

Mongolia Investment Group Limited
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Details of continuing connected transactions which also constitute
related party transactions for the year are set out in note 37 to the
financial statements.

On 16 November 2005, Ming Hing Waterworks Engineering Company
Limited, as Lessee, and Grand Media Limited, as Lessor, entered into
a lease agreement (the “Lease Agreement”) regarding the premises
of Units 1809-1812, 18th Floor, Telford House, No. 16 Wang Hoi
Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong. The Lease Agreement was renewed on
9 May 2011 with identical terms and conditions except for a lease
term from 1 April 2011 to 31 March 2014 at a monthly rental of
HK$82,000. Mr. Yuen Chow Ming, Mr. Yuen Wai Keung and Mr. So
Yiu Cheung, all being executive Directors of the Company, have equity
interest of 34%, 33% and 33% respectively in Grand Media Limited.
Therefore, Grand Media Limited is an associate of the three Directors
of the Company and the renewal of the Lease Agreement amounted
to a continuing connected transaction exempt from reporting,
announcement and independent shareholders’ approval requirements
under the Listing Rules.

In the opinion of the independent non-executive Directors, such
transaction was entered into by the Group:

(a) in the ordinary and usual course of business;

(b) on normal commercial terms or on terms no less favourable
to the Group than terms available to/from (as appropriate)
independent third parties; and

(c) in accordance with the terms of the relevant agreements
governing the transactions on terms that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the
Company as a whole.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in note 37 to the financial statements, no Director
had a significant beneficial interest, either directly or indirectly, in
any contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY
AND ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2012, the Directors and the chief executive had the
following interests in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ”) which
were notified to the Company and Stock Exchange pursuant to Division
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions
which they are taken of deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO) which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) contained in the Listing Rules:

ELREEEAER2T | Mongolia Investment Group Limited
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RO ERESZ2EERAXAE  IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES

) AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY
AND ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

(Continued)

(a) RARQEERMEEO.05%E T (a) Long position in the ordinary shares of

ZEBR (R ZRRE HK$0.05 each of the Company
(“Shares”)

i ONGT )Y

BMABE D

Approximate

B/ EntE BEROHE percentage of

Capacity/ Number of shareholding in

Name of Director Nature of interest Shares held the Company

R EE Mr. YUEN Chow Ming EAER 120,000,000 1.30%
Personal

RE®LE Mr. YUEN Wai Keung 1 XEHEEz ER 93,888,000 1.02%

Interest of
controlled corporation

BAER 125,704,000 1.37%
Personal

BHERHLE Mr. SO Yiu Cheung 18 A & 123,000,000 1.34%
Personal

REXELE Mr. CHEUNG Chi Man, Dennis BAER 8,000,000 0.09%
Personal

WAL LE Mr. LIM Siong, Dennis EPNF 206,850,000 2.25%
Personal

BtaE Note:

(1) 11£93,888,000/% 3% 17 LA Success Token (1) The 93,888,000 Shares are registered in the name of Success
Holdings Limited ([Success Token]) 2 Token Holdings Limited (“Success Token "), of which Mr.
BERER HPRERLIEBER YUEN Wai Keung is entitled to exercise, or control the exercise
Success Token B A& 171 k%% of, forth-fifths of the voting power at general meetings of
IR D 2 MR ERE o Bt + Success Success Token. Hence Success Token is a controlled
TokenBJRIER £ 2 ZIEFEE (B corporation (within the meaning of the SFO) of Mr. YUEN Wai
ERBHREERD) - MULREES Keung, who is therefore deemed to be interested in these
REEGD - RERAEHERES Shares under the SFO.
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(b) gﬁﬁﬁ‘}iZHﬁfﬁZEé%

Name of Director

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY
AND ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

(Continued)

(b) Beneficial interests in the shares of
associated corporations

R &EE Mr. YUEN Wai Keung
it -

1) ILEBOOR s 7 fr R B 58 SE A5

(c) RERBHEBEROGRESRZ
RR

IR

BRERARRNR_ZZEERFA+HAR
ME IR T 8 (B BN M Bk
MizE31) - ETEFERAIRBRMNMOE
B MR—E——F=RA=+—H&*k
TERAITITEMERESEET

REBEEEE 2
R0 & B
Number of shares BRESNT DL
LB AR held in the Approximate
Name of associated associated percentage of
corporation corporation shareholding
1 Sucess Token 800 80%
Note:

(1) The 800 shares are held by Mr. YUEN Wai Keung.

(c) Long position in the underlying shares
and debentures of the Company

Share Options

Pursuant to the share option scheme adopted by the Company
on 25 February 2006 (details are set out in note 31 to the
financial statements), certain Directors were granted share
options to subscribe for Shares, details of share options
outstanding and exercisable as at 31 March 2012 were as
follows:
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BENESTHAENAZD DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
ARERBEEBE K% 4  INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
RO ERESZ2EERAXAE  IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
) AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY

AND ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

(Continued)

Long position in the underlying shares
and debentures of the Company (continued)

© REATHEBEBRORES2 ©
RE @

BRE®

Share Options (Continued)

BRESR
HEBRAHE
BRITRE
Exercise
price per share

Number of underlying T

REAH 5t
Date of grant Capacity

shares comprised in Exercisable

Name of Director the share options period

RHEAEE

REgLs

EBLE

HAEE

BIHEE

BRARE

Mr. YUEN Chow Ming

Mr. YUEN Wai Keung

Mr. HO Hin Hung, Henry

Mr. LIM Siong, Dennis

Mr. TAM Tsz Kan

Mr. LIAO Cheung Tin,
Stephen

Z2ZNE/\AZTER
25 August 2009

Z2ZNE/\AZTER
25 August 2009

“F-FFTA-tHA
25 October 2010

—F-FFTA-tHA
25 October 2010

“F-FFTA-tHA
25 October 2010

ZZ-Z5+AZ1+AR
25 October 2010

ZZTRENACZTARR
25 August 2009

ZZ-ZETAZTEA
25 October 2010

—Z——FF% | Annual Report 2012

ExfiEA

Beneficial owner

ExfiEA

Beneficial owner

EmliAA

Beneficial owner

E@liAA

Beneficial owner

E@liAA

Beneficial owner

EERAA

Beneficial owner

EEiAA

Beneficial owner

EERAA

Beneficial owner

1,000,000

1,000,000

85,000,000

40,000,000

85,000,000

5,000,000

600,000

5,000,000

“ZENFNAZTHAE
ZZ-ZEA=1-H
25 August 2009 to

31 August 2012

“ZENFNAZTHAE
ZZ-ZENA=1-H
25 August 2009 to

31 August 2012

“E-—4ENA-ThHE
ZZITETAZTMA
25 April 2011

to 24 October 2020

“E-—4£NA-ThHE
ZEZTETAZTMA
25 April 2011

to 24 October 2020

“Z-——4§MAZ+HAZE
ZZ-Z5TAZTHEA
25 April 2011

to 24 October 2020

—T-—F@AZ+RAZE
ZEZTETAZTMA
25 April 2011

to 24 October 2020

“ZENFNAZTHAE
“E-Zf\A=t+-H
25 August 2009 to

31 August 2012

—T-—F@AZ+RAZE
ZE-EFTAZTEA
25 April 2011

to 24 October 2020

0385/ 7T
HK$0.385

038518 7T
HK$0.385

01718
HK$0.171

0171
HK$0.171

0171
HK$0.171

017187
HK$0.171

0385/ T
HK$0.385

0.171%7
HK$0.171
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(c) REALQFHEBERDEESZ

EE®

i

JRRRE

RE R 41,905,500 7T « HiB(EAE0.22
BTz EBBRBRERE BT TMRAL
£ EABRZE-—TFNAKRBEHREA
EE AR AR (FiFWell Delight Holdings
Limited) 2 2 &BE BITIRA Z ZBMHRAE ©
ZEABRBREBIR_T——F=A=+
—H X #/5190,479,5458 i% 15 °

BREXHWEESN R_F——F=A=+—H"
EERRRTRABRER AR R A MR
EE (EE RBEHRRERGIEXVERD 2By - 18
R R BT A RIEES RS RPI5352
FRARFREB IR BIZETRAIZAME AN R A MBI
Pz R SAR -

EEWBRONEST 2EF

B EXEERERTHRABRAR R REBE
AEZE - HERD RESZESRAR]E
B KBTS IR M IR EE SN - INERE(TR
R EATMNESIRSTE A ZRBHAMI8ER
ZFRBEH A RBEBART 2 B ES &
ZRER - HWERBITEABEN  ARRHAE
EAIM B A B NERT LA 2B - BB RN
FEBZEBIRKF 2 FLAIRERMEMEA
ERESHEBER -
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY
AND ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

(Continued)

(c) Long position in the underlying shares
and debentures of the Company (continued)

Convertible Note

Zero coupon convertible note in the principal amount of
HK$41,905,500 at the conversion price of HK$0.22 which
can be converted to 190,479,545 shares as at 31 March 2012
was issued to Mr. LIM Siong, Dennis as part of the
consideration for the acquisition of the entire issued share
capital of Mongolia Investment Group Limited (formerly known
as Well Delight Holdings Limited) in June 2010.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2012, none of the Directors
or chief executive, had any interests or short positions in the Shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
that was required to be recorded pursuant to section 352 of the SFO
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the paragraphs headed “Directors’ and chief
executive’s interests and short positions in Shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations”
above and note 31 to the financial statements, at no time during the
year were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
Shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any Director or
their respective spouse or children under 18 years of age, or were
any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors or
their respective spouse or minor children to acquire such rights in
any other body corporate.

ELREEEAER2T | Mongolia Investment Group Limited
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BARREZEZRESTHRABMA - RIBEFESH K The register of substantial shareholders required to be kept under

GBI EXVELEI36IKEBATFTHREZ EBHREE section 336 of Part XV of the SFO shows that as at 31 March 2012,

iR NZFE——F=A=+—HBTIAL so far as the Directors and the chief executive of the Company are

SUEE (R AR EEXEBITHABRIN RARQ aware, the following persons or corporations (other than the Directors

Al RABBER GO P A AR REBITRA or chief executive of the Company) had interests or short positions in

5% A ERIERRSOA R the Shares and underlying shares of the Company of 5% or more of
the Company’s issued share capital:

R E R AE

BERG BAB DL

HERGEE Approximate

FTERREE B4, EatE ;i Number of percentage of

Name of Capacity/ Shares/underlying shareholding in

substantial shareholder Nature of interest shares held the Company

FIEF BEnEAA 1 1,919,127,272 20.86%
Wong Ching Ping Alex Beneficial owner

Gomes Maria Da Silva Rubi BEo#EE A 2 1,919,127,272 20.86%
Angela Beneficial owner

Diamond Wealth Holdings HEHEE Z #ER 1 1,852,727,272 20.14%

Limited Interest of controlled

corporation

Tan Kah Hock BEo#EE A 3 1,343,352,272 14.60%
Beneficial owner

Shu Tjai Yun EmEAA 4 1,343,352,272 14.60%
Beneficial owner

Mashbat Bukhbat BEm#EE A 5 1,135,227,272 12.34%
Beneficial owner

Balbold Orgilsuren BEo#EE A 6 1,135,227,272 12.34%
Beneficial owner

Lim Tang Wai Ting BEnlEAA 7 482,329,545 5.24%
Beneficial owner
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B ARSI ABEATEMALTIOEER AR
AR KRR P E R MR E R ARA AT
N2 Pk R B it BN AR AR IR E 5 M B (%
PIZE336IFFEZELMZERIORE °

ML

1. #%51,919,127 272D BIE : (VEIEFER
Em#B ARHB 266,000,000 %5 :
(ii)Diamond Wealth Holdings Limited
(I'Diamond Wealth]) #5% 2 750,000,000 %
3+ (iii)Bright Mark Investments Limited
([Bright Mark]) 357 2 400,0008% B 17 K (iv)IE
EmEWHEETAIE A KK
1,102,727 27211 - HERARRNZF
—ZF=ZA=-+—HEBTRARLEND
11.99% ° Diamond Wealthifs T IEF 2 &
A o Bt - £ IEF#E A%EA Diamond Wealth
Frds A — oAt R AR B A 0 2 #E %5 © Bright
MarkBB FIEF2EHE - At - FIEF#HER
% B Bright MarkFT#F R —#L IR 2 # 2 -

2. RIEFSF LB EEOEXVE - TIEFZE B
Gomes Maria Da Silva Rubi Angela# 18 &% &
FIEFAEFR—HAR D KRB (D 2 s -

3. Tan Kah Hock#A ZEZ &1 :
(1)699,350,0008% (% 17 : K (iNFELMEMGEH
PTETE - A 5 #644,002, 2720 %7 - H8E
RARRZE——F=ZA=+—HEHTRA
KBEAHT7.00% °

4. RIEES M EEHIZEXVER » Tan Kah Hock 2

B2 4B Shu Tjai Yunifi 1R A%k A Tan Kah HockFfr
FR—#MkH RBBRGO 2= -
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

Save as disclosed above, at 31 March 2012, the Company has not

been notified of any other person or corporation who had an interest

directly or indirectly or short positions in the Shares and underlying

shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the

Company and the Stock Exchange and were recorded in the register

required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the

SFO.

Notes:

ELHREKERRAT

These 1,919,127,272 Shares comprise (i) 66,000,000 Shares held
by Wong Ching Ping Alex as beneficial owner, (ii) 750,000,000 Shares
held by Diamond Wealth Holdings Limited (“Diamond Wealth”), (iii)
400,000 Shares held by Bright Mark Investments Limited (“Bright
Mark”) and (iv) unlisted physically settled derivatives that may be
converted into 1,102,727,272 Shares, representing approximately
11.99% of the total issued share capital of the Company as at 31
March 2012. Diamond Wealth is wholly owned by Wong Ching Ping
Alex. Accordingly, Wong Ching Ping Alex was deemed to be interested
in the same parcel of those Shares and underlying shares held by
Diamond Wealth. Bright Mark is wholly owned by Wong Ching Ping
Alex. Accordingly, Wong Ching Ping Alex was deemed to be interested
in the same parcel of those Shares held by Bright Mark.

Under Part XV of the SFO, Gomes Maria Da Silva Rubi Angela, the
spouse of Wong Ching Ping Alex, was deemed to be interested in the
same parcel of those Shares and underlying shares held by Wong
Ching Ping Alex.

Tan Kah Hock is interested in (i) 699,350,000 Shares and (ii) unlisted
physically settled derivatives that may be converted into 644,002,272
Shares, representing approximately 7.00% of the total issued share
capital of the Company as at 31 March 2012.

Under Part XV of the SFO, Shu Tjai Yun, the spouse of Tan Kah Hock,
was deemed to be interested in the same parcel of those Shares and
underlying shares held by Tan Kah Hock.

Mongolia Investment Group Limited
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

5. Mashbat Bukhbat is interested in (i) 591,000,000 Shares and (ii)
unlisted physically settled derivatives that may be converted into
544,227,272 Shares, representing approximately 5.92% of the total
issued share capital of the Company as at 31 March 2012.

6. Under Part XV of the SFO, Balbold Orgilsuren, the spouse of Mashbat
Bukhbat, was deemed to be interested in the same parcel of those
Shares and underlying shares held by Mashbat Bukhbat.

7. Under Part XV of the SFO, Lim Tang Wai Ting, the spouse of Lim
Siong, Dennis, was deemed to be interested in the same parcel of
those Shares and underlying shares held by Lim Siong, Dennis
disclosed in the section headed "Directors and chief executive's
interests and short positions in Shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations" in this
Annual Report.

8. All interests stated above represented long positions.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year, none of the Directors has any competing interests in
any business or has any interest in any business that may constitute
direct or indirect competition with the Group.

SHARE OPTIONS

Details of the Company’s share option scheme are set out in note
31 to the financial statements.
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MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The percentages of total revenue, total sub-contracting costs and
purchases of materials for the year attributable to the Group’s major
customers, sub-contractors and suppliers are as follows:

Revenue

— the largest customer 98%
— five largest customers combined 100.0%
Sub-contracting costs

— the largest sub-contractor 11%
— five largest sub-contractors combined 36%
Purchases of materials

— the largest supplier 42%
— five largest suppliers combined 62%

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any shareholders
(which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of
the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in
the Group’s major customers, sub-contractors or suppliers noted
above.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’s corporate governance principles and practices are
set out on pages 32 to 38 of this report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s
total issued share capital was held by the public at the date of this
report.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable donations amounted to
HK$1,099,000.

ELREEEAER2T | Mongolia Investment Group Limited
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

In compliance with rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules, the Board
established an audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) on
11 November 2005, with written terms of reference set out in “A
Guide For The Formation Of An Audit Committee” published by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants adopted as the
terms of reference of the Audit Committee. The primary duties of the
Audit Committee are to review the financial reporting procedures and
internal control and provides guidance in relation thereto. The Audit
Committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. TAM Tsz Kan (as Chairman of the Audit Committee),
Mr. CHAN, Sai Kit Kevin and Mr. LIAO Cheung Tin, Stephen. The
annual results for the year ended 31 March 2012 have been reviewed
by the Audit Committee.

EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE
REPORTING PERIOD

Details of the significant events after the end of the reporting period
of the Group are set out in note 40 to the financial statements.

AUDITORS

Due to a merger of the businesses of Grant Thornton (“GTHK”) and
BDO Limited (“BD0O") to practice in the name of BDO as announced
by the Company on 26 November 2010, GTHK resigned and BDO
was appointed as auditor of the Company effective from 26 November
2010.

A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company to re-appoint BDO as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Mongolia Investment Group Limited
YUEN Wai Keung
Deputy Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 29 June 2012
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THE CODE ON CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board considers that good corporate governance is essential for
enhancing accountability and transparency of a company to the
investment public and other shareholders. Therefore, the Directors
are dedicated to maintain high standard corporate governance
practices. The Board reviews its corporate governance practices from
time to time in order to meet the rising expectations of shareholders
and to fulfill its commitment to excellence in corporate governance.

The Company has complied with the applicable code provisions set
out in the Code of Corporate Governance Practices set out in appendix
14 to the Listing Rules for the year ended 31 March 2012.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

During the year under review, the Board consists of eight executive
Directors, one non-executive Director and three independent non-
executive Directors. All eight executive Directors are responsible for
dealing with the Group’s business in accordance with all applicable
rules and regulations, including, but not limited to, the Listing Rules.
All Directors (including non-executive Director and independent non-
executive Directors) have been consulted on all major and material
matters of the Group.

The role of the Board includes overseeing the strategic development,
business planning, risk management, annual and interim results, and
other significant operational and financial matters of the Group. Major
corporate matters that are specifically delegated by the Board to the
management include the preparation of annual and interim financial
statements to be approved by the Board before public reporting,
execution of business strategies and initiatives adopted by the Board,
implementation of adequate systems of internal controls and risk
management procedures, and ensuring of compliance with relevant
statutory requirements and rules and regulations. In discharging its
responsibilities, the Board meets regularly and acts in good faith,
with due diligence and care.

ELREEEAER2T | Mongolia Investment Group Limited



EERERRME

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BE_T—_F=-A=+—HULFE BEFEZ
HRRENEZE2REHERNEMEEES
FZEBHEENT

The composition of the Board and their respective attendance in the
regular full Board meetings and other committee meetings for the
year ended 31 March 2012 are as follows:

BRLREAE/ETRY
No. of meetings attended/held
EXe® EHZEEEE 2 REZEE8E FMZREeE
2EEHER Audit Nomination Remuneration
Regular Full Committee Committee Committee
Board Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
HITER Executive Directors
RMALE (TE) Mr. YUEN Chow Ming (Chairman) 112 - - -
RERLE Mr. YUEN Wai Keung 1112 - 11 212
(RIFERTBAR) (Deputy Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer)
BIERLE (BIFR) Mr. SO Yiu Cheung 1/12 - - -
(Deputy Chairman)
REXEE Mr. CHEUNG Chi Man, Dennis 12112 - - -
WARE Mr. LIM Siong, Dennis 1012 - - -
BEALE Mr. WONG Tak Chung 1112 - - -
ENEBISH Burenkhuu’t & Mr. ENEBISH Burenkhuu 3/12 - - -
et Mr. LEUNG, Chung Tak Barry 12112 - - -
FHITES Non-Executive Director
WEBEE Mr. HO Hin Hung, Henry 1012 - - -
BUkHTES Independent non-executive Directors
RERLE Mr. CHAN, Sai Kit Kevin 11112 212 11 212
BRREAE Mr. LIAO Cheung Tin, Stephen 912 212 - -
ERg b Mr. TAM Tsz Kan 11712 212 17 212

EECRNBR-SRBIUIFNTES BN
E——H+ A=t BHZAZERI—RBL
FHITES  UNARETLETRAUBRETA
AEYIFNTEZTABEDHESEAR=SZ
—ZHE c ARBEEERBILIFNTESTRIE
ETRANEIIMRE L 2 FRB L IERERE - B
BB FRTES 2 RERNER—TELE—EAR
EMBEME T AR - AEARBEBERZAANA
RABRAFAGLBFERE - EFRR B
B IFMITERHNE LMRAEII3MGMEZ
BEE] o
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The Board currently consists of three independent non-executive
Directors, and it will appoint one more independent non-executive
Director by 31 December 2012 in order to meet the amended Listing
Rules which require independent non-executive Directors to represent
at least one-third of the Board of a listed company. The Company has
received from each independent non-executive Director an annual
confirmation of his independence pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. All the appointments of independent non-executive Directors
may be terminated by either party by giving one month’s written notice
and subject to retirement by rotation at the annual general meeting
of the Company in accordance with the Articles. The Directors are of
the view that all independent non-executive Directors meet the
independence guidelines set out in rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
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During the year ended 31 March 2012, 12 full Board meetings were
held. Minutes of the Board meetings are being kept by the company
secretary of the Company and are available for inspection by the
Directors and auditors of the Company.

THE ROLES OF THE CHAIRMAN AND
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The positions of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are
held by two different persons and each of them plays a distinctive
role to ensure their a balance of power and authority. The Chairman,
Mr. YUEN Chow Ming, is responsible for the leadership and
formulation of corporate strategies of the Group. The Chief Executive
Officer, Mr. YUEN Wai Keung, is responsible for the overall business
management and corporate development of the Group. The Board
members have no financial, business, family or other relationships
with each other save for that Mr. YUEN Chow Ming is the father of Mr.
YUEN Wai Keung. Further details on the Directors are set out on
pages 11 to 14 under the section headed “Biographical Details of
the Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

MODEL CODE FOR DIRECTORS’
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in appendix 10 to
the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions. The obligations to comply with the Listing
Rules are set out in the terms of the service contract of each executive
Director and non-executive director and the letter of appointment of
each independent non-executive Director. The Company has made
specific enquiries with the Directors, and all Directors have confirmed
that they have complied with the requirements set out under the Model
Code for the year ended 31 March 2012.

Mongolia Investment Group Limited
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The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. TAM Tsz Kan, Mr. CHAN, Sai Kit Kevin and Mr.
LIAO Cheung Tin, Stephen. Mr. TAM Tsz Kan, who possesses
professional accounting qualifications and relevant accounting
experience, is the Chairman of the Audit Committee.

Under its terms of reference, the main role and functions of the Audit
Committee are to review the Group’s financial information, to supervise
the Group’s financial reporting and internal control systems, and to
maintain relationship with the auditors of the Company. The Board
has, through the Audit Committee, conducted regular reviews on the
effectiveness of the internal control system of the Group during the
year ended 31 March 2012 as well as connected transactions, the
interim results for the six months ended 30 September 2011 and last
year’s annual results for the year ended 31 March 2011, and has
reviewed with management the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group and discussed the auditing, financial reporting
matters and risk management systems of the Group.

The Group’s final results for the year ended 31 March 2012 have
been reviewed by the members of the Audit Committee before
submission to the Board for approval.

The Nomination Committee consists of one executive Director,
Mr. YUEN Wai Keung, and two independent non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. CHAN, Sai Kit Kevin and Mr. TAM Tsz Kan. Mr. CHAN Sai
Kit Kevin is the Chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The main function of the Nomination Committee is to assist and make
recommendations to the Board to ensure that all the nominations are
fair and transparent. During the year, the work of the Nomination
Committee includes reviewing the structure, size and composition
(including skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board, making
recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed change and
determining the policy for the nomination of Directors.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee comprises one executive Director,
Mr. YUEN Wai Keung, and two independent non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. CHAN, Sai Kit Kevin and Mr. TAM Tsz Kan. Mr. CHAN,
Sai Kit Kevin is the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The key responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee are to review
and make recommendations to the Board on the policy and structure
for remuneration of the Directors and the senior management and
determine the remuneration package of the Directors and the senior
management.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee has considered and
reviewed the existing terms of remuneration of all the Directors and
the senior management. The Remuneration Committee considered
that the existing terms of remuneration of the Directors and the senior
management were fair and reasonable. In forming its view, the
Remuneration Committee has considered and reviewed the Group’s
remuneration policy in relation to that of comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities of the Directors and the senior
management, desirability of performance-based remuneration and
the Corporate goals and objectives resolved by the Board.

The Company adopted the share option scheme on 25 February 2006.
Its purpose is to recognise and acknowledge the contributions that
the eligible participants (including the Directors) have made or may
make to the business development of the Group. Please refer to note
31 to the financial statements for the principal terms of the share
option scheme.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board and the management of the Group maintain a sound and
effective system of internal control of the Group so as to ensure the
effectiveness and efficiency of operations of the Group in achieving
the established corporate objectives, safeguarding assets of the Group,
rendering reliable financial reporting and complying with the
applicable laws and regulations.

Mongolia Investment Group Limited
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The Board is also responsible for making appropriate assertions on
the adequacy of internal controls over financial reporting and the
effectiveness of disclosure controls and procedures. The Board has
conducted a review of the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control
system, covering its financial operational, compliance control and
risk management functions.

During the year, the Company has engaged an external professional
adviser to review the effectiveness of its internal control system so as
to enhance its internal control policies, procedures and practices.
The Group will review and adopt relevant applicable recommendations
of such adviser when the report is available.

The Company endeavors to maintain a long-term relationship with its
shareholders and investors with an adherence to the principles of
integrity, regularity and high transparency and disclose the required
information in compliance with the Listing Rules. To ensure effective
and clear communications with the investors, analysts and fund
manager, meetings are arranged and conducted by the executive
Directors and designated senior executives according to established
practices of the Company. The Company’s website is updated
continuously, providing up-to-date information regarding every aspect
of the Company to investors and the public.

Any one or more shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the
Board or the company secretary of the Company, to require an
extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such
meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within twenty-one days of such deposit the Board fails
to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist himself may
do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist by the Company. Any extraordinary
general meeting at which the passing of a special resolution is to be
considered shall be called by not less than twenty-one clear day’s
notice while all other extraordinary general meetings may be called
by not less than fourteen clear days’ notice.
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’
RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibilities for overseeing
the preparation of the financial statements for each financial period
which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group, and
of results and cash flows for the period. In preparing the accounts for
the year ended 31 March 2012, the Directors have selected suitable
accounting policies and applied them consistently; adopted
appropriate Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and Hong Kong
Accounting Standards; made prudent and reasonable judgements
and estimates and have prepared the accounts on the going concern
basis. The Directors also warrant that the Group’s financial statements
will be published in a timely manner.

The statement of the auditors of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is set out in
the section headed “Independent Auditors’ Report” on pages 39 to
40 of this report.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The auditors of the Company, BDO Limited, have been employed to
provide audit services to the Group for the year ended 31 March
2012. The remuneration paid or payable to BDO Limited in respect
of audit services and non-audit services for the year ended 31 March
2012 amounted to approximately HK$1,440,000 and HK$99,000
respectively. The non-audit services mainly related to taxation services.

ELREEEAER2T | Mongolia Investment Group Limited
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Tel : +8522218 8288
Fax: +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

EEE - +8522218 8288
{8H : +85228152239
www.bdo.com.hk

25% Floor Wing On Centre
111 Connaught Road Central
Hong Kong

EETHEEPIER
JKERHDH2518

To the shareholders of Mongolia Investment Group Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Mongolia
Investment Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together the “Group”) set out on pages 41 to 179, which comprise
the consolidated and company statements of financial position as at
31 March 2012, and the consolidated income statement, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. This report is made solely to
you, as a body, in accordance with the terms of our engagement, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
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We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are
free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at
31 March 2012 and of the Group’s loss and cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants
Chiu Wing Cheung Ringo
Practising Certificate no. P04434

Hong Kong, 29 June 2012

BDO Limited, a Hong Kong limited company, is a member of BDO International Limited, a UK company limited by guarantee,
and forms part of the international BDO network of independent member firms.

ELREEEAER2T | Mongolia Investment Group Limited



e W R
CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

BE_—F——4F=H=-+—HIFF/Z For the year ended 31 March 2012

—E——F —T——F

2012 2011
FHT FHE T
HK$’000 HK$'000
&= Revenue 5 935,574 874,961
&N Cost of revenue (904,228) (828,423)
EF Gross profit 31,346 46,538
EH AU A R Was Other income and gains 5 34,875 38,511
TR X Administrative expenses (90,651) (76,595)
W% -~ BE& Impairment loss of property,

R REEE plant and equipment 14 (40,432) (1,776)
EEREEIE Impairment loss of goodwill 17 = (35,506)
R BRI EEE Impairment loss of mining licences 18 (1,646,083) (353,399)
K EE Operating loss 7 (1,710,945) (382,227)
L= DN Finance costs 8 (88,145) (76,158)
HMBRFrERAIEIE Loss before income tax (1,799,090) (458,385)
FriSHiE 2 Income tax credit 9 411,044 87,799
AEEEE Loss for the year (1,388,046) (370,586)
DER : Attributable to:

KARERFAA Owners of the Company 10 (1,387,784) (369,890)
FEFE M Non-controlling interests (262) (696)
(1,388,046) (370,586)

B Rl

BRESR Loss per share 12 HK cents HK cents
—EARREE — Basic and diluted (15.223) (6.676)

—Z——FF% | Annual Report 2012
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BE_—F——4F=H=-+—HIFF/Z For the year ended 31 March 2012

—E-=fF —F——F
2012 2011
FERT T T
HK$’000 HK$’000
AEEEE Loss for the year (1,388,046) (370,586)
Hih 2wk Other comprehensive income
REBINEBEEZ Exchange difference arising from
PE 7 =58 translation of overseas operations (137,079) 243,724
AFEHM AR E Other comprehensive income for the year (137,079) 243,724
AEELHKRZLE Total comprehensive income for the year (1,525,125) (126,862)
DER : Attributable to:
KARERFAA Owners of the Company (1,524,970) (126,204)
FEFE M Non-controlling interests (155) (658)
(1,525,125) (126,862)

42 EHREEEAER2AT | Mongolia Investment Group Limited
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

RZ-ZEFE——#=H=+—H As at 31 March 2012

—E—_F

2012

FTEx
HK$’000

—T——fF
2011
FHT
HK$'000

EEHERE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
ERBEE Non-current assets
W - BEREE Property, plant and equipment 14 78,725 112,425
A L & FUIE Prepaid land lease payments 15 351 630
BES Goodwill 17 = -
Rz R Mining licences 18 542,912 2,377,648
HHERFEEE Exploration and evaluation assets 19 28,261 28,139
ENRBERES Prepayments and deposits 20 = 4,038
TERFEE Derivative financial asset
— AR ERZ — Derivative Component
PTHE T AED of the Convertible Note 27(d) 63,734 80,342
713,983 2,603,222
REEE Current assets
TE Inventories 21 53,339 58,976
FREF AN ITENIEA Amounts due from customers of
contract works 22 227,316 238,124
B 5 REMmERFIE - Trade and other receivables,

AR RBERIZS prepayments and deposits 23 102,117 100,466
Al Y (B 7B Tax recoverable 1,696 -
BERIRITE R Pledged bank deposits 24 24,417 32,501
RITEGFERRS Cash at banks and in hand 25 311,000 290,666

719,885 720,733
REBAE Current liabilities
B 5 Kk H M ERFKIE Trade and other payables 26 98,166 75,529
A R IR Tax payable 9 117
f& Borrowings 27 83,031 138,004

181,206 213,650
REBEERE Net current assets 538,679 507,083
HEERRBAEE Total assets less current liabilities 1,252,662 3,110,305

—Z——FF% | Annual Report 2012
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

RZ-ZEFE——#=H=+—H As at 31 March 2012

—B——fF
2012

FTEx
HK$’000

—F——F
2011
THT
HK$'000

kRBEE Non-current liabilities
=P Borrowings 27 763,470 811,605
BT B Government subsidies 28 7,008 7,740
R IBEE Deferred tax liabilities 29 141,260 599,976
911,738 1,419,321
EEFE Net assets 340,924 1,690,984
X EQUITY
fi& 7% Share capital 30 459,899 356,399
& Reserves 32 (118,424) 1,334,981
KARERFAA Equity attributable to
JE i 2 owners of the Company 341,475 1,691,380
IEH Il 1 R 2 Non-controlling interests (551) (396)
4 2 Total equity 340,924 1,690,984
E E2
Director Director
RER R{hE
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YUEN Wai Keung

LEUNG, Chung Tak Barry
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

RZ-ZEFE——#=H=+—H As at 31 March 2012

—E—_5F
2012

FET
HK$’000

EEHEE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
ERBEE Non-current assets
RETE AR ZRE Investments in subsidiaries 16 562,310 1,946,680
PTHEBIEEE Derivative financial
— AR ERZ asset — Derivative Component
PTHE T AFD of the Convertible Note 27(d) 63,734 80,342
626,044 2,027,022
RBEE Current assets
FENFEBEREMEWSIE  Prepayments and other receivables 780 796
NI E s Amounts due from subsidiaries 16 472,377 424,410
RITHEGFRIAS Cash at banks and in hand 25 136 126
473,293 425,332
FEEE Current liabilities
HiheZE N EAER  Other payables and accruals 247 288
FETH B A R FIE Amounts due to subsidiaries 16 6,757 6,757
7,004 7,045
RBEERE Net current assets 466,289 418,287
HEERRBAEE Total assets less current liabilities 1,092,333 2,445,309
kRBEE Non-current liabilities
BE Borrowings 27 763,470 811,592
763,470 811,592
EEFRE Net assets 328,863 1,633,717
ER EQUITY
fi&% 7R Share capital 30 459,899 356,399
A Reserves 32 (131,036) 1,277,318
R Total equity 328,863 1,633,717
EE2 EE
Director Director
FE{E® RinE

YUEN Wai Keung
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

BE_—F——4F=H=-+—HIFF/Z For the year ended 31 March 2012

R&
Share
capital
)
Thn

REE:
Share
premium*
HK§000
TR

AREE
Merger
reserve*
HK$000
T

KOARREAARGRR

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

BRE  g4EE
L B
Share Capital
option  redemption
reserve* reserve
HKS000  HKS000
Thn T#n

EXfE
Translation
reserve*
HK$'000
Th

RERA
(BitER)
EEEE*  Relained
Convertible profits/
note equity (Accumulated
reserve* losses)*
HKS000  HKS$000
Th T

T8RE

FAHE
3

Non-
controlling
interests
HK$1000

fEs
Total
equity
)
J::‘F[

W-E-5EEA-R At 1 April 2010 41,4 ARNLY) 13805 313 6,609 575 - 84,829 364,006 2 364,268
KERER Loss for the year - - - - - - - (0980 (3698%0) (6%)  (370,586)
Ef2EkE: Other comprehensive income:

BEENERAEE Bichange difierence arising fiom trenslation

LEREE of overseas operations - - - - - U386 - - U386 B WU

TERRENGAE Total comprefiensive income for the year - - - - - U368 - (3980 (126204 (658 (126862)
BARERR (F300) Shares issued under placing (note 30(0)) 190000 266,000 - - - - - - 00 - 00
Rir&E (H300) Share issue expenses (note 30(b)) - (4560) - - - - - - (4,360) - (4,360)
BARERA F3300) Issue of Consideration Shares (note 30(c) 98500 33490 - - - - - - 1340 - 1340
REFRLZERE (3 Share options granted in curtent year (note 31) - - - 14711 - - - - 141 - 141
RiRREnE TR Shares issued upon exercise of share options 105 1,006 - (302) - - - - 809 - 809
BATARZEMEC)  Issue of Convertible Note (note 27(d) - - - - - K B K B K
HETEREE Conversion of Convertible Note

(FEE270)iR300) (nofes 27(a)(i) & 30(d) 26,500 9,59 - - - - 60441) - 58,653 - 8,653
HERREALRS Transactons with owners 5105 689040 S U] - - B - 143578 1453578
RUBEEZERE (3] Vested share options fofeted (note 31) - - - 19 - - - 79 - - -
RZE-—5ZAZ1-BR  A3LMach 2011

“E--5@f-H and 1 Aprl 2011 306,399 903,682 13806 17462 6,69 244261 234124 (284982 1691380 (39%) 1,690,984
TEEEE Loss for the year - - - - - - - (1387784 (1387784) (262 (1,388,046)
Eh2EhE: Other comprefensive income:

BERNERTES Exchange diflerence arising fiom translation

LEREE of overseas operations - - - - - (137,18) - - (1378%) 07 (137079

AEERENELE Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - - (13718) - (1,387784)  (1,524.970) (195)  (1,525,125)
BARERDR (H300) Shares issued under placing (note 30(0) 66000 2440 - - - - - )] )]
TRIERER (RE300) Share ssue expenses (note 30(0) - (LT - - - - - - (17 - (17
W% 28 (31 Share-based compensation (note 31) - - - 470 - - - - 4710 - 4710
HETARZE Conversion of Convertble Note

(HE=E2710) i R30) (notes 27(d)(i) & 30(d) 37,500 131,720 - - - - (85,529) - 83,691 - 83,691
SEEREARA Transactions with owners 103500 152384 - 4710 - - (3559) - 1B - 1B
RUBEBZERE (3D Vested share options forfeted (nofe 31) - - - (1113) - - - 113 - - -
R-§-Z£Zf=Z1-A At 31 March 2012 459,899 1,036,066 13,805 21,059 6,629 107075 348595 (1,671,653 341475 (551) 340924

AFEHB BRGNS RN -

The total of these balances represents reserves in the consolidated
statement of financial position.
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GERIRER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HE_—_ZFT——F=H=+—HIFFJZ For the year ended 31 March 2012

—E—_—5F
2012

FTERx
HK$’000

—T——%F
2011
TET
HK$'000

BRETBH2HERE Cash flows from operating activities

Mk TS HL AT E 18 Loss before income tax (1,799,090) (458,385)

FHEE - Adjustments for:
TE T b1 & IR 5 Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments 241 279
YIE - B NREZITE  Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 12,329 11,217
A EWA Interest income (285) (2,067)
b E A Finance costs 88,145 76,158
AR ERITETA Fair value change on the Derivative Component

Bz A EEE) of the Convertible Note 780 (22,821)
ERAREERES 2WEE  Gain arising from extension of

the Promissory Note (34,497) -
mE - BER Impairment loss of property,

HEREEE plant and equipment 40,432 1,776
BB EEE Impairment loss of goodwill = 35,506
RHE R BRRE 5 18 Impairment loss of mining licences 1,646,083 353,399
TERT IR R E E B Impairment loss of prepayment 3,738 -
FERIE Impairment of inventories 6,310 -
BB 1R, (Was) Exchange loss/(gain) 12,200 (13,358)
HEWE  BER Loss on disposal of property,

B % plant and equipment 1,686 2,561
DAREZR S B0 AR 1 Equity-settled share-based compensation

Stz wEE 4,710 14,711

Rt EBEESEIF 2 Operating loss before working

wEEE capital changes (17,218) (1,024)
FEEM Increase in inventories (673) (34,481)
U R EFEAH Change in net amounts due from/to

TRRBEHFH customers of contract works 10,808 (9,413)
B 5 K& H Ath e s IE - (Increase)/Decrease in trade and other

ERNRERZES receivables, prepayments and deposits

(B 45 FE R IR B 30 IE) (including retention receivables)

() EL (4,374) 34,712
B 5 R H At e~ IR Increase/(Decrease) in trade and other payables

i, Ol ) 22,637 (18,822)
RS ESEES / (E)H)  Cash generated from/(used in) operations 11,180 (29,028)

ik
RITERRBEZIAR Interest paid on bank loans and overdraft

HEMER2BENFE and other loans (2,239) (2,692)
BEREZMEIHH Interest element of finance leases (12) (28)
2B Interest received 285 2,067
(BfY) BRIEH Income tax (paid)/refunded

BEAERE Hong Kong profits tax (2,281) 1,311
IEESEETES S (BF)  Net cash generated from/(used in)

ZHEFE operating activities 6,933 (28,370)
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GERIRER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

BE—F——F=H=-1—HIF/Z For the year ended 31 March 2012

—E—_F
2012
FExT
HK$’000 HK$'000
RETBHZHERE Cash flows from investing activities
EEMRITEFTOR D Decrease in pledged bank deposits 8,084 2,819
BEWE BEK Payments to acquire property,

AT FRIE plant and equipment (22,329) (41,301)
NERTENE R Addition to mining licences (274) (50)
ANEWENTEHEE Addition to exploration and evaluation assets (3,118) (12,409)
St LA ERIE Payments for land lease (3) (189)
HEME - BER Proceeds from disposal of property,

BREFTS KR plant and equipment 298 521
¥BAHReS R FE Net cash outflow on business combination

(MF7E33) (note 33) - (197,215)
WREETEEH 22 F8 Net cash used in investing activities (17,342) (247,824)
MEITBH2HERE Cash flows from financing activities
BT D FT 1S 508 Proceeds from issuance of shares 88,440 456,809
f&1p 2775 2 Share issue expense (1,776) (4,560)
HERITEE New bank borrowings raised 82,018 122,277
EERTEE Repayment of bank borrowings (136,645) (95,203)
BLEMEE 2 EARERD Capital element of finance leases (359) (606)
AT B TEE I SFEE  Net cash generated from financing activities 31,678 478,717
RERBPELLEYEMBE Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 21,269 202,523
HBREEAZRER Cash and cash equivalents

HeZEEY at beginning of financial year 290,666 87,552
Re KB+ EEWIERZE Exchange differences on cash

and cash equivalents (935) 591
MBREERZRER Cash and cash equivalents
BEEEY at end of financial year 311,000 290,666

RERBEEEYW 224 Analysis of cash and cash equivalents
WITEFRES Cash at banks and in hand 311,000 290,666
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE—_F—_—4F = H=+—HIF/Z For the year ended 31 March 2012

SHREEEAR AR ([RAT)R=-Z
ZENFRA -+ HRARHEESHEEMAT
BREREBRAR  EROHREBBER
SEERAT ([BRFT)) R ET - BE*
DEEMB N BB NEERFAEICHE
B AJE1809-1812% -

ARBREMBAR (St [AEE]) &
EEMEE A SHBRHEERRKEIRE
B - REEMFENMETRZ EKTEE
MM IRE MEETIERTY - AP BE AR
SHKERT - ERFEERERS - KX
SHBEREBEEERMARIGRER

RZZE—ZEF AR (WEAH])
AEEEEN KBS ERESEFR AR
(BT#&Well Delight Holdings Limited)
([Mongolia Investment BVI]) ~ & & 2 2
TR - RIEA%91,937,500,00078 7T ([
BEE])  AREE(H)MUBAIH
200,000,000 7T : (iNVABITARESER
350,000,000/ 7T 2 74 5, 215 ([FE A E])
% 14350,000,000/8 7¢ : (i) AREITEE
[%0.228 7T 37724872 &]1,970,000,000% %7
A& (M ERR12])) 2 1$433,400,00075 7T
M (iv) A ZE 177K 4 B8 A954,100,00078 7T 2
TR ERE((ARKREE]) X
954,100,000/ 7T ° Mongolia Investment
BVIREFTEREAREARE - MZEAA
TERSFHENERBROFER -
Mongolia Investment BVIZ i 2 & B A
A Tugrugnuuriin Energy LLC([TNE]) = &
WEREES ([TNEFES]) - B AT TNE
BHMNRE & B TurBBayangk KA1 TR B
A B Tugrug Valley— {42 H) PU T8 £R 2
k2 #8 (B43E18) © Mongolia Investment BVIZ
i 2 B KB A a)Central Asia Mineral
Exploration LLC ([Camex LLC]) & Kores
Mongolia LLC ([Kores]) FZ RS & B#HH
BEEIRMIRZES - BAT © Camex LLCK
KoresiFBESREBIEE =S « ARERRES
2 & TEREMCIEEFRER (519 - B
FAUEE FIE 2 — R IB A FE33#E R -

HE_Z——F=A=1+—HILFEZH
BRECN - BE——FXNA-tNLBERE
=g ETE -
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Mongolia Investment Group Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 25 May 2004 as an
exempted company with limited liability and its shares are listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The address of its principal
place of business is Units 1809-1812, Telford House, 16 Wang
Hoi Road, Kowloon Bay, Hong Kong.

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”)
are principally engaged in the provision of maintenance and
construction works on civil engineering contracts in respect
of waterworks engineering, road works and drainage and slope
upgrading for the public sector in Hong Kong, the provision of
water supply services in Mainland China, provision of
renovation services in Macau as well as mining and exploration
of mineral resources in Mongolia.

On 17 June 2010 (the “Acquisition Date”), the Group
completed the acquisition of the entire issued share capital of
Mongolia Investment Group Limited (formerly known as Well
Delight Holdings Limited) (“Mongolia Investment BVI") for a
consideration of approximately HK$1,937.5 million (the
“Acquisition”). The consideration was satisfied as to (i)
HK$200 million by cash; (ii) HK$350 million by issuing a
promissory note in principal amount of HK$350 million (the
“Promissory Note”); (iii) HK$433.4 million by issuing 1,970
million new shares of the Company at an issue price of
HK$0.22 per share (the “Consideration Shares”) and (iv)
HK$954.1 million by issuing a convertible note in principal
amount of HK$954.1 million (the “Convertible Note”).
Mongolia Investment BVI has equity interests in certain
Mongolian companies which are principally engaged in mining
and exploration activities in Mongolia. Tugrugnuuriin Energy
LLC (“TNE"), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Mongolia
Investment BVI, is principally engaged in mining business (the
“TNE Mine”). TNE currently holds four mining licences for a
coal mine located in Tugrug Valley within the administrative
unit of Bayan Soum of Tur Aimag in Mongolia (note 18). Central
Asia Mineral Exploration LLC (“Camex LLC") and Kores
Mongolia LLC (“Kores”), indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries
of Mongolia Investment BVI, are principally engaged in
exploration of mineral resources in Mongolia. Camex LLC and
Kores currently hold seven exploration licences for gold, copper
and coal deposits in certain area of Mongolia (note 19). Further
details about the Acquisition are disclosed in note 33.

The financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2012
were approved for issue by the board of directors on 29 June
2012.
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2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

2.1 Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs —

effective 1 April 2011

In the current year, the Group has applied for the first
time the following new standards, amendments and
interpretations issued by the HKICPA, which are
relevant to and effective for the Group’s financial
statements for the annual period beginning on 1 April
2011:
HKFRSs (Amendments) Improvements to
HKFRSs 2010
HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business Combinations
HKFRS 7 (Amendments) Disclosure - Transfers of
Financial Assets

HKAS 24 (Revised) Related Party Disclosures

HKFRS 3 (Revised) — Business
Combinations

As part of the Improvements to HKFRSs issued in 2010,
HKFRS 3 has been amended to clarify that the option
to measure non-controlling interests (“NCI”) at either
fair value or the NCl's proportionate share in the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets is limited to instruments that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets in the
event of liquidation. Other components of NCI are
measured at their acquisition date fair value unless
another measurement basis is required by HKFRSs.
The Group has amended its accounting policies for
measuring NCI but the adoption of the amendment has
had no impact on the Group’s financial statements as
the Group did not have any business acquisition in
current year.

ELREEEAER2T | Mongolia Investment Group Limited
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2.

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (Continued)

2.1 Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs —

effective 1 April 2011 (continued)

HKFRS 7 (Amendments) — Disclosure —
Transfers of Financial Assets

As part of the Improvements to HKFRSs issued in 2010,
HKFRS 7 has been amended to enhance the interaction
between quantitative and qualitative disclosures. If the
carrying amount of a financial asset best represents
the maximum exposure to credit risk, the standard does
not require a positive statement to this effect in the
financial statements. This amended disclosure
requirement has been applied retrospectively. The
carrying amount of the Group’s trade receivables
represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit
risk in respect of these financial assets as at 31 March
2012 and 2011. The prior year financial statements
included a positive statement to this effect which is
removed in the 2012 financial statements following the
amendments. The adoption of the amendments has
no impact on the Group’s reported profit or loss, total
comprehensive income or equity for any period
presented.

HKAS 24 (Revised) — Related Party
Disclosures

HKAS 24 (Revised) amends the definition of related
party and clarifies its meaning. This may result in
changes to those parties who are identified as being
related parties of the reporting entity. The Group has
reassessed the identification of its related parties in
accordance with the revised definition in relation to the
transactions with subsidiaries of the Group’s associates
and to exclude transactions with an entity which was
significantly influenced by a member of the Group’s
key management personnel. The adoption of HKAS 24
(Revised) has no impact on the Group’s reported profit
or loss, total comprehensive income or equity for any

period presented.
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2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

2.1

2.2

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs —
effective 1 April 2011 (continuea)

HKAS 24 (Revised) — Related Party
Disclosures (Continued)

HKAS 24 (Revised) also introduces simplified
disclosure requirements applicable to related party
transactions where the Group and the counterparty are
under the common control, joint control or significant
influence of a government, government agency or
similar body. These new disclosures are not relevant
to the Group because the Group is not a government
related entity.

New/revised HKFRSs that have
been issued but are not yet effective

The following new/revised HKFRSs, potentially relevant
to the Group’s financial statements, have been issued,
but are not yet effective and have not been early
adopted by the Group.

EHREEEAER2AT | Mongolia Investment Group Limited
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2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

2.2 New/revised HKFRSs that have
been issued but are not yet effective
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(Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKAS 1
(Revised)

Amendments to HKAS 32

HKFRS 9 and Amendments
to HKFRS 9

HKFRS 10

HKFRS 11

HKFRS 12

HKFRS 13

HKAS 19 (2011)

HKAS 27 (2011)

HKAS 28 (2011)

HK(IFRIC) - Interpretation 20

Annual Improvements
2009-2011 Cycle

Disclosures — Transfers of
Financial Assets!

Disclosures — Offsetting
Financial Assets
and Financial Liabilities*

Presentation of Items of
Other Comprehensive
Income?

Presentation — Offsetting
Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities*

Financial Instruments®

Consolidated Financial
Statements?
Joint Arrangements®

Disclosure of Interests
in Other Entities®
Fair Value Measurement?

Employee Benefits®
Separate Financial Statements®

Investments in Associates and
Joint Ventures®

Stripping Costs of the
Production Phase of
a Surface Ming?

Amendments to a Number
of HKFRSs Contained in
Annual Improvements
2009-2011 Cycle Issued
in June 20123
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2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

2.2 New/revised HKFRSs that have
been issued but are not yet
effective (continuea)

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after

1 July 2011

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 July 2012

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2013

@ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2014

® Effective for annual periods beginning on or after

1 January 2015

Amendments to HKFRS 7 — Disclosures —
Transfers of Financial Assets

The amendments to HKFRS 7 improve the
derecognition disclosure requirements for transfer
transactions of financial assets and allow users of
financial statements to better understand the possible
effects of any risks that may remain with the entity on
transferred assets. The amendments also require
additional disclosures if a disproportionate amount of
transfer transactions are undertaken around the end
of a reporting period.

ELREEEAER2T | Mongolia Investment Group Limited
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2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

2.2 New/revised HKFRSs that have

been issued but are not yet effective
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 (Revised) -
Presentation of Items of Other
Comprehensive Income

The amendments to HKAS 1 (Revised) require the
Group to separate items presented in other
comprehensive income into those that may be
reclassified to profit and loss in the future (e.g.
revaluations of available-for-sale financial assets) and
those that may not (e.g. revaluations of property, plant
and equipment). Tax on items of other comprehensive
income is allocated and disclosed on the same basis.
The amendments will be applied retrospectively.

HKFRS 9 - Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 issued in November 2009 is the first part of
phase 1 of a comprehensive project to entirely replace
HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement. This phase focuses on the classification
and measurement of financial assets. Instead of
classifying financial assets into four categories, an entity
shall classify financial assets as subsequently measured
at either amortised cost or fair value, on the basis of
both the entity’s business model for managing the
financial assets and the contractual cash flow
characteristics of the financial assets. This aims to
improve and simplify the approach for the classification
and measurement of financial assets compared with
the requirements of HKAS 39.
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2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (Continued)

2.2 New/revised HKFRSs that have

been issued but are not yet effective
(Continued)

HKFRS 9 - Financial Instruments
(Continued)

In November 2010, the HKICPA issued additions to
HKFRS 9 to address financial liabilities (the
“Additions”) and incorporated in HKFRS 9 the current
derecognition principles of financial instruments of
HKAS 39. Most of the Additions were carried forward
unchanged from HKAS 39, while changes were made
to the measurement of financial liabilities designated
at fair value through profit or loss using the fair value
option (“FVO”). For these FVO liabilities, the amount
of change in the fair value of a liability that is attributable
to changes in credit risk must be presented in other
comprehensive income (“OCI”). The remainder of the
change in fair value is presented in profit or loss, unless
presentation of the fair value change in respect of the
liability’s credit risk in OCI would create or enlarge an
accounting mismatch in profit or loss. However, loan
commitments and financial guarantee contracts which
have been designated under the FVO are scoped out
of the Additions.

HKAS 39 is aimed to be replaced by HKFRS 9 in its
entirety. Before this entire replacement, the guidance
in HKAS 39 on hedge accounting and impairment of
financial assets continues to apply. The Group expects
to adopt HKFRS 9 from 1 January 2015.

Mongolia Investment Group Limited
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HKFRS 10 introduces a single control model for
consolidation of all investee entities. An investor has
control when it has power over the investee (whether
or not that power is used in practice), exposure or rights
to variable returns from the investee and the ability to
use the power over the investee to affect those returns.
HKFRS 10 contains extensive guidance on the
assessment of control. For example, the standard
introduces the concept of “de facto” control where an
investor can control an investee while holding less than
50% of the investee’s voting rights in circumstances
where its voting interest is of sufficiently dominant size
relative to the size and dispersion of those of other
individual shareholders to give it power over the
investee. Potential voting rights are considered in the
analysis of control only when these are substantive,
i.e. the holder has the practical ability to exercise them.
The standard explicitly requires an assessment of
whether an investor with decision making rights is
acting as principal or agent and also whether other
parties with decision making rights are acting as agents
of the investor. An agent is engaged to act on behalf of
and for the benefit of another party and therefore does
not control the investee when it exercises its decision
making authority. The implementation of HKFRS 10
may result in changes in those entities which are
regarded as being controlled by the Group and are
therefore consolidated in the financial statements. The
accounting requirements in the existing HKAS 27 on
other consolidation related matters are carried forward
unchanged. HKFRS 10 is applied retrospectively
subject to certain transitional provisions.
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2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continuea)

2.2 New/revised HKFRSs that have
been issued but are not yet
effective (continued)

HKFRS 12 - Disclosure of Interests in
Other Entities

HKFRS 12 integrates and makes consistent the
disclosures requirements about interests in
subsidiaries, associates and joint arrangements. It also
introduces new disclosure requirements, including
those related to unconsolidated structured entities. The
general objective of the standard is to enable users of
financial statements to evaluate the nature and risks
of a reporting entity’s interests in other entities and the
effects of those interests on the reporting entity’s
financial statements.

HKFRS 13 - Fair Value Measurement

HKFRS 13 provides a single source of guidance on
how to measure fair value when it is required or
permitted by other standards. The standard applies to
both financial and non-financial items measured at fair
value and introduces a fair value measurement
hierarchy. The definitions of the three levels in this
measurement hierarchy are generally consistent with
HKFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures”. HKFRS
13 defines fair value as the price that would be received
to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date (i.e. an exit price). The standard
removes the requirement to use bid and ask prices for
financial assets and liabilities quoted in an active
market. Rather the price within the bid-ask spread that
is most representative of fair value in the circumstances
should be used. It also contains extensive disclosure
requirements to allow users of the financial statements
to assess the methods and inputs used in measuring
fair values and the effects of fair value measurements
on the financial statements. HKFRS 13 can be adopted
early and is applied prospectively.

ELREEEAER2T | Mongolia Investment Group Limited
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been issued but are not yet effective
(Continued)

HK (IFRIC) Interpretation 20 — Stripping
Costs in the Production Phase of a
Surface Mine

Stripping activities carried out in the production phase
of a surface mine may give rise to two benefits: usable
ore that can be used to produce inventory and improved
access to further quantities of material that will be
mined in future periods. The Interpretation requires
that costs of stripping activity are accounted for in
accordance with the principles in HKAS 2 Inventories
to the extent that the benefit from stripping activity is
realised in the form of inventory produced. The costs
of stripping activity that provide a benefit in the form of
improved access to ore are recognised as a non-current
stripping activity asset when certain criteria are met.
This asset will be accounted for as an addition or
enhancement to an existing asset and is classified as
tangible or intangible according to the nature of the
existing asset of which it forms part. The stripping
activity asset is measured initially at cost and
subsequently in the same way as the existing asset of
which it forms part. It is depreciated or amortised on a
systematic basis over the expected useful life of the
component of the ore body that becomes more
accessible as a result of the stripping activity. The
interpretation is applied to production stripping costs
incurred after the beginning of the earliest period
presented. Predecessor stripping activity asset balance
is reclassified as a part of an existing asset subject to
the conditions in the Interpretation.
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been issued but are not yet
effective (continuea)

Annual Improvements 2009-2011 Cycle

Annual Improvements 2009-2011 Cycle sets out a
collection of amendments to HKFRSs (including
HKFRS 1, HKAS 1, HKAS 16, HKAS 32 and HKAS 34)
which is issued in response to the International
Accounting Standards Board’s (IASB) annual
improvements project to make necessary, but non-
urgent, amendments to IFRSs that will not be included
as part of another major project. The Group expects to
adopt the amendments from 1 April 2013.

Save as the main changes described above, the Group
is in the process of making an assessment of the
potential impact of these new/revised HKFRSs and the
directors are not yet in a position to quantify the effects
on the Group’s financial statements.

ELREEEAER2T | Mongolia Investment Group Limited
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The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the years presented unless
otherwise stated.

The financial statements on pages 41 to 179 have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs (including all
applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards and Interpretations)
issued by the HKICPA and the applicable disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
The financial statements also include the applicable
disclosure requirements of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange.

These financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention except for certain
derivative financial instruments which are stated at fair
values. The measurement bases are fully described in
the accounting policies below.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and
assumptions have been used in preparing these
financial statements. Although these estimates and
assumptions are based on management’s best
knowledge and judgement of current events and
actions, actual results may ultimately differ from those
estimates and assumptions. The areas involving a
higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
financial statements, are disclosed in note 4 “Critical
Accounting Estimates and Judgements”.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries made up to 31 March each year.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are de-
consolidated from the date that control ceases. The
results of the subsidiaries acquired or disposed of
during the year are consolidated from the effective date
of acquisition or up to the effective date of the disposal,
as appropriate.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains
and losses on transactions between group companies
are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Where unrealised losses on intra-group
asset sales are reversed on consolidation, the
underlying asset is also tested for impairment from the
Group’s perspective. Amounts reported in the financial
statements of subsidiaries have been adjusted where
necessary to ensure consistency with the accounting
policies adopted by the Group.

ELREEEAER2T | Mongolia Investment Group Limited
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Acquisition of subsidiaries or businesses is accounted
for using the acquisition method. The cost of an
acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the
acquisition-date fair value of assets transferred,
liabilities incurred and equity interests issued by the
Group, as the acquirer. The identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed are principally measured at
acquisition-date fair value. The Group’s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured at
acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gains or
losses are recognised in profit or loss. The Group may
elect, on a transaction-by-transaction basis, to measure
the non-controlling interest either at fair value or at the
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. Acquisition-related costs incurred are expensed.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at acquisition-date fair value.
Subsequent adjustments to consideration are
recognised against goodwill only to the extent that they
arise from new information obtained within the
measurement period (a maximum of 12 months from
the acquisition date) about the fair value at the
acquisition date. All other subsequent adjustments to
contingent consideration classified as an asset or a
liability are recognised in profit or loss.
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Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the
Group’s interest and the non-controlling interest are
adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests
in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount
by which the non-controlling interest is adjusted and
the fair value of the consideration paid or received is
recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners
of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit
or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration received and the fair value of any retained
interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the
assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the
subsidiary and any non-controlling interest. Where
certain assets of the subsidiary are measured at
revalued amounts or fair values and the related
cumulative gain or loss has been recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity, the
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity are accounted for
as if the Company had directly disposed of the related
assets (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred
directly to retained earnings). The fair value of any
investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date
the control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition for subsequent accounting under HKAS 39
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of
an investment in an associate or a jointly controlled
entity.

ELREEEAEMRLT | Mongolia Investment Group Limited
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2

s

Basis of consolidation (continuea)

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-
controlling interest is the amount of those interests at
initial recognition plus the non-controlling interest’s
share of subsequent changes in equity. Total
comprehensive income is attributed to non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interest having a deficit balance.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities (including special purpose
entities) over which the Company has the power to
control, directly or indirectly, the financial and operating
policies so as to obtain benefits from their activities.
The existence and effect of potential voting rights that
are currently exercisable or convertible are considered
when assessing whether the Company controls another
entity.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
subsidiaries are carried at cost less any impairment
loss. The results of the subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividends received
and receivable at the reporting date. All dividends,
whether received out of the investee’s pre or post-
acquisition profits are recognised in the Company’s
profit or loss.
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Goodwill arising from acquisition is initially recognised
at cost being the excess of the aggregate of
consideration transferred and the amount recognised
for non-controlling interests over the fair value of
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
acquired.

Where the fair value of identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities exceed the fair value of
consideration paid, the excess is recognised in profit
or loss on acquisition date, after re-assessment.

Goodwill is measured at cost less impairment losses.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill arising
from an acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant
cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from
the synergies of the acquisition. A cash-generating unit
to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment annually, and whenever there is an
indication that the unit may be impaired.

For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a financial year,
the cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment before the end of
that financial year. When the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying
amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated
to the unit first, and then to the other assets of the unit
pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount to each
assets in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is
recognised in profit or loss and is not reversed in
subsequent periods.

ELREEEAEMRLT | Mongolia Investment Group Limited
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.5 Revenue and other income
recognition

Revenue and other income is recognised when it is
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the

Group and when the income can be measured reliably
on the following bases:

()

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

When the outcome of civil engineering contracts
can be estimated reliably, revenue from
maintenance or construction works on civil
engineering contracts is recognised according
to the percentage of completion of individual
contract at the reporting date (note 3.12).

Revenue arising from water supply is recognised
based on the volume of water supplied as
recorded by meters read during the year.

Water supply related installation income is
recognised when the relevant installation work
is performed.

Renovation service income is recognised when
the relevant renovation work is performed.

Interest income is recognised on a time-
proportion basis by reference to the principal
outstanding and at the effective interest rate
applicable.

6/
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Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, which
comprise purchase price and any directly attributable
costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use, less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses (note 3.9).
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other costs such as repairs and
maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the
financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of each
item of property, plant and equipment less its residual
value, if applicable, over its estimated useful lives.
Buildings and water pipelines are depreciated using
straight-line method at the annual rates of 2% to 10%
and 4.85% respectively. Other items of property, plant
and equipment are depreciated using reducing balance
method at the following rates per annum:

Plant, machinery and tools 10% — 33 1/3%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment  10% — 33 1/3%
Leasehold improvements 30% or over lease

term if shorter
Motor vehicles 10% - 20%

Upon the transfer from “exploration and evaluation
assets”, all subsequent development cost and capital
expenditure on the construction, installation or
completion of infrastructure facilities of mine site is
capitalised within “mine development assets”. Mine
development assets including stripping costs and other
development expenditure are carried at cost and are
subject to depreciation/amortisation upon
commissioning of the mine for production.
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Stripping costs incurred in the development phase of
a mine before production commences are capitalised
as part of the cost of constructing the mine and
subsequently depreciated over the life of the mine using
the unit-of-production method based on total proven
and probable reserves of the mine.

Other development expenditure, net of proceeds from
incidental sale of mineral extracted during the
development phase, are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and are amortised using the
unit-of-production method based on the total proven
and probable reserves of the mine, except in the case
of the assets whose useful life is shorter than the life of
the mine, in which case straight-line method is applied.

Residual values, useful lives and depreciation method
are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at each
reporting date. An item of property, plant and
equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or
disposal. Gain or loss arising from the disposal or
retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the sale
proceeds and the carrying amount of the item and is
recognised in profit or loss.
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Exploration and evaluation assets include costs of
obtaining and maintaining exploration and mining
rights, as well as expenditures such as exploratory
drilling, geological studies and sampling in relation to
evaluating technical feasibility and commercial viability
of extracting mineral resources.

Exploration and evaluation assets are recognised at cost
on initial recognition. Subsequent to initial recognition,
they are stated at cost less any accumulated
impairment and no amortisation charge is recognised.
Cost expensed during the exploration and evaluation
phase including expenditure incurred before obtaining
the legal rights to explore specific area are included in
“exploration and evaluation expenditure” in profit or
loss.

Exploration and evaluation assets acquired in a
business combination are initially recognised at fair
value and subsequently measured at cost less
accumulated impairment.

The carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation
assets is reviewed annually and adjusted for impairment
in accordance with HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”
whenever one of the following events or changes in
facts and circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable (the list is not
exhaustive):

(i) the period for which the Group has the right to
explore in the specific area has expired during
the period or will expire in the near future, and
is not expected to be renewed;
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(ii) substantive expenditure on further exploration
for and evaluation of mineral resources in the
specific area is neither budgeted nor planned;

(iii)  exploration for and evaluation of mineral
resources in the specific area have not led to
the discovery of commercially viable quantities
of mineral resources and the Group has decided
to discontinue such activities in the specific
area; and

(iv) sufficient data exist to indicate that, although a
development in the specific area is likely to
proceed, the carrying amount of the exploration
and evaluation asset is unlikely to be recovered
in full from successful development or by sale.

The recoverable amount is the higher of the exploration
and evaluation asset’s fair value less costs to sell and
their value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, the exploration and evaluation assets
subject to testing are grouped into each area of interest
for which exploration activities are undertaken.

When the technical feasibility and commercial viability
of extracting mineral resources become demonstrable,
previously recognised exploration and evaluation assets
are transferred to “Property, plant and equipment” and
“Mining licences”. These assets are tested for
impairment before their reclassification.
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Upon the transfer from “exploration and evaluation
assets”, mining licences are carried at cost and are
subject to amortisation upon commissioning of the mine
for production. Mining licences and concessions are
depleted on the unit-of-production basis over the total
proven and probable reserves of the mine concerned.
Mining licences are subject for impairment testing
whenever there are indications that the assets’ carrying
amount may not be recoverable (note 3.9).

Goodwill, property, plant and equipment, mining
licences, prepaid land lease payments and investments
in subsidiaries are subject for impairment testing.
Goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite
useful life or those not yet available for use are tested
for impairment at least annually, irrespective of whether
there is any indication that they are impaired. All other
assets are tested for impairment whenever there are
indications that the assets’ carrying amount may not
be recoverable. Impairment policy on exploration and
evaluation assets is included in note 3.7.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of fair value, reflecting
market conditions less costs to sell, and value in use.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessment of time value of money and the risk specific
to the asset.
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For the purposes of assessing impairment, where an
asset does not generate cash inflows largely
independent from those of other assets, the recoverable
amount is determined for the smallest group of assets
that generate cash inflow independently (i.e. a cash-
generating unit). As a result, some assets are tested
individually for impairment and some are tested at
cash-generating unit level. Goodwill in particular is
allocated to those cash-generating units that are
expected to benefit from synergies of the related
business combination and represent the lowest level
within the Group at which the goodwill is monitored for
internal management purpose.

Impairment loss recognised for cash-generating units,
to which goodwill has been allocated, are credited
initially to the carrying amount of goodwill. Any
remaining impairment loss is charged pro rata to the
other assets in the cash-generating unit, except that
the carrying value of an asset will not be reduced below
its individual fair value less cost to sell, or value-in-
use, if determinable.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of fair value, reflecting
market conditions less costs to sell, and value-in-use.
In assessing value-in-use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to its present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessment of time value of money and the risk specific
to the asset.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOU NTI NG POLICI ES (Continued)

3.9 Impairment of non-financial assets

(Continued)

An impairment loss on goodwill is not reversed in
subsequent periods whilst an impairment loss on other
assets is reversed if there has been a favourable change
in the estimates used to determine the asset’s
recoverable amount and only to the extent that the
asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined, net of
depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had

been recognised.

Impairment loss recognised in an interim period in
respect of goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent

period.

3.10 Leases

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series
of transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group
determines that the arrangement conveys a right to use
a specific asset or assets for an agreed period of time
in return for a payment or a series of payments. Such
a determination is made based on an evaluation of the
substance of the arrangement and is regardless of
whether the arrangement takes the legal form of a lease.

Assets that are held by the Group under leases which
transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership to the Group are classified as
being held under finance leases. Leases which do not
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the Group are classified as operating

leases.

Mongolia Investment Group Limited
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Where the Group has the right to use of assets held
under operating leases, payments made under the
leases are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the lease terms except where an alternative
basis is more representative of the time pattern of
benefits to be derived from the leased assets. Lease
incentives received are recognised in profit or loss as
an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
made. Contingent rentals are charged to profit or loss
in the accounting period in which they are incurred.

Prepaid land lease payments represent up-front
payments to acquire the land use rights or leasehold
land. They are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses (note 3.9).
Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line basis over
the lease term except where an alternative basis is more
representative of the time pattern of benefits to be
derived from the leased assets.

Where the Group acquires the right to use the assets
under finance leases, the amounts representing the
fair value of the leased asset, or, if lower, the present
values of the minimum lease payments, of such assets
are included in property, plant and equipment and the
corresponding liabilities, net of finance charges, are
recorded as obligation under finance leases.

Subsequent accounting for assets held under finance
lease agreements corresponds to those applied to
comparable acquired assets. The corresponding
finance lease liability is reduced by lease payments
less finance charges.
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Finance charges implicit in the lease payments are
charged to profit or loss over the period of the leases
S0 as to produce an approximately constant periodic
rate of charge on the remaining balance of the
obligations for each accounting period.

The land and buildings elements of property leases are
considered separately for the purposes of lease
classification. When the lease payments cannot be
allocated reliably between the land and buildings
elements, the entire lease payments are included in
the cost of land and buildings as a finance lease of
property, plant and equipment.

Management determines the classification of its
financial assets at initial recognition depending on the
purpose for which the financial assets were acquired
and, where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates this
designation at each reporting date.

All financial assets are recognised when, and only
when, the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases
and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade
date. Regular way purchase or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation
or convention in the marketplace. When financial assets
are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value,
plus, in the case of investments not at fair value through
profit or loss, directly attributable transaction cost.
Derecognition of financial assets occurs when the rights
to receive cash flows from the investments expire or
are transferred and substantially all of the risks and
rewards of ownership have been transferred. The
Group’s financial assets mainly comprise loans and
receivables and derivative financial assets.

ELREEEAEMRLT | Mongolia Investment Group Limited
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Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market. Loans and receivables
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less any allowance for
impairment. Amortised cost is calculated taking into
account any discount or premium on acquisition and
includes fees that are an integral part of the effective
interest rate and transaction cost. Gain and losses are
recognised in profit or loss when the loans and
receivables are derecognised or impaired as well as
through the amortisation process.

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

The Group’s financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss represent the derivative component of the
Convertible Note. Derivative financial instruments, in
individual contracts or separated from hybrid financial
instruments, are initially recognised at fair value on the
date the derivative contract is entered into and
subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives that
are not designated as hedging instruments are
accounted for as financial assets or financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss. Gains or losses arising
from changes in fair value are taken directly to profit
or loss for the year.

/7
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continved)

3.11 Financial assets (continuea)
Impairment of financial assets

At each reporting date, loans and receivables are
reviewed to determine whether there is any objective
evidence of impairment. Objective evidence of
impairment includes observable date that come to the
attention of the Group about one or more of the
followings loss events:

significant financial difficulty of the debtors;

- a breach of contract, such as default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments;

- it becoming probable that the debtors will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;
and

- significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an
adverse effect on the debtor.

ELREEEAER2T | Mongolia Investment Group Limited
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Loss events in respect of a group of financial assets
include observable data indicating that there is a
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows
from the group of financial assets. Such observable
data includes but not limited to adverse changes in
the payment status of debtors in the group and, national
or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults
on the assets in the group.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss
on loans and receivables carried at amortised cost has
been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows
(excluding future credit losses that have not been
incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate
computed at initial recognition). The carrying amount
of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance
account. The amount of impairment loss is recognised
in profit or loss of the period in which the impairment
occurs. Loans and receivables together with any
associated allowance are written off when there is no
realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral
has been realised or has been transferred to the Group.

If, in subsequent period, the amount of the impairment
loss decrease and the decrease can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
was recognised, the previously recognised impairment
loss is revised by adjusting the allowance account. Any
subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised in profit or loss to the extent that the carrying
value of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost
had the impairment not been recognised at the reversal
date.
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When the outcome of civil engineering contracts can
be estimated reliably, revenue from maintenance or
construction works on civil engineering contracts and
the associated contract costs are recognised according
to the stage of completion of individual contract at the
reporting date. The stage of completion is determined
using percentage of completion method by reference
to the survey of work performed or contract costs
incurred to date as a proportion of the total estimated
contract costs, depending on nature of the contract.

When the outcome of civil engineering contracts cannot
be estimated reliably, no profit is recognised and
revenue is recognised only to the extent of contract
costs incurred that would probably be recoverable.

Provisions are made for any foreseeable losses when
they are identified and recognised immediately as an
expense in profit or loss. Variations in contract work,
claims and incentive payments are recognised as
revenue when it is probable that they will be approved
by customers and they can be measured reliably.

Amounts due from customers of contract works
represent contract costs incurred plus recognised
profits less progress billings and any foreseeable losses.
Amounts due to customers of contract works represent
the excess of progress billings over contract costs
incurred plus recognised profits less any foreseeable
losses. Costs mainly comprise materials, direct labour
and sub-contractors’ fees. Costs incurred during the
year in connection with future activity of a contract are
recognised as amounts due from customers of contract
works provided it is probable that these costs will be
recovered. Amounts billed for works performed but not
yet paid by the customers are included in the statement
of financial position under “trade and other receivables,
prepayments and deposits”.
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Retentions, representing amounts of progress billings
which are payable to sub-contractors or receivables
from customers when conditions specified in the
contracts undertaken are satisfied, are included in the
statement of financial position under “trade and other
payables” and “trade and other receivables,
prepayments and deposits” respectively.

Inventories which represent construction materials are
stated at the lower of cost, computed using first-in-
first-out method, and net realisable value. Cost mainly
includes cost of purchase. Net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business less any applicable selling expenses.

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
Dollars (“HK$”), which is also the functional currency
of the Company. Each entity in the Group determines
its own functional currency and items included in the
financial statements of each entity are measured using
that functional currency.

In the separate financial statements of the consolidated
entities, foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency of the individual entity using
the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date
at exchange rates ruling at that date are recognised in
profit or loss. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
translated. Non-monetary items carried at fair value
that are denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the rates prevailing on the date when the
fair value was determined.
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The functional currencies of certain entities of the
Group are currencies other than HK$. For the purpose
of the consolidated financial statements, assets and
liabilities of those entities at the reporting date are
translated into HK$ at exchange rate prevailing on the
reporting date. Income and expense items are
translated into HK$ at the exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates, or at the average exchange rates over
the reporting period provided that the exchange rates
do not fluctuate significantly. The resulting exchange
differences are included in other comprehensive
income and accumulated separately in translation
reserve in equity. Such translation differences are
reclassified from equity to profit or loss as part of the
gain or loss on disposal in the period in which the
foreign entity is disposed of. Goodwill and fair value
adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation have been treated as assets and liabilities of
the foreign operation and translated into HK$ at the
closing rates.

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax is recognised in profit or loss, or in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity if they relate
to items that are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity.

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise
those obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities
relating to the current or prior reporting period, that
are unpaid at the reporting date. They are calculated
according to the tax rates and tax laws applicable to
the fiscal periods to which they relate, based on the
taxable profit for the reporting period.
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Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method on
temporary differences at the reporting date between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
financial statements and their respective tax bases.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are
recognised for all deductible temporary differences, tax
losses available to be carried forward as well as other
unused tax credits, to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits, including existing temporary difference,
will be available against which deductible temporary
differences, unused tax losses and unused tax credits
can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from
initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither taxable nor accounting profit or loss.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax is calculated, without discounting, at tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period the liability
is settled or the asset realised, provided they are
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.
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Cash and cash equivalents include cash at banks and
in hand, demand deposits with banks and short term
highly liquid investments with original maturities of
three months or less that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value. For the purpose
of the statement of cash flows presentation, cash and
cash equivalents include bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group’s cash management.

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance, for those employees who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of MPF
Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions
vest fully with the employees when contributed into the
MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in the Mainland China are required to
participate in a central pension scheme operated by
the local municipal governments. These subsidiaries
are required to contribute certain percentage of its
payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The
contributions are charged to profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the
central pension scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in Mongolia are required to participate in the
social insurance scheme operated by the local
government. According to the “Social Insurance Law
of Mongolia”, these subsidiaries have a duty to withhold
10% from employees’ salary or similar income and 13%
as employers’ contribution. Employers’contributions are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the social insurance scheme.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.17 Employee benefits (continuea)

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised when they
accrue to employees. In particular, a provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of
services rendered by employees up to the reporting
date. Non-accumulating compensated absences such
as sick leave and maternity leave are not recognised
until the time of leave.

Share-based employee compensation
Details about the accounting policy on share-based

compensation to employee are set out in note 3.18
below.

3.18 Share-based compensation

The Group operates a share option scheme for the
purpose of recognising and acknowledging the
contributions that the eligible participants have made
to the Group. Eligible participants including employees
(including directors), customers, suppliers, agents,
partners, consultants, advisers or shareholders of or
contractors to the Group or any affiliate, receive
remuneration in the form of share-based compensation,
whereby eligible participants render services as
consideration for equity instrument (i.e. equity-settled
transactions).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees
is measured by reference to the fair value at the date
the options are granted excluding the impact of any
non-market vesting conditions. The cost of equity-
settled transactions with parties other than employees
is measured by reference to the fair value of the goods
or services provided.
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The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised
as an expense in profit or loss with a corresponding
increase in share option reserve within equity. If vesting
periods or other vesting conditions apply, the expense
is allocated using straight-line basis over the vesting
period, based on the best available estimate of the
number of share options expected to vest. Non-market
vesting conditions are included in assumptions about
the number of options that are expected to become
exercisable. Estimates are subsequently revised if there
is indication that the number of share options expected
to vest differs from previous estimates. Any adjustment
to the fair value recognised in prior years is charged/
credited to profit or loss in the year of the review with a
corresponding adjustment to the share option reserve.

On vesting date, the amount recognised as an expense
is adjusted to reflect the actual number of options that
vest (with a corresponding adjustment to the share
option reserve) except where forfeiture is only due to
not achieving vesting that relate to market condition
(which is treated as vesting irrespective of whether or
not the market condition is satisfied).

At the time when the share options are exercised, the
amount previously recognised in share option reserve
will be transferred to share premium. When the share
options are forfeited or are still not exercised at the
expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share
option reserve will be transferred to retained profits.
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The Group’s financial liabilities comprise trade and
other payables, borrowings and finance lease liabilities,
which are classified into financial liabilities at amortised
cost or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss, depending on the purpose for which the liabilities
were incurred. Financial liabilities are recognised when
the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument. A financial liability is derecognised
when the obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled or expired. Financial liabilities are classified
as current liabilities unless the Group has an
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability
for at least 12 months after the reporting date.

Where an existing financial liability is replaced by
another from the same lender on substantially different
terms, or the terms of an existing liability are
substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original
liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the
difference in the respective carrying amount is
recognised in profit or loss.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at their
fair value, and subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method. Gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through amortisation process.

Borrowings including bank borrowings and promissory
note are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference
between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and
the redemption value is recognised in profit or loss over
the period of the borrowings using the effective interest
method. Gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognized as well as through
amortisation process.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.19 Financial liabilities (continuead)

Finance lease liabilities

Finance lease liabilities are measured at initial value
less the capital element of lease repayments (note
3.10).

Convertible notes

Convertible notes issued by the Company that contain
liability component, conversion option and extension
option (which is not closely related to the host liability
component) are classified separately into respective
item on initial recognition. Conversion option that will
be settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash
or another financial asset for a fixed number of the
Company’s own equity instruments is classified as an
equity instrument. At the date of issue, both the liability
and extension option components are measured at fair
value. The fair value of the liability component on initial
recognition is determined using the prevailing market
interest of similar non-convertible debts. The difference
between the gross proceeds of the issue of the
convertible notes and the fair values assigned to the
liability and extension option components respectively,
representing the conversion option for the holder to
convert the convertible notes into equity, is included
in equity as convertible note equity reserve.

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the
convertible notes is carried at amortised cost using
effective interest method. The extension option is
measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss.

ELREEEAER2T | Mongolia Investment Group Limited
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The equity component, representing the option to
convert the liability component into ordinary shares of
the Company, will remain in the convertible note equity
reserve until the embedded conversion option is
exercised (in which case the balance stated in the
convertible note equity reserve will be transferred to
share premium). Where the conversion option remains
unexercised at the expiry date, the balance stated in
convertible note equity reserve will be released to the
retained profits. No gain or loss is recognsied in profit
or loss upon conversion or expiration of the conversion
option.

When the convertible note is converted, the carrying
amounts of the liability component and the extension
option at the time of conversion are transferred to share
capital and share premium as consideration for the
shares issued. When the convertible note is redeemed,
the difference between the redemption amount and
the carrying amounts of both components is recognised
in profit or loss.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the
convertible notes are allocated to the liability, equity
and extension option components in proportion to the
allocation of the gross proceeds. Transaction costs
relating to the equity component are charged directly
to equity. Transaction costs relating to the extension
option are charged to profit or loss immediately.
Transaction costs relating to the liability component are
included in the carrying amount of the liability portion
and amortised over the period of the convertible notes
using the effective interest method.

All interest related charges are recognised in
accordance with the Group’s accounting policy for
borrowing costs (note 3.23).
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Government grants are recognised when there is
reasonable assurance that they will be received and
that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them. Grants that compensate the Group for
expenses incurred are recognised as income in profit
or loss on a systematic basis in the same periods in
which the expenses are incurred. Grants that
compensate the Group for the cost of an asset are
deducted from the carrying amount of the asset and
consequently are effectively recognised in profit or loss
over the useful life of the asset by way of reduced
depreciation expense.

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of
a past event, and it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount of the
obligation can be made. Where the effect of discounting
is material, provisions are stated at the present value
of the expenditure expected to settle the obligation. All
provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and
adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
uncertain events not wholly with the control of the
Group, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless
the probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.
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Financial guarantee contracts in the scope of HKAS
39 are accounted for as financial liabilities. A financial
guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer
(or guarantor) to make specified payments to reimburse
the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor
fails to make payment when due in accordance with
the terms of a debt instrument.

Where the Group issues a financial guarantee, the fair
value of the guarantee is initially recognised as deferred
income within trade and other payables. Where
consideration is received or receivable for the issuance
of the guarantee, the consideration is recognised in
accordance with the Group’s policies applicable to that
category of asset. Where no such consideration is
received or receivable, an immediate expense is
recognised in profit or loss on initial recognition of any
deferred income.

The amount of the guarantee initially recognised as
deferred income is amortised in profit or loss over the
term of the guarantee as income from financial
guarantees issued. In addition, provisions are
recognised in accordance with note 3.21 if and when
it becomes probable that the holder of the guarantee
will call upon the Group under the guarantee and the
amount of that claim on the Group is expected to
exceed the current carrying amount i.e. the amount
initially recognised less accumulated amortisation,
where appropriate.



B I5 R R M A

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE_—_ZFT——F=H=+—HIFFJZ For the year ended 31 March 2012

3. FESHHERE

3.23BER A

BA BESLETIANAEREE
FRES 2 (EERAR T K ERBE
B EEERE REE 2 Bm R
RENR - AEREERTHERR
B A EEEERERRRNEZ
BE o AMEERARELRTIE
FASZ °

ERBERAEREEFERTEN
B ERRZAB A B TK
B RIEBEARCEERA -

3.2 RE

EEFANRBRETAERET
DERERNCBIUIAR HERE
BERAE LEBRRAERLE - Fi%
FRBERRALERTIRE - BIZA
ERRARE -

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.23 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred for the acquisition,
construction or production of any qualifying asset are
capitalised during the period of time that is required to
complete and prepare the asset for its intended use. A
qualifying asset is an asset which necessarily takes a
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended
use or sale. Other borrowing costs are expensed when
incurred.

Capitalisation of borrowing costs ceases when
substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the
qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are
complete.

3.24 Dividends

Final dividends proposed by the directors are classified
as a separate allocation of retained profits within equity,
until they have been approved by the shareholders in
a general meeting. When these dividends are approved
and declared, they are recognised as a liability.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.25 Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs. Repurchases of the Company’s own equity
instruments is recognised and deducted directly in
equity. On repurchase of the Company’s own shares,
the amount equivalent to the par value of the shares
repurchased is transferred from retained profits to
capital redemption reserve. No gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue
or cancellation of the Company’s own equity
instruments.

3.26 Related parties

For the purposes of these financial statements, a party
is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family is related to the Group if that
person:

(i) has control or joint control over the
Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group;
or

(iii)  is a member of key management

personnel of the Group or the Company’s
parent.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.26 Related parties (Continued)

(b)

the party is an entity is related to the Group if
any of the following conditions apply:

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

the entity and the Group are members
of the same group (which means that
each parent, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others).

one entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member).

both entities are joint ventures of the
same third party.

one entity is a joint venture of a third
entity and the other entity is an associate
of the third entity.

the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of the employees of
the Group or an entity related to the
Group.

the entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in (a).

a person identified in (a)(i) has
significant influence over the entity or is
a member of key management personnel
of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

Mongolia Investment Group Limited
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.26 Related parties (Continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the
entity and include:

(i) that person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner;

(ii) children of that person’s spouse or domestic
partner; and

(iii)  dependents of that person or that person’s
spouse or domestic partner.

3.27 Segment reporting

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares
segment information based on the regular internal
financial information reported to the executive directors
(i.e. the chief operating decision-maker) for the purpose
of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance. The Group has identified the following
reportable segments for its segment reporting:

Waterworks engineering g Provision of

contracting business maintenance and
construction works
on civil engineering
contracts in respect
of waterworks
engineering, road
works and drainage
and slope upgrading
for the public sector
in Hong Kong

Provision of water
supply services and
water supply related
installation services in
Mainland China

Water supply business

Mining and exploration Mining and exploration
business of mineral resources
in Mongolia

Provision of renovation
services in Macau
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.27 Segment reporting (continuea)

Each of these operating segments is managed
separately as each of the business lines requires
different resources as well as operating approaches.

Fair value change on the Derivative Component of the
Convertible Note (note 27(d)), gain arising from
extension of the Promissory Note (note 27(c)), finance
costs, income taxes and corporate income and
expenses which are not directly attributable to the
business activities of any operating segment are not
included in arriving at the operating results of the
operating segment.

Segment assets include all assets with the exception
of corporate assets, including pledged bank deposits,
certain cash at banks and in hand and other assets
which are not directly attributable to the business
activities of operating segments, as well as those assets
which are managed on a group basis such as tax assets.

Segment liabilities include trade and other payables
directly attributable to the business activities of
operating segments and exclude corporate liabilities
and other liabilities such as tax liabilities and borrowings
that are managed on a group basis.

ELREEEAER2T | Mongolia Investment Group Limited
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Estimates and judgements used in preparing the financial
statements are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are discussed below:

Revenue from maintenance and construction works on
civil engineering contracts is recognised according to
the percentage of completion of individual contract
which requires the estimation of contract costs and
gross profit margin of each contract. Contract costs
and gross profit margin of individual contract is
determined based on budget of the contract which was
prepared by the management of the Group. In order to
ensure that the total estimated contract costs are
accurate and up-to-date such that gross profit margin
can be estimated reliably, management reviews the
costs incurred to date and costs to completion
frequently, in particular in the case of costs over-runs
and the variation orders from customers, and revise
the estimated contract costs where necessary.

If the actual contract costs and the gross profit margin
differ from the management’s estimates, the contract
revenue and gross profit to be recognised in the next
financial year will have to be adjusted accordingly.



8 75 3R 7= MY &
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE_—_ZFT——F=H=+—HIFFJZ For the year ended 31 March 2012

R-_FENFELATAE  KEHE
MR (R R BRARR) (1381 BRR
D) BIEERR FOMA L - #R
PR 8 K% 540 50 JR] O K 0t R 3 3 [
(IRERE])ETRYERKH
R IRIBEILRRE - REBUTE
R-ZFTNAF+A+HNBRIREMR
BRE  E5E - BERZIEERRE
ARIEGRETTE - AR
T HERTEREERDREER
KR ZOEBIBMEAEA R L -
BIRREE—HRE  XEEZ
IR E AR SESRE - B2
BREEAY E S| BRI A E ERE B R
ZHAA MEABFES HARN
AR L RBERE HE— 18
sl e

B %

REBEMTINERER - —TFE
SHEELSRBBE - BAAELHT
TBIRE AT (R RR 4R 57 228A
13533A  13553A K 15429A) B 7
i el R s e i
TEYER R AR MR o IRASE
EREiEEERT  RZE—=
ER-_FT——F=F=1+—B#
MR R MARREER
5 NIREIR &M= 8RR R R
BEREABEE -

On 16 July 2009, the Parliament of Mongolia enacted
the Mining Prohibition Law (the “MPL”) which prohibits
minerals exploration and mining in areas such as
headwaters of rivers and lakes, forest areas and areas
adjacent to rivers and lakes (the “Defined Prohibited
Areas”). Pursuant to the MPL, the Mongolian
government was supposed to define the boundaries of
the relevant prohibited areas by 16 October 2009 but
it had not done so by the prescribed time. It also states
that any previously granted licenses that overlap the
Defined Prohibited Areas will be terminated within five
months following the enactment of the law. The MPL
further states that affected license holders shall be
compensated but details as to how the compensation
is determined have not been specified in the MPL and
the Mongolian government has not yet released any
further guidance on how to interpret the MPL.

TNE mine of the Group was notified by the Mineral
Resources Authority of Mongolia in 2010 that four
mining concessions (license no. 228A, 13533A,
13553A and 15429A) are within the area designated,
on a preliminary basis, as land where mineral
exploration and mining are prohibited under the MPL.
As advised by the Group’s Mongolian legal advisor,
there was no revocation of these licenses as at 31
March 2012 and 2011 and therefore the directors of
the Company are of the opinion that it is appropriate to
assume the mining licences are valid when preparing
the cash flow projection.

ELREEEAEMRLT | Mongolia Investment Group Limited
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Impairment of receivables is determined by
management based on the credit history of its
customers and the current market condition. It could
change significantly as a result of changes in the
financial position of the customers. Management would
re-assess the amount of impairment for receivables, if
any, at each reporting date.

The Group is subject to taxation in various jurisdictions.
Significant judgement is required in determining the
amount of the provision for taxation and the timing of
payment of the related taxation. Where the final tax
outcome is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the income tax
and deferred tax provisions in the periods in which such
determination are made.

The application of the Group’s accounting policy for
exploration and evaluation expenditure requires
judgement in determining whether it is likely that future
economic benefits are likely either from future
exploitation or sale or where activities have not reached
a stage which permits a reasonable assessment of the
existence of reserves. In this connection, the
management makes certain estimates and assumptions
about future events or circumstances, in particular
whether an economically viable extraction operation
can be established. Estimates and assumptions made
may change if new information becomes available. If,
after expenditure is capitalised, information becomes
available suggesting that the recovery of expenditure
is unlikely, the amount capitalised is written off in profit
or loss in the period when the new information becomes
available.
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Goodwill is tested for impairment at least annually.
Other assets including property, plant and equipment,
exploration and evaluation assets, and mining licences
are assessed annually to determine for any indication
of impairment. Where an indicator of impairment exists,
a formal estimate of the recoverable amount is made,
which is the higher of the fair value less costs to sell
and value in use. These assessments require the use
of estimates and assumptions such as long-term selling
prices, discount rates, future capital requirements and
operating performance. Fair value is determined as the
amount that would be obtained from the sale of the
asset in an arm’s length transaction between
knowledgeable and willing parties. Fair value for mineral
assets is generally determined as the present value of
estimated future cash flows arising from the continued
use of the asset, which includes estimates such as the
cost of future expansion plans and eventual disposal,
using assumptions that an independent market
participant may take into account. Cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. Management has assessed its cash generating
units as being an individual mine site, or individual
water plant, which is the lowest level for which cash
inflows are largely independent of those of other assets.

The Group makes estimate on the amount of coal that
can be extracted from the Group’s mining properties.
The estimate is determined based on information
compiled by appropriately qualified persons relating
to the geological data on the size, depth and the deposit
type of the coal and requires complex geological
judgements to interpret the data. The estimation of the
resource is based upon factors such as estimates of
foreign exchange rates, coal price, future capital
requirements and production costs along with
geological assumptions and judgements made in
estimating the size and quality of the coal. Changes in
the resource estimates may impact upon the carrying
value of mine properties, property, plant and
equipment, goodwill and recognition of deferred tax.

ELREEEAEMRLT | Mongolia Investment Group Limited
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The directors use their judgement in selecting an
appropriate valuation technique for the Convertible
Note as disclosed in note 27(d) which are not quoted
in the active market. Valuation technique commonly
used by the market practitioners is applied. The fair
value of the Convertible Note is estimated by
independent professional valuer based on the actual
transaction of the financial instruments in the market
or transactions of similar financial instruments which
generally represent the best estimate of the market
value. Details of the key inputs into the model are
disclosed in note 27(d). The fair value of the Convertible
Note varies with different variables of certain subjective
assumptions. Any change in these variables so adopted
may materially affect the estimation of the fair value of
the Convertible Note.

The fair value of share options granted is estimated
using the binomial model at the date of grant by an
independent valuer. The model requires input of
subjective assumptions such as expected stock price
volatility and dividend yield. Changes in the subjective
input may materially affect the fair value estimates.
Details of assumptions and estimates used are set out
in note 31.

Provision for reclamation and closure cost is estimated
based on the management’s interpretation of current
regulatory requirements and their past experiences.
Provision set up, if any, is reviewed regularly by
management to ensure it properly reflects the obligation
arising from the mining and exploration activities.



Bri5 e R M aE
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE_—F——4F=H=-+—HIFF/Z For the year ended 31 March 2012

5. W& Htlk AR W= 5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND

GAINS
AEE 2z ETEEBES 2 W (TREIASE An analysis of revenue from the Group’s principal activities,
B EER) REMKRA RS2 5470 which is also the Group’s turnover, and other income and gains
TS € is as follows:

—E-=fF —E——%F
2012 2011
FTHExT FHIT
HK$’000 HK$’000
Wz Revenue
TARIBEHZRER Contract revenue from maintenance and
BEIRZEOWE construction works on
civil engineering contracts 930,283 874,289
HOK AR T W s Revenue from water supply services 693 556
HKEELEE Water supply related installation fee 118 116
RIERB WG Revenue from renovation services 4,480 -
935,574 874,961
Hi A K Wz Other income and gains
HRITHLEUA Bank interest income 285 2,067
PE 5 U % Exchange gains = 13,358
AR Z R STHE T B 81D Fair value change on the Derivative
ZRAREEE Component of the Convertible Note
(Ff3E27(d)) (note 27(d)) - 22,821
ERAREBRESE Gain arising from extension of the
2 Wz (B EE27(c)) Promissory Note (note 27(c)) 34,497 -
MIEUWA Sundry income 93 265
34,875 38,511
A Total income 970,449 913,472
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6. DEER 6. SEGMENT INFORMATION
DEEE > DEHEERDH Segments results, segment assets and
=L segment liabilities
ERAAEBAEZH®RO T 2 ER (BIFW Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments
w= o AFEEE - REENEBEEEHEER) including the reconciliations to revenue, loss for the year, total
REMHEHERMT assets and total liabilities and other segment information are
as follows:

ABIRREER FRRUFER
Waterworks engineering xR EBER Mining and #e
contracting business Water supply business Renovation business exploration business Consolidated
c%-2§ %% -%-2f _R-% Z8-°f F-F ¥-f 3-F 82§ 3£
212 212 2012 211 2012 211 2012 211
THL BT TAn BT TRn  TEn  TEr TR TEn TEn
HK$'000  HKS000  HKS'000 HK$'000  HKSO00  HK$'000  HKS000  HK$'000  HKS000
CER VDY Reportable segment revenue* 930,283 874289 811 672 4,480 - - - 935574 87491
B2RAD(BR) /EH Reportable segment (loss)/profit (2,000 12259 (1,192) (759 (1,079) - (1,736,401)  (406,735) (1,740,668)  (395,230)
TARZENETASRZ  Fairvalue change on the Dervatve Component
DhEED(HE20) of the Convertble Note (note 27(e)) (7800 281
ERALEEELL (ain arlsing from extension of the
Yot (s Promissory Note (note 271c)) 34497 -
BERARRY Corporate income and expenses (3994)  (9813)
BENT Finance coss (88,145)  (76,1%8)
kEEHNEE Loss before income tax (1,799,090)  (458.38))
FERES Income ta credit AL0M 8179
KEERR Loss for the year (1,388,046) ~ (370,580)
i
2012 211
Tér  Thn
HK$'000  HKS000
CEE Y] Reportable segment assets 519331 H2912 14,552 14978 3,669 - 805553 2642434 1343105 321034
FESHEE-TAREE  Derative fivancial asset — Derivative Component
JTETEEH of the Convertible Note 63,734 80,342
THERE Tax recoveratle 1,69 -
BEARAER Pledged bank deposis w4 2501
h3EE Corporate assefs 916 788
GefEE Consolidated total assets 1433868 332395

—ZE— %% | Annual Report 2012 ].03
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AN > A . )
6. TEEHR = 6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continuea)
i ~.
DEEE > DEHEERDH Segments results, segment assets and
=040 )) segment liabilities (continued)
KBIRRAER LR
Waterworks engineering fiER £BER Mining and ait
contracting business Water supply business Renovation business exploration business Consolidated
Z§-CF “F--F CB-CF F-F - “§-cf “F--F -§-of %
2012 211 2012 211 2012 212 211 212
TR TEr  TEr TEr TER BT TEn TEr TEm TR
HK$'000  HKSO00  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HKS000  HK$'000  HKSO000
BREHER Reportable segment liabilities 95,119 73621 n R 609 - 9,141 9687 104,940 83,340
BE(FRARAREAE)  Borowings excluding finance lease liabiites 846,488 949237
EfifE Tax pajeble 9 17
BRERERE Deferred tax lzblies 141260 599976
b8k Corporate iabilties U7 £l
LIS Consolidated total liabilities 1092944 1632971
ZE-ZF 3%
2012 211
T#r  TEn
HK$'000  HKS000
AfrER Other information
EL0N Interest income 4 38 185 % - - 5 191 285 2067
% RERAEZRE Impairment of property, plant and equipment = - = 1776 = - 4043 V) 1776
EERE Impairment of goodl - - - - - - X 1 X 1
FRERRE Impairment of mining licences - - - - - - 1646083 353399 1646083 35339
EMFERE Impairment of prepayment - - - - = S 33 -3 -
PEREARDEE Aditions to specifed non-current asses * 15,344 8201 - 14 13 - 13336 2527188 28693 2535403
0% BERAELNE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 9278 9868 946 Ty - - 2312 10 1259 11498
BHLHEE RS Amortisation of prepeid land lease payments - - 6 6 - - 25 m 241 m
WEREEUNREEH ZBE  Equiy-settied share-based compensation 2519 24% - - - - 2191 125 4710 1471
* EREIFREFZIHE BEHEC=T * This represents sales from external customers and there were
——FR-_T——F=ZA=+—A81t no inter-segment sales between different business segments
FE - TREBKD 2 ELES HHE for the years ended 31 March 2012 and 2011.
$HE
# BEERDEEEAEBRKREMTE # Specified non-current assets represents the Group’s non-
ASNZ IERBNEE - current assets excluding financial instruments.
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6. DEER @ 6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continvea)
HEER Geographical information
REE 2 EBARES (FIEH) - REA The Group’s operations are located in Hong Kong (place of
o ORPFIREHE c AEERMEZRS] 2 domicile), Mainland China, Macau and Mongolia. The Group’s
W THRIBE R EREET - AEERI revenue by geographical location is determined based on
@252 EERBEEDIRBEEE M locations of customers. The Group’s specified non-current
B B KT (B BmE) BT - assets by geographical locations are determined based on

physical location of the assets or location of operation in case
of goodwill.

&% hER bl 5] &4
Hong Kong Mainland China Macau Mongolia Consolidated
“§-cF CF--F C¥-2F CFF §-0F D% CR-CF IR-F §-of CF

2012 211 2012 211 2012 211 2012 1 2012
T TEr TEn TEr  TEr  TExr  TEx  TEr  TEn
HK$'000  HKS000  HK$'000  HKS000 HK$'000  HKS000  HK$'000  HKS000  HK§'000  HK$000

W& Revenue 930,283 874,289 811 672 4,480 - - - 935574 874961
REERDLE Specified non-current assets 44730 40285 6,938 7534 13 - 598568 2475061 650,249 2,522,880
RABHREFE  KXEEB K= Z During the current financial year, HK$915,732,000 or 98%
915,732,000/ 708 98% (=T — —F : (2011: HK$831,519,000 or 95%) of the Group’s revenue
831,519,000/ 70895%) T4k E/K7E T2 depended on a single customer in the waterworks engineering

EBRERHHIE—RF ° contracting business segment.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE—F——F=H=-1—HIF/Z For the year ended 31 March 2012

7. KEFHE

e BERYEMR, GEA)
THIREERE

7. OPERATING LOSS

Operating loss is arrived
at after charging/(crediting):

—E-——fF
2012

FET
HK$’000

BRARIZ ZIFEKRA Costs of inventories recognised
as expenses
—BERGFEEZEREE — Carrying amount of inventories utilised 144,492 136,493
— 1F E Uk — Write-down of inventories 6,310 -
150,802 136,493
TEfT L 4b 70 & SRR 4 5 Amortisation of prepaid land
lease payments 241 279
M WENBEZITE  Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment
-BBHEE — owned assets 12,544 11,034
—HEEE — leased assets 52 424
12,596 11,458
B WE - BB MR, Less: Amounts capitalised in property,

BR R HEE plant and equipment/exploration

BrERSH and evaluation assets (267) (241)
mE - BERERBEZ Net depreciation of property, plant

WEFE and equipment 12,329 11,217
ETRA(BIEEZEEME)  Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments)

— & BN EWEF - salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 130,682 129,929
— R RE T8It — retirement benefits scheme contributions
(SR fERGET 8l (defined contribution plan) 4,171 5,417
—DEREE W AR D — equity-settled share-based
YAtz EE (E31) compensation (note 31) 5,276 10,508
140,129 145,854
KEHEER Operating lease charges
— T REF — land and buildings 5,176 3,414
— B K as — plant and machinery 4,391 5,584
9,567 8,998
1% BRI B & Auditor’s remuneration
—RNEEEE — provision for current year 1,340 1,119
- F—FEBBTR — under-provision in prior year 100 -
1,440 1,119
HEWE - HWEK Loss on disposal of property,

HfE 2 B plant and equipment 1,686 2,561
V& 5 E5 18558 Exchange losses, net 12,200 -
TES BB Impairment of prepayment 3,738 -
AR ZEESTAE T AED  Fair value loss on the Derivative Component

ZAREEE of the Convertible Note 780 -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE_—F——4F=H=-+—HIFF/Z For the year ended 31 March 2012

8. EMERA 8. FINANCE COSTS
—E—=fF —T——F
2012 2011
FET FHEIT
HK$’000 HK$’000
LATEEBEZFEEBR - Interest charges on:
ERAFRNEEREEZ Bank loans and overdraft wholly
RITERRBEX repayable within five years 2,164 2,692
BMEHENRZ Interest element of finance
NSNS lease payments 12 28
HMER Other loans 75 -
2,251 2,720
EA BB RS Imputed interest expenses on
B (I EE27(c)) Promissory Note (note 27(c)) 33,101 23,858
MR ER S Imputed interest expenses on
FERZ (FF3E27(d) Convertible Note (note 27(d)) 52,793 49,580
LS AR R 2 Total interest on financial liabilities stated
e ET S8 at amortised cost 88,145 76,158
=]
9. FiEBiiER 9. INCOME TAX CREDIT
—E-=fF —T——F
2012 2011
FHET FHEIT
HK$’000 HK$’000
A FE BN AR IE Current tax for the year
—BABMEH — Hong Kong profits tax 500 551
- E—FEBERE — Over-provision in respect of prior year (23) -
B RuEE RRE Write back of deferred tax on
IEIERETE (B E29) impairment of mining licenses (note 29) (411,521) (88,350)
FriSFiiE Income tax credit (411,044) (87,799)
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B I5 R R M A
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE—F——F=H=-1—HIF/Z For the year ended 31 March 2012

9.

FrEBER @

EBEFEBR RN EEEAERF SR 2
16.5%(ZZF——%F : 16.5%) 51 & -

A B A E A R EATSE ([ %S
B iR EMREEG RBHIETE -
TEMSHBEARER2%(ZE——
£ 1 25%) o

REREBEMK L2 MEARASMRS
BAEN  ZAEHIAERBREAE
3,000,000,0005 # B El#% 252 ([EH&E
R R1I0% 2 BETE - BHEBHR25%
ZREGFE - ARRERHEMNBARE
HE_Z-——F=A=+—HBIFETE
ELERRBRA (CE——F : H)  FAit
W ARBEATIFBEAE H B -

BERAM R E 2 A FREMAFH R R EH
BREFG AT BB 2 BERAT ¢

9.

INCOME TAX CREDIT (continved)

Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at 16.5% (2011: 16.5%)
on the estimated assessable profits for the year.

Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) arising from the Mainland China
is calculated according to the relevant laws and regulations in
the PRC. The applicable tax rate for the EIT is 25% (2011:
25%).

Subsidiaries incorporated in Mongolia are subject to Mongolian
income tax which is calculated at the rate of 10% on the first
3 billion Mongolian Tugrik (“MNT”) of taxable income and 25%
on the amount in excess thereof. No income tax was provided
as these Mongolian subsidiaries have not derived any taxable
income during the year ended 31 March 2012 (2011: Nil).

Income tax credit for the year can be reconciled to the loss
before income tax at applicable tax rates as follows:

—E——& ===t
2012 2011
FTHExT FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000

Mk TSI ATES 1B Loss before income tax (1,799,090) (458,385)
RHAR BRI LR Notional tax on profit calculated at

EH 2 MEAE 2 the rates applicable to profits in

A B ER the jurisdiction concerned (440,457) (108,469)
BAEZHWAZHEEZZE  Tax effect on non-taxable income (6,013) (4,050)
TS 2 BT 2 Tax effect on non-deductible expenses 34,663 24,714
M ARER ZRIEBEZ Tax effect on tax losses not

D4 recognised 810 718
BT RER Utilisation of tax losses previously not

IEEE recognised (23) (742)
Hity Others (24) 30
FrigfiE e Income tax credit (411,044) (87,799)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE_—_ZFT——F=H=+—HIFFJZ For the year ended 31 March 2012

10.

11.

12.

RRmEBEAAEA
B8

ARRBEREARGEABER
1,387,784,0008 L (=T ——%F :
369,890,000/ 7T) -+ 1,478,806,000/% 7T
2R (ZZF——F : 148,412,000/ 7T)
ERARRARZHAEMRARE -

=)

EETEHERBE T —F=A=1t—
BLEFERMNEMES (ZT——%F:
&) -

BREE

BREABEDIENRNFEARA RIS
A AFE(RE1E1,387,784,000/8 T (- —
—4F : 369,890,000/ 70) R FARNE EITLE
B R AN F 19 889,116,259,000% (= F
——% : 5540,828,0000%) 5T & o

R AN R R W M F 2 1) 4R B S E U Y
BERBITEBER - SMEFE SR
SEERESRENEBEAR - JRERR
(AnPHE27 () P I ) R W R AT 2 FE %
T (M EESLATIRER) AT 2 5 B AER
ERAEREBETE -

—ZE— %% | Annual Report 2012

10.

11.

12.

LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS
OF THE COMPANY

Of the consolidated loss attributable to owners of the Company
of HK$1,387,784,000 (2011: HK$369,890,000), a loss of
HK$1,478,806,000 (2011: HK$148,412,000) has been dealt
with in the financial statements of the Company.

DIVIDEND

The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend
for the year ended 31 March 2012 (2011: Nil).

LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss for
the year attributable to the owners of the Company of
HK$1,387,784,000 (2011: HK$369,890,000) and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during
the year of 9,116,259,000 (2011: 5,540,828,000).

Diluted loss per share for both years is the same as the basic
loss per share as the Company has no dilutive potential
ordinary shares outstanding during both years. The impact of
the Convertible Note as disclosed in note 27(d) and the
outstanding share options as disclosed in note 31 had anti-
dilutive effect on the basic loss per share presented.
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BE_—F——4F=H=-+—HIFF/Z For the year ended 31 March 2012

13.EEREREEASH 13. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR

& MANAGEMENTS’ EMOLUMENTS
(a) EEME (a) Directors’ emoluments

¥ie 28 BHRER  NEREE
RENER HE 125 547

Salaries,  Retirement X Z#E
allowances benefits  Equity-settled

#¢  and benefits scheme  share-hased Bg
Fees in kind  contributions compensation Total
AT THT AT THET AT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

—2-Zf% 2012
HiTES Executive Directors
RBAEE Mr. Yuen Chow Ming - 1,294 = = 1,294
RERLE Mr. Yuen Wai Keung - 1,774 12 2,519 4,305
BEELE Mr. So Yiu Cheung = 1,294 12 = 1,306
REXLE Mr. Cheung Chi Man, Dennis - 1,294 12 - 1,306
wlEE Mr. Lim Siong, Dennis = 2422 68 2519 5,009
SEB A (W) Mr. Wong Tak Chung (note (i) - 192 4 (980) (784)
Enebish. Burenkhuu  Mr. Enebish. Burenkhuu
it - 427 52 (263) 216
2hBEE Mr. Leung, Chung Tak Barry = 1,200 12 = 1,212
FHTES Non-Executive Director
EES A (M5E()  Mr. Ho Hin Hung, Henry (note (if)) 110 150 1 1,185 1,446
BUFHTES Independent Non-Executive Directors
Bt A LA Mr. Chan, Sai Kit Kevin 120 = = = 120
BRALE Mr. Liao Cheung Tin, Stephen 120 = = 148 268
ETYLE Mr. Tam Tsz Kan 120 = = 148 268
470 10,047 173 5,276 15,966
—E-—-% 2011
BTEE Executive Directors
RIAEE Mr. Yuen Chow Ming - 1,274 - - 1,274
RERLE Mr. Yuen Wai Keung - 1,754 12 2,233 3,999
BEELE Mr. So Yiu Cheung - 1,274 12 - 1,286
RENEE Mr. Cheung Chi Man, Dennis - 1,184 12 - 1,19
EE LA (WEG))  Mr. Ho Hin Hung, Henry (note (ii) - 1,650 12 1,051 2,713
BEE A (EEGH) M. Lim Siong, Dennis (note (iii) - 1,909 82 2,233 4,224
FEEEA (I Mr. Wong Tak Chung (note (i) - 450 9 2,233 2,692
Enebish. Burenkhuu  Mr. Enebish. Burenkhuu
S (B (i) (note (i) - 373 7 263 643
PURESLE (M3 v)  Mr. Leung, Chung Tak Barry
(note (iv)) - 58 1 - 59
BUFHTES Independent Non-Executive Directors
DLVEHR (W) Professor Leung Yee Tak (note (v)) 70 - - - 70
RIS (3T (vi)  Mr. Chan, Sai Kit Kevin (note (vi)) 50 - - - 50
BRALE Mr. Liao Cheung Tin, Stephen 120 - - 131 251
BT %A (MEEM)  Mr. Tam Tsz Kan (note (vii) 49 - - 131 180
TR %4 (B (i) Mr. Wong Lap Shek, Eddie (note (viii)) 56 - - - 56
345 9,926 147 8,275 18,693
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE_—_ZFT——F=H=+—HIFFJZ For the year ended 31 March 2012

13. %%&E%&%EA%@H

(a) EEME »

(i RZE—ZFA+LHEZ
FIR—FT—F+A-++
HE T

(ii) R-ZE—FWOA-+/N\HH
HITEERTAENTES
REBR-_ZE——EXA=-+
J\B BHE

(i) RZBE-—ZFTFXA+LAE
=1

(iv) RZZT——F=A+HBE%E
1T

v R-E-FFtA=t+-H
BHE

Vi) R-ZZE-—ZF+-A—H%
=1

(i) RZZE-—ZF+A-BAEZRE
(i) RZZE—ZFAA=T+HEHME
HMEEENEXREREHRE—
——FRZF—F=A=1—
IFFEZEAME -

=
H
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13. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENTS’ EMOLUMENTS

(Continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued)

Notes:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

appointed on 17 June 2010 and resigned on 27 July
2011

re-designated from executive director to non-
executive director on 28 April 2011 and subsequently
resigned on 28 June 2012

appointed on 17 June 2010

appointed on 14 March 2011

resigned on 31 October 2010

appointed on 1 November 2010

appointed on 1 October 2010

resigned on 30 September 2010

No director waived or agreed to waive any emoluments
in respect of the years ended 31 March 2012 and 2011.
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BE_—F——4F=H=-+—HIFF/Z For the year ended 31 March 2012

13. EENSNEE A S
£ @

(b) EEEZEHAL

AEBRLERSFALEEDNS
(CE——F AREF H¥=
EREXHE - BE_T——F=
A=+—BLFE BN FHT—
AEREHFEEALZMSOT

e 2K

13. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENTS’ EMOLUMENTS

(Continued)
(b) Five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individuals in the Group included
four (2011: five) directors whose emoluments have
been disclosed above. For the year ended 31 March
2012, the emoluments paid to the remaining one
highest paid, non-director individual is as follows:

—2—=F —F——F

2012 2011
TAT
HK$000

TR
HK$’000

Salaries, allowances and

EWET benefits in kind 1,714 -
RREFIFTEIEFN Retirement benefits scheme

contributions 12 -

1,726 -

BE-_Z——F=A=1+—HItF
B bl —ZREFIIFEEALTZ
< @A T T EE -

1,500,001 7T & 2,000,0007% 7T

For the year ended 31 March 2012, the aggregate
emoluments of the above one highest paid, non-director
individual fell within the following band:

A¥
Number of individuals
—F——F

—E—_F
2012 2011

HK$1,500,001 - HK$2,000,000 1 -

RBE_ZT——FR=F—F=
A=+—BIEFER  AEEWE
MESESAMNRAEESHATIM
EAE - (ERBERSEMALRE
BB EIMANERE 2 SRR IE
REBERAEE -

112

During the years ended 31 March 2012 and 2011, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the Directors
or any of the five highest paid individuals as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.
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BE_—F——4F=H=-+—HIFF/Z For the year ended 31 March 2012

14. 1% - BMERKE 14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT

KEE The Group

B SER BE
EL] il BBRIA WEHREE
1HEEF Furniture, NEEE RE Plant, KER Mine

Land and fixtures and Leasehold Motor machinery Water ~ development &

buildings equipment  improvements vehicles and tools pipelines assets Total
AT A7 AT A7 AT A7 AT AR

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

KZE-TEZA=1-H At31 March 2010
A Cost 1,576 9,107 5475 44214 23,688 7,779 - 91,839
2iE Accumulated depreciation (308) (3,584) (2,929) (14,893) (15,459) (572) - (37,745)
E@EE Net carrying amount 1,268 5,523 2,546 29321 8,229 7,207 - 54,004
FEFE Net carrying amount
H-E-BEMA-F At 1 Aprl 2010 1268 5503 2546 31 8229 7200 . 54,094
BREBAKE (H:33) Acquisition through business
combination (note 33) 5,578 474 - 918 6,398 - - 13,368
EREBRRIRAE Transfer from exploration
(H19) and evaluation assefs (nofe 19) - - - - - - 15191 15,191
RE Additions 11,010 2,005 236 7275 3,018 - 17,757 41,301
tE Disposals - (430) (213) (1577) (862) - - (3,082)
il Depreciation (216) (1,179) (697) (5,998) (3,025) (343) - (11,458)
W Impairment (247) (137) - - - (1,392) - (1,776)
ERAE Exchange realignment 398 68 - 339 1,043 327 2,112 4781
RZE-—-%Zf=1-H At 31 March 2011 18,291 6,324 1872 30,278 14,801 5799 35,060 112425
R-E——%ZA=1-R At 31 March 2011
HE Cost 19118 11,084 4872 48,820 31,612 8136 35,060 158,702
ZHFERHE Accumulated depreciation
and impairment (827) (4,760) (3,000) (18,542) (16,811) (2,337) - (46,277)
FEFE Net carrying amount 18291 6,324 1872 30,278 14,801 5799 35,060 112425
BHEE Net carrying amount
RZE-—4MA-H At 1 April 2011 18,291 6,324 1872 30,278 14,801 5799 35,060 112425
AE Additions 110 3,624 7,683 5,164 3116 - 5,601 25,298
e Disposals - (210) (108) (1,658) ) - - (1,984)
i Depreciation (525) (1419 (1241) (5,457) (3,090) (863) - (12,59)
HE Impairment - - - - (6,903) - (33,529) (40432)
EiRE Exchange realignment (574) (37 (54) (280) (607) mn (2,706) (3,986)
R-B-ZE=f=1-B At 31 March 2012 17302 8282 8152 28,047 7308 5,208 4426 78,725
R=B-ZF=B=1-B At 31 March 2012
A Cost 18615 14,030 12,188 50,674 33716 8456 37,226 174,905
ZHAERAE Accumulated depreciation
and impairment (1313) (5,748) (4,036) (22,627) (26,408) (3,248) (32,800) (96,180)
BEFE Net carrying amount 17302 8282 8,152 28,047 7308 5,208 4426 78,725
HARZERERSEN AV BFEEMAREE - B No depreciation for mine development assets was provided
I ERESREEETRTE (25— for as the production of the coal mine site has not yet
—F ) commenced in this financial year (2011: Nil).
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BE_—F——4F=H=-+—HIFF/Z For the year ended 31 March 2012

14. 1% - BERRZE » 14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQU'PM ENT (Continued)

EEZRA EERETERURKRE The Directors are of the opinion that the smokeless plant will
] WEERE R FED DA RE not be implemented in the foreseeable future and therefore
EE2ERE - EEREEEE,903,000/4% the net carrying amount of the smokeless plant has been fully
JC ° impaired in the current financial year, resulting in an

impairment loss of HK$6,903,000.

Yz - BENEENRIFEEE YA The net carrying amount of property, plant and equipment
MEMREFAARBCEENSE includes the following amounts in respect of assets held under
finance leases:

—E——F —T——fF

2012 2011

FBT FHIT

HK$’000 HK$’000

E Motor vehicles 233 855
AEEVMENFEEFEI>TOT ! The analysis of the net carrying amount of the Group’s

properties is as follows:

—E—=fF —T——F
2012 2011
FET FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
BB AN R A Outside Hong Kong, held under
FHEERAE medium-term leases 17,863 19,155
THFIBATAEEBD Representing:
B’y Buildings 17,302 18,291
AR LA E IR Prepaid land lease payments
(P 3E15) (note 15) 561 864

17,863 19,155
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BE_—F——4F=H=-+—HIFF/Z For the year ended 31 March 2012

=+
15. S LA EFIE 15. PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS
REH
The Group
T—_F —F——F
2012 2011
FHET FH&IT
HK$’000 HK$’000
HAVER B Opening net carrying amount 864 140
BPBERA GHUNEE Acquisition through business combination
(M97E33) (note 33) - 675
NE Addition 3 189
5 Amortisation (241) (279)
VE W AR Exchange realignment (65) 139
HRBR DB Closing net carrying amount 561 864
DITEAT - Analysed into:
STAEREEEN Non-current portion included
SETR BN in non-current assets 351 630
STAREBEER Current portion included
mENE ) (FF5E23) in current assets (note 23) 210 234
561 864
AEBFEN A ERERBEA D FIR The Group’s prepaid land lease payments represent up-front
FE RSBz T {E e 2 TR K payments to acquire interest in the usage of land situated in
ZEITHDHAFRHEE (T ——F : & the PRC and Mongolia respectively, which are held under
HHEE)#FE - medium term leases (2011: medium term leases).
16. i & 2 A 16. SUBSIDIARIES
KAF
The Company
s
2012 2011
FB T FHIT
HK$’000 HK$’000
RB AT ZEE Investments in subsidiaries
JEETRAD - A Unlisted shares, at cost 2,023,062 2,020,848
B ORE R (FEE@) Less: Provision for impairment
(note (a)) (1,460,752) (74,168)
562,310 1,946,680
JiE Ui Pft B8 2 B FRIE (Bt 3E(b))  Amounts due from subsidiaries (note (b))
A A Cost 523,859 440,187
W R E Less: Provision for impairment (51,482) (15,777)
472,377 424,410
FESB B~ R FRIE Amounts due to subsidiaries 6,757 6,757
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BE_—F——4F=H=-+—HIFF/Z For the year ended 31 March 2012

16. B A & @

B 5E -

(a) ERRMEARZKERLREYD
1,386,584,0008 T (=& ——4F :
74,168,000 7T) * ZEHBRAFINS
SR ERREET - ZEHB AR
FrRERIRANAFERE - BRK
T hE R 2 BB R IS BN KT RE18.

(b) PR FEATHTES A RIFUR AR A -
2B RANBAFEER -

& i B 88 2 ) OB RO R (E R R AT AR RR A
BROERERBIE MR Z AR B ESS - UL
BRT - BEEES BRI RKAE QR R
WHEH - FARKEREZZFOT

16. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Notes:

(a) Impairment of approximately HK$1,386,584,000 (2011:
HK$74,168,000) was made for investment in subsidiaries
which are engaged in the coal mining business in Mongolia.
These subsidiaries are holding mining licences which was
subject to impairment in current year. Details of the
impairment of the mining licences are set out in note 18.

(b) The amounts due from/to subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-
free and repayable on demand.

Impairment loss in respect of amounts due from subsidiaries are
recorded using an allowance account unless the Group is satisfied
that recovery of the amount is remote, in which case the impairment
loss is written off against the amounts due from subsidiaries directly.
The movement in the allowance for doubtful debts during the year is
as follows:

AT
The Company

—E——fF —E——F
2012 2011
FExT FH#IT
HK$’000 HK$’000

FH At beginning of the year 15,777 -

e FRERZ Add : Allowance for impairment recognised
AR during the year 35,705 15,777
FR At end of the year 51,482 15,777

RZBE—ZFRZT——F=A=+—H R
IREBRERREREHRER 2 ERRERK
WBARZIE ARBIBERE  BRNZEM
BARRMGGER  ZEEH 2 T REEE
e

116

At 31 March 2012 and 2011, included in the allowance for doubtful
debts are individually impaired amounts due from subsidiaries which
related to those outstanding balances that, in the opinion of the
directors of the Company, the recovery of these balances are remote
as these subsidiaries have been loss-making for a lengthy period of
time.
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BE_—F——4F=H=-+—HIFF/Z For the year ended 31 March 2012

16. Bﬁ%i\\ﬁl (&) 16. SUBSIDIARIES (continved)
R-E——F=A=+—HzZWMBARF Particulars of the subsidiaries as at 31 March 2012 are as
BIR follows:

AR/
aEff 2 b BERTR Fir i 46 R A

Place of HRBAE Attributable FEXBRLEHY
incorporation/ Issued and equity  Principal activities and
registration paid up capital interests held  place of operation

ERRGHER
Interests held directly

HEERER A RERNES 1% (ERk) 100% EFBRERELR
Rich Path Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100%  Investment holding in

(ordinary share) Hong Kong
BEEEER

Interests held indirectly

REKBEBEIRBRAR BE 68,800,000 7t (Ei@fk) 100% EFBREIATRABER
Ming Hing Waterworks Hong Kong HK$68,800,000 100%  Civil engineering contracting
Engineering Company Limited (ordinary shares) business in Hong Kong
RELATERERAF BE 5,015,000/ T (@A) 100% EEERETATRABEHK
Ming Hing Civil Contractors Hong Kong HK$5,015,000 100%  Civil engineering contracting
Limited (ordinary shares) business in Hong Kong
BAMHERAR 3 2,100 7 (EER) 100% EmEzX
Dominic Science & Technology ~ Hong Kong HK$2,100 (ordinary shares) 100%  Inactive
Limited
DST Engineering Supplies 5% 10087 (L i®k) 100% EgL%
Limited Hong Kong HK$100 (ordinary shares) 100%  Inactive

—Z——FF% | Annual Report 2012 ]- 17



Bri5 e R M aE

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE_—F——4F=H=-+—HIFF/Z For the year ended 31 March 2012

16. B A & @

SR,
iz it 2
Place of
incorporation/

BRTR
HERE

Issued and

Fir i PB4t Bt 4
Attributable
equity
interests held

16. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

IRRBREEHY

Principal activities and

BEREER (8)
Interests held indirectly
(Continued)

RETR(FE)ERAR
Ming Hing Engineering (HK)
Company Limited

AT ORM) BERAR
Ming Yu Engineering (Macau)
Company Limited

REKH (BR)ERAR
Ming Hing Waterworks
(Qingyuan) Limited

REREKKRETIRE
BERAE

Ming Hing Water Treatment
Engineering (PRC) Limited

REKE (BZ) ERARA
Ming Hing Waterworks
(Nanning) Limited

Brave Lion Investments Limited

BRTHERRAFE
BRAE ()
BEMAEARKFE
BRAF (note ()
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registration

BE
Hong Kong

BF]

Macau

RERLES
British Virgin Islands

REALES
British Virgin Islands

RERLES
British Virgin Islands

REALES
British Virgin Islands

G
PRC

paid up capital

10057 (EaER) 100%
HK$100 (ordinary shares) 100%

2,000,0002F9% (L&R) 100%
MOP2,000,000 100%
(ordinary shares)

100% 7 (LK) 100%
US$100 (ordinary shares) 100%
100% 7T (B3R 100%
US$100 (ordinary shares) 100%
100E 7T (LK) 100%
US$100 (ordinary shares) 100%
100% 7T (£ &) 100%
US$100 (ordinary shares) 100%
1,367,670% T 100%

US$1,367,670 100%

place of operation

BEBIAIRABER
REEM X E RS

Provision of technical support
services on civil engineering
contract business in Hong Kong

RERH

Renovation service

Investment holding in
Hong Kong

Investment holding in
Hong Kong

TmER

Inactive

Investment holding in
Hong Kong

ERERMEEREER
Investment holding in
Mainland China
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16. Bﬁgi\\ﬁl (#) 16. SUBSIDIARIES (continuea)
T/
iz it 2 ERTR Fir i PB4t Bt 4
Place of BRBRA Attributable FEXERL&EHE
incorporation/ Issued and equity  Principal activities and
registration paid up capital interests held  place of operation
BEsEE: (8)
Interests held indirectly
(Continued)
ERTTE R R R H AR #9,600,0007C MEE)  HKEH
BRKBRAE PRC RMB9,600,000 note (b)  Water supply business
BT E R R R R
BRKBRRE
REBRK(BE)BRAR HE 1,282,343% T 100%  EEFHEED
(P (a)) PRC US$1,282,343 100%  In the process of de-registration
RERRK(HE)ERAR
(note (a))
SHRESEFRAR REENES 1,000% T 100% HREERK
Mongolia Investment Group British Virgin Islands US$1,000 100%  Investment holding
Limited
Central Asia Mineral st 73,064,000 70 100%  REER
Exploration Pte. Ltd. Singapore US$73,064,000 100%  Investment holding
Camex LLC et 12,000,000E12 253 100% TEHENEREZLRR
RAR & 2R
Mongolia MNT12,000,000 100%  Mineral resources exploration
and investment holding in
Mongolia
Kores EEY 11,640,0008 1R 2% 70% HAEFHERERELRDRE
Mongolia MNT11,640,000 70%  Mineral resources exploration
in Mongolia

—Z——FF% | Annual Report 2012 ]- 19
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16. Bﬁ%i\\ﬁl (#) 16. SUBSIDIARIES (continuea)
MR/
a2 it 5 BETR Frits FE A5 IR 7
Place of BERA Attributable EEEER LMY
incorporation/ Issued and equity  Principal activities and
registration paid up capital interests held  place of operation
TNE Eatci 10,000,000811& £ 572 100% EFEENSREER
Mongolia MNT10,000,000 100%  Mining business in Mongolia
Camex GT LLC =t 100,0008 1 25 100% EELE%
Mongolia MNT100,000 100%  Dormant
Grand Title Limited RERIES IS 100%  HERK
British Virgin Islands US$1 100%  Investment holding
Grand State Holdings Limited KBRUHES IS 100% MERE
British Virgin Islands US$1 100%  Property investment
Chance Wealth Holdings HEELES IE 100% EEEE
Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100%  Dormant
MIG Management Services 5 18T 100% REEERE
Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100%  Provision of administrative
services
Jichang Investments Limited REREIES IES 100% EEL%
British Virgin Islands US$1 100%  Dormant
B 5T Notes:
(a) ZENRBRBERBEEEEM AN EE (a) These companies are registered as wholly foreign owned
BEEE o enterprises under the PRC Law.
(b) AEBIFHZ AR FEMEAR98.96%H) (b) The Group has 98.96% interest in the registered capital of
WIS BRED A RI85% M) A 3k the entity and is entitled to share 85% of the profit or loss of
518 - the entity.
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17. & 17. GOODWILL
AEE
The Group
—E—-F —ET——F
2012 2011
F#ExT FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
HAFIER D F(E Opening net carrying amount = -
ERERE O Acquisition through business
(FfF3%33) combination (note 33) = 33,701
PE 5 Exchange realignment - 1,805
A Impairment - (35,506)
HRBR DB Closing net carrying amount = -
EESEEEMARP IR ReELES Goodwill was allocated to the cash generating unit (“CGU”)
I ([REELEMN]) - WHEEE FHED from which it was expected to benefit. Goodwill arising from
FEA 2 HEE D ERERMFEERIA the Acquisition (note 1) was allocated to the CGU of TNE Mine
THIRESELEMTNERSS - M2 7R within mining and exploration business. The carrying amount
HEEREBEE-_T—F=A=-+—HI of goodwill was fully impaired in the year ended
FEZEAE  E—THBHAMELS - 31 March 2011 as further disclosed in note 18.
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18. BRiE &R

18. MINING LICENCES

122

TEE
The Group

—E—_F —EF——%F

2012 2011

TER FHET

HK$’000 HK$’000

BIFIER R B Opening net carrying amount 2,377,648 -
HEAMRLRTHEE Transfer from exploration

(Mf5E19) and evaluation assets (note 19) - 2,259,371

NE Additions 274 50

B Impairment (1,646,083) -

Rk Exchange realignment (188,927) 118,227

HREREF(E Closing net carrying amount 542,912 2,377,648

HRERYE A RENI A 5 B TurB2Bayangk /AR HY
ITERE ALK Tugrug Valley * BEmE &S
1,14 EZ EEN N IERRE 2 RE
E o

REBE_ZSTRNFRAZSGEEES T
R 2 SRIRRE R B RS HI30F - IR IR
FAAREERFEYMR - BIR20% -

B L RSN AR R 2 1 R IRE -
BE 3 L IR R PR A B (= ——
F:|E) -

BE_Z——F=A=+—HILFE"
TNERSZHREERN ZZEERE Y
¥ BEREREB]TERERR]ATETTR
Bigs] - HERETRBNREE R Z R
[ {5 7] BE B R UK Bl B SE T TR E AR AT

Licences represent the carrying amount of four mining rights
in respect of a coal mine located in Tugrug Valley within the
administrative unit of Bayan Soum of Tur Aimag in Mongolia
covering area of 1,114 hectares in aggregate.

Pursuant to the Mineral Law of Mongolia which was adopted
in 2006, mining licence is granted for an initial period of 30
years and holder of a mining licence may apply for an extension
of such licence for two successive periods of 20 years each.

No amortisation for the mining licences was provided for as
the production of the coal mine site had not been commenced
in this financial year (2011: Nil).

The mining licenses of TNE Mine were subject to impairment
review immediately before their transfer to “Property, plant
and equipment”/“Mining licences” during the year ended 31
March 2011 and subsequently whenever there are indications
that the mining licences’ carrying amount may not be
recoverable.

EHREEEAER2AT | Mongolia Investment Group Limited
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HE_—_ZFT——F=H=+—HIFFJZ For the year ended 31 March 2012

EITRENRE  ARARESCEEBL
(H1EAD - AEEETNERES 2 ATk Bl £ 58 -
ENTNERS HERM - BEEEAR
RAER SR AEETNERES 2 a] Y Bl &
B UwFERABEReRE ((HERER
2o MRRESRESTE SR
H2EEMETNEES AL ERFEA 2R
FoMBAeRENMRAEE-ZT =N
FrUAEHE(CE——F 5FE22F
=FEZ12FHFA) 2 RenETEA - #
ZHeREBAITIRER1891% (=T —
—%F : 20.04%) o BEHMRER - £AM
BTFHESKA - MNEFHESKA]
DETEENRERE - WREABRIEER
ZBEUEERFBER G LA R EE
MERE - B EERIEREE - 2FEEH
SHBLE  FREERERTISEZE
\;R °

REBMBFEAETNERS 2 2 A ER
HERAKRAZEMERBRERE

(a) FEAEENREEEEHE BES
REIGE - HPE@EBTNERSH
BHE - ERRPREIREN
fn o IRIBES RS H=(ARRE
EFEZRGEERRARKEEAN
WIHE - BRRRAIEZ2REBINEE
(FE2RHH) -

Z—_—FF% | Annual Report 2012

In performing the impairment testing, the Directors of the
Company have engaged an independent valuer in determining
the recoverable amount of the TNE Mine. Given the current
development status of TNE Mine, management has determined
the recoverable amount of the TNE Mine using fair value less
costs to sell which is derived by using a discounted cash flow
(“DCF"”) analysis. The DCF analysis has incorporated
assumptions that a typical market participant would use in
estimating TNE Mine’s fair value. The DCF analysis uses cash
flow projection for a period of 14 years up to 2026 (2011: 12
years up to 2023) and the discount rate applied to the cash
flow projection is 18.91% (2011: 20.04%). In determining the
discount rate, the weighted average cost of capital was used,
which is determined with reference to the industry capital
structure based on the figures of similar publicly traded
companies in the stock exchanges of Hong Kong and the PRC
with mining projects. For the estimation of selling price and
growth rate, the local Mongolian economy, PRC economy and
the coal market are taken as reference.

Other key assumptions used in the calculation of fair value
less cost to sell of TNE Mine in respective financial year are
set out as follows:

(a) The estimated production volumes were based on the
mine plans agreed by the management which took into
account development plans for the TNE Mine as part
of the long-term planning process. Based on the mine
plans, revenue was mainly attributable to local sales in
Mongolia in the first three revenue-generating years
and to overseas sales, mainly in the PRC, thereafter.
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(b)

RREETI2E R ER 2 HIHER
B B-ARGELFEZER
FHERAEL2%  BEEBEMTL
RS ERERN - RENEE LR
WHRELFE  FTHEERDSER
BN mELFE2ME - Il
RigINTISHEE BE IR
B %\ Bl e E L FE = TR RIHE
BIREGER  SERFEE -

AEE A EIRRERETTEY
KRR -

AR 1T — IR TAE
REREAS  UEEEEBEREN
BE  WARHERES - BRAER
FARER - MERELNBEN
3,100 4,300F R/F 7 ° IRk
EHE - ARAEEREZEAS
TEHARMEME R - MASKBEERTE
BRI SRETE AN FRAER
RIERMHEE - ZEHRNWTESRE
WEERK - KREEDN2EMS
BRMERT - BIBBAEA2FHR
M A ERIEE - EREEBRRIE
F15/5.6% o

EERAREMNRTIZEMGAE
HEHBIRETE - KETNRESR
ERANAHEENAREF AR
B EMEERERERRIRR FH
M BB ERTEE36-37% °

ELHREKERRAT

Coal sales prices were determined with reference to
the market available information. The average
increment in sale prices for the first three revenue-
generating years was 12%, which was in line with the
comparable market information in Mongolia. The
average sale price in the fourth to seventh revenue-
generating years was expected to be double of that for
the first three revenue-generating years due to sales of
higher quality coal to overseas markets. Sales prices
since the eighth revenue-generating year were kept
constant throughout the remaining forecast periods.

The Group was able to renew and apply for extension
for its mining licences.

In current financial year, further drilling works and
laboratory tests had been done to determine coal layer
structure and thickness and to test the coal quality.
From the laboratory test results, the calorific value of
such samples was in the range of 3,100 to 4,300 Kcal/
kg. As at the reporting date, since the Group has not
been able to excavate coal with expected calorific value,
the Group had decided to revise the cash flow forecasts
to focus on the coal sales of lower calorific value which
has lower expected coal sales price per tonne. Coal
sales price is determined with reference to the market
information. The increment in coal sale price is on
average of 5.6% which is based on Australian export
price index over the past 22 years.

Cost of production and gross margin are determined
with reference to the market comparables. The
expected cost of production in the revised cash flow
forecasts increases compared to that in last year which
in turn reduces the overall profit margin to 36-37%
throughout the mining project life.

Mongolia Investment Group Limited
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HE_Z——F=A=+—HILLEE 5
FEETNERES 2 8 (MEE17) FREE R
TNERSEEFERAEZCEARR
1,997,000,000% 7t * € = R TNERES
2 ] E £ %81,697,000,00074 7T + &K
BB & 18300, 000,000 7T ° R EE 15
B 7o Ao AMUR 8 2 2 Bk E1E.35,000,000
TT + #BH 2 265,000,000/ 7T Al R 8
YR N wHE & E AT 20 BC AMUR TNEFTRF R
BiRz BE (BIREMR 2 REE
353,000,000 T ER B E

88,000,000/ 7T) ° £—B R FEIRIERE
B EBRAZT A TER BT EE N &
KBERRBEMBRERNED - &EX
TNERSGH BB A ER SR - SN LE
BIIBREELEE TR BEERER
RENRNEFAZTIEHRAMTIE

HE_Z——_F=A=+—HILFE &
PRFT AR S B 4 RIS TNERR S T RE1Z 1R
E%%ﬁE’Jﬁ%ufiﬁi—ifgfﬁiméﬁ
APRENHES - WEREBE —FEF
E%ﬁﬁ‘l’%ﬂ ! E§1lfﬁﬁ/ﬂb§%§/ﬂw‘:‘w/
REXREMNRROEE o WERERE
BT R R AFRE —HE - TNEIR
¥ 2 AW Bl & FITHE 2 T3 ° TNEES &
EFERMEA1,629,000,000E 7T © &
= A ] Y [El £ §8361,000,00078 7T+ i&
B R{E 518 11,268,000,0008 7T ° #ZR(E
SRR L] 73 B AMURU R B hE PR 2 AR I (B
1,646,000,000/8 7T R B %5 H % & &E < Ik
E{E34,000,0008 THEHBZE
412,000,000/ 7T °
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For the year ended 31 March 2011, the aggregate of the
carrying amount of goodwill (note 17) allocated to TNE Mine
and the carrying amount of the net assets of TNE Mine was
HK$1,997 million, which was higher than recoverable amount
of TNE Mine of HK$1,697 million, resulting in an impairment
loss of HK$300 million. The impairment loss was firstly
allocated to write down the carrying amount of the goodwill of
HK$35 million and the amount in excess of HK$265 million
was allocated to write down the value of the coal mining
licences held by TNE before being transferred out of
exploration and evaluation assets, which represented the
carrying value of the coal mining licences of HK$353 million
offsetting with the tax effect of HK$88 million. The impairment
loss in last financial year was primarily due to unforeseeable
technical causes and the required time for water management
program was longer than expected, resulting in the delay in
the overall production schedule of the TNE Mine. Coupled
with certain subsequent change in market condition, the
management resolved to concentrate on local market in the
early years of production.

For the year ended 31 March 2012, with the new sampling
results that the TNE Mine was unable to excavate coal of higher
quality to substantiate sales formulated in last year’s cash flow
projection, the management further revises its business plan
to focus on sales with lower coal quality throughout the cash
flow projection. This key factor has resulted in further
downward adjustment on the estimated net cash inflows and
hence the recoverable amount of the TNE Mine. The carrying
amount of the net assets of TNE Mine was HK$1,629 million,
which was higher than the recoverable amount of HK$361
million, resulting in an impairment loss of HK$1,268 million.
The impairment loss is allocated to write down the carrying
amount of the mining licenses and the mine development
assets on pro-rate basis which amounted to HK$1,646 million
and HK$34 million respectively, offsetting with the tax effect
of HK$412 million.
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19. R RAEEE 19. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION
ASSETS

r5E
The Group
4 i &t

Licences Others Total

ZB--f %% Z%--f 5% ZB-Zf “T-—-f
2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011
T&r TEr Bz  TEr  TAr  TEn

HK$'000  HK$000 HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$000

BNEEFE Opening net carrying amount 5,741 - 22,398 - 28,139 -
BRERAHUE Acquisition through
(i5£33) business combination (note 33) - 2,406,201 = 23,230 - 2429431
RE Additions 625 757 2,493 11,893 3,118 12,650
FiE (318 Impairment (note 18) - (353,399) - - - (353,399)
BRZEREE/ Transfer to mining
nE - BELRE licences/property, plant
S8 (M 14R18) and equipment (notes 14 and 18) - (2,259,371) - (1519 - (2,274,562)
EHAE Exchange realignment (556) 211,553 (2,440) 2466 (2,996) 214,019
BRREFE Closing net cartying amount 5,810 5741 22,451 22398 28,261 28,139
(i) RZE——F=A=+—HAEK=Z (i) Licences as at 31 March 2012 and 31 March 2011
——HF=A=+—H ' EREIE represent the cost of obtaining/acquiring exploration
JUESETREAES  ARER licences to certain area in Mongolia with gold, copper

BEcaTEREZEBRBRRBRHX and coal deposit. The exploration licences which are

7 o Camex LLC K Kores# A& 2 & held by Camex LLC and Kores comprise of the

FERBBETYISIE followings:

. MERxRAE TURES . Four exploration licences in respect of gold and
Gobi-Altai & Zavkhan (% Bl copper deposits located in certain areas of Gobi-
BEWM44, 0160 HEK Altai and Zavkhan, Mongolia covering
15517 E) B ES kil approximately 44,016 hectares and 15,517
BAEE2HEZBER hectares respectively; and
EENS

. —THERUNREGTHR . Three exploration licences in respect of a coal
DundGobiBEZmE & mine located in DundGobi, Mongolia covering
14,087 QB 2 BE 2 B 5 an area of 14,087 hectares in aggregate.

FEER o
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19. BERFEEE o0

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

AR

(&
BRER-_ZTNFRA 2R EERE
BEE - PR 2 BRE RS R
=F  BWRERSBEAEERE
BHMR > BR=%F -

HAih = 26 EME NI IR Y IR
rER SERFRBTIRELZ
A - B REBRTIEELEZK
R BRIBFHE KA TR ST EF A
TREEZRA - ARITEREE
EE L BEESE T -

RZE——F=ZA=+—HR=Z
—— &= A=+—BZHENTE
BESBIEETP 2 HIRER - &

BRELBRE -
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19. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION
ASSETS (Continued)

The Grou P (Continued)

()

(ii)

(iii)

(Continued)

Pursuant to the Mineral Law of Mongolia which was
adopted in 2006, exploration licence is granted for an
initial period of three years and holder of an exploration
licence may apply for an extension of such licence for
two successive periods of three years each.

Others mainly comprise geological and geophysical
costs, costs incurred for drilling, trenching and
excavation works, costs incurred for sampling and
laboratory works, costs incurred for evaluation such
as environment assessment and feasibility study, as
well as depreciation and labour costs directly
attributable to the exploration activities.

The amounts of exploration and evaluation assets as
at 31 March 2012 and 31 March 2011 represent active
exploration projects. Based on the assessment of the
Directors, there are no indications of impairment
regarding the respective projects.
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20. ANRIERRE

BTSSR BB E I TR
FIsffmAHtER N ZZE - R_F—
“F=RA=1+—H BHEEMAEIFA
W ED 2 & TR RREENR - At HE
FIRfiT 2 R M AR TR - EERA - BIE
MHERTERALRRER  RARR
SERAFRFEZERE -

21. 78

20. PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS

This represents deposits paid to a supplier for technical know-
how which was to be used in a processing plant for smokeless
fuel product. As at 31 March 2012, certain conditions as set
forth in the licence agreement signed with the supplier had
not yet been fulfilled and accordingly, the transfer of the
technical know-how was not yet completed. The Directors are
of the opinion that the smokeless fuel product will not be
implemented in the foreseeable future and therefore the related
deposits has been fully impaired in the current financial year.

21. INVENTORIES
wEE
The Group
—E-=fF —T——F
2012 2011
FHET T T
HK$’000 HK$’000
BATE Rt — R KA Raw materials and supplies — at cost 59,649 58,976
B T E MU Less: Write-down of inventories (6,310) —
53,339 58,976
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22. T RKIRBEYN 22. CIVIL ENGINEERING CONTRACTS
AEE
The Group
—E-—F —E——%F
2012 2011
FET T T
HK$’000 HK$'000
S PTESE Z RN Costs incurred to date plus
2R recognised profits 4,089,488 3,185,903
B eSS ZEEFIE Less: Progress billings to date (3,862,172) (2,947,779)
227,316 238,124
JEWERFANTIERE Amounts due from customers of
contract works 227,316 238,124
ETIARIBEHNZHBRIEEEATIR The proceeds on certain civil engineering contracts have been
17 E— S BERE27() ° pledged to banks as further detailed in note 27(a).
23. EZ R HMEWIE - 23. TRADE AND OTHER
ENRERES RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS

AND DEPOSITS

AEH

The Group
—E-—C=F —T——F
2012 2011
FTEx FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 WA (Mt (a) Trade receivables (note (a)) 53,597 14,772
JEUUR B 5138 (ME5E (b)) Retention receivables (note (b)) 15,378 31,851
FEfT A E A (i 7£15) Prepaid land lease payments (note 15) 210 234
ENRERZS Prepayments and deposits 22,689 19,775
H fth fE UG FRIE (T 5E(c)) Other receivables (note (c)) 10,243 33,834
102,117 100,466
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23. EZ R HMWEWIE -
ARFERES @

MaE

(@ RERAPREREZAHNESE
WRIRZ BRI DT

23. TRADE AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS
AND DEPOS'TS (Continued)

Notes:

(a) The ageing analysis of trade receivables (based on invoice
date) as at the end of the reporting date is as follows:

REH

The Group
—E—=F —T——%F
2012 2011
THET T
HK$’000 HK$'000
=BARN Within 3 months 53,597 14,769
—F Lk Over 1 year = 3
53,597 14,772

BRTAHIREP ZEEHBERI0
E60H - AN TRREHELEREN
R BTHAEBEPZERERBE
/308 °

R 23 B HREE 5 2 R 3R
RAPTRIENE 5 BURIR Z Rk D

Credit period granted to customers of contract works is
normally 30 to 60 days. Application for progress payments of
contract works is made on a regular basis. Credit period
granted to customers of water supply business is normally
30 days.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables that are neither
individually nor collectively considered to be impaired as at

W - the end of each reporting date is as follows:
REE
The Group
—E——F —ET——%F
2012 2011
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
BEaEE AR E Neither past due nor impaired 53,597 14,769
B E1F LA Past due over 1 year but not
B R BRE considered impaired — 3
53,597 14,772
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GEE

REHRAHANE ZRUIGRIREERE
REIATIEGONFREREETIE
RS o HEEER P BRI, #
BRELZLE ZERPEAEER
SWEARL - WEABRNRLE -
At - ERERRBAR T ——F
ZA=Z+—RZEZRRFREHR
BRE AKRBVERZSEHRITE
EAEAm -

AETIARIRANZAEREDEM
TIRTT - E— FRBENMEE27() °

EHTREFPEHZRESRIERSE
Mz REMERENHBIBEEBE
HREZIGH AT - RERBH - &
£6,884,0008 L (ZT——%F :
5,372,000 7T) & B e 7 — SF S BA
N HERAE 28,494,000/ T (ZF —
—%F : 26,479,000/ 7T) BRI R —
LAL - E 9,000/ T E i HliEE B — 4
(ZZ——% : 108,000/% T8 B2 8
—F) - RBSETERBIRBUTIHF,
BERERLCRTIR ZREEPEAR
SERXFONFEERY - WEERNK
sk o Fitt - EEERRBARK
T——F=ZA=1—BArEYEIRER
BELBERE - AREAUBERLF
BHBFEERNERR R-T——F
=R=+—RH  RE£%9,252,000%
7T (ZZE——% : 3,672,000/ 7T) T8 &
1SR — AR YR -

R-_E——F=ZA=+—HBHmHMtE
WREFEEYNTFTEESLBEMNE
MR AEBRZESBDHEEYR
HEBREFR  MESHERNAEER
HOBRY - WEERLH - Bt -
BARZEERIELRERE -
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Notes: (Continued)

(a)

(Continued)

Trade receivables as at the reporting date mainly derived from
provision of maintenance and construction works on civil
engineering contracts. The related customers are mainly
government departments/organisations and reputable
corporations. These customers have established good track
record with the Group and have no history of default payments.
On this basis, the management believes that no impairment
allowance is necessary in respect of the trade receivables as
at 31 March 2012. The Group does not hold any collateral
over these balances.

The proceeds on certain civil engineering contracts have been
pledged to banks as further detailed in note 27(a).

Retention monies withheld by customers of contract works
are released after the completion of maintenance period of
the relevant contract or in accordance with the terms specified
in the relevant contract. As at the reporting date, retention
monies of HK$6,884,000 (2011: HK$5,372,000) was aged
one year or below and the remaining balance of
HK$8,494,000 (2011: HK$26,479,000) was aged over one
year, of which HK$9,000 was past due for over one year
(2011: HK$108,000 was past due for over one year).
Retention monies are mainly due from government
departments/organisations and reputable corporations. These
customers have established good track record with the Group
and have no history of default payments. On this basis,
management believes that no impairment allowance is
necessary in respect of the retention receivables as at 31
March 2012. The Group does not hold any collateral over
these balances. As at 31 March 2012, retention monies of
approximately HK$9,252,000 (2011: HK$3,672,000) are
expected to be recovered more than one year.

Other receivables as at 31 March 2012 mainly comprise the
advance payments to the principal sub-contractors. The
Group has established long business relationship with these
sub-contractors which provide on-going sub-contracting
services to the Group and have no history of default payments.
Accordingly, impairment allowance is not necessary in respect
of these balances.
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23. EZ R HAMEWRKIE - 23. TRADE AND OTHER

ARNFERES @

B

(d)

(&)

BEERR B RAEMEERFEA(TE
MR E FR) 2 REEEEARE
HE RARSEHRAELFFHR

SR

RITE-——F=A=+—HHERR
BRIR 2 A R BfF 514,676,000
T (ZF——% : 31,576,000% 7T) °
AREDREZTALREMTAZ
TSR ERFRRZRERETE °

24, CHEARITER

FREE TIRITER
(FFE27(a)) &
B #)RE (P 7E36)
WEt ARENEE 2 IRITHFR

RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS
AND DEPOS'TS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(d) The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and
other receivables excluding retention receivables approximate
their fair values because these balances have short maturity
period on inception.

The fair value of the retention receivables as at 31 March
2012 was estimated to be HK$14,676,000 (2011:
HK$31,576,000). The fair value is determined based on cash
flow discounted at market interest rates of comparable
financial instruments.

24. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

rEE
The Group
—_Eg2—_=F

—E——4F
2012 2011
FER FHET

HK$’000 HK$'000

Bank deposits pledged against certain
bank loans (note 27(a)) and
performance bonds (note 36)
included under current assets

24,417 32,501

EIRMRITEREABTIIE - WIRETE
FEFKOOSEEQ29E (—FT——4 :
0.01E=0.112) WAL - FHA=@
ACZZ—&% WMEA I -EFER
A ARZERTERAEHER - Bt
BEZEMERAREES -

132

Pledged bank deposits are all denominated in HK$, earn
interest at fixed rate ranged from 0.05% to 0.29% (2011:
0.01% to 0.11%) per annum and have maturity period of three
months (2011: two months) on average. The Directors consider
that the carrying amounts of these bank deposits approximate
their fair values because of their short maturity period on
inception.

EHREEEAER2AT | Mongolia Investment Group Limited
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25. RITHEERRE

25. CASH AT BANKS AND IN HAND

AEH

The Group
—B-=f —E——f
2012 2011
FHET FHE T
HK$’000 HK$'000
RITEFERRS Cash at banks and in hand 303,715 244 827
RHERITIE Short-term bank deposits 7,285 45,839
311,000 290,666

A FE]
The Company
—E——F —T——fF

2012 2011
FTET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000

RITH/EERAS

Cash at banks and in hand 136 126

R-ZZTE——FZA=Z+—H8 " UARE
(TAR®DIENAEER &SRR
7,565,000/ 7T (ZZ——4 : 7,221,000
BIL) c ARETRAIEHABRAEME
e o AR IR R B At 8O SN B I A1 DA R A
fE - SERMNESEERTE  AEERES
BAEEETINEEBORITARE R
BINE o SRITRFIRE RRITIERFIRT
B2 2R KBRS -

—Z——FF% | Annual Report 2012

As at 31 March 2012, cash balance of the Group denominated
in Renminbi (“RMB”) amounted to HK$7,565,000 (2011:
HK$7,221,000). RMB is not freely convertible into other
currencies. Under the Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sales
and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for foreign currencies through
banks that are authorised to conduct foreign exchange
business. Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based
on daily bank deposit rates.
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26. E5 R HEHMENFIR

BHREMENKBAFE (BERERA
HzBHRNRBZREDH) BT :

26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Details of the trade and other payables including the ageing
analysis of trade payables (based on invoice date) are as follow:

AEER
The Group
—_E—_F

—E——%F
2012 2011
FERT TAET
HK$’000 HK$'000

5 EMNIBREKR Trade payables aged
=@®AR Within 3 months 61,273 53,980
M=z EA 4 to 6 months 2,333 4,532
tZENE A 7 to 9 months 75 908
+=+=@A 10 to 12 months 119 78
—F Over 1 year 2,206 1,740
66,006 61,238
FEHR B8 5B (B 5k (a)) Retention payables (note (a)) 16,037 3,911
HibFEN FRIB KR EETE M Other payables and accruals 16,123 10,380
98,166 75,529

B &E Notes:

(a)

(b)

(c)

134

AEBBHZREERBBANZRE
BHARRIN - REWRAH - RE
©12,126,0008 L (Z T ——%F :
3,111,000 7T) Z Rk B —F KA
T H#RAEER3,911,0008 T (& —
—%F : 800,000/ 7T) Z Bk /5 —F A
E o EPHERACBH (2T ——
F:HEFRDAY) -

HEBRDEHETEEHNRER
30260H -

HRESREMBENFRTBREY
RAEZRR  E5REMENFKIEA
ZHREEEREZ ARERE °

(a)

(b)

(c)

Retention monies withheld by the Group are released after
the completion of maintenance period of the relevant
contracts. As at the reporting date, retention monies of
HK$12,126,000 (2011: HK$3,111,000) was aged one year
or below and the remaining balance of HK$3,911,000 (2011:
HK$800,000) was aged over one year, of which none was
past due (2011: none was past due).

Credit period granted by suppliers and sub-contractors is
normally 30 to 60 days.

Trade and other payables are short term and therefore the
Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other
payables approximate their fair values.

EHREEEAER2AT | Mongolia Investment Group Limited
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27. B & 27. BORROWINGS
REH
The Group
—E-—F —F—%F
2012 2011
FHET T T
HK$’000 HK$'000
RBEE Current liabilities
RITETRFES - I Bank loans and overdraft, secured
(Mt5E(a) (note (a)) 83,018 137,645
pEAEEE (MEDb) Finance lease liabilities (note (b)) 13 359
83,031 138,004
ERBERE Non-current liabilities
RtEMEEE (b)) Finance lease liabilities (note (b)) = 13
A EE (M sE(e) Promissory Note (note (c)) 308,076 309,472
]mRER - 8EFH Convertible Note — liability component
(Bt 3E(d) (note (d)) 455,394 502,120
763,470 811,605
EEHEE Total borrowings 846,501 949,609

KA F]
The Company
—E-—F —F—%F
2012 2011
FTHExT FHIT
HK$’000 HK$’000
FREBEE Non-current liabilities
3 E2ER (F5E(c)) Promissory Note (note (c)) 308,076 309,472
A]mRER-8EFH Convertible Note — liability component
(BFF&E(d)) (note (d)) 455,394 502,120
EEHEE Total borrowings 763,470 811,592

—ZE— %% | Annual Report 2012 ].35
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27. B E& =

27. BORROWINGS (continuea)

B EE Notes:

(a) AERITERRBEIHER —FRE (a) All bank loans and overdrafts are repayable within one year.
iE o RITE KR IE 83,018,000/ 7T Bank loans and overdrafts amounting to HK$83,018,000
(ZZ——4 : 137,645,000/ 7T) B A (2011: HK$137,645,000) are secured by the corporate
NEBE R EERERT - AR guarantees issued by the Company and are secured by
SRIT1EF24,417,0008 L (ZF—— charges over bank deposits amounting to HK$24,417,000
F : 32,501,000/ 7T) 2 AL EHR (2011: HK$32,501,000) (note 24). In additions, bank loans
(M sE24) - o - RITE R amounting to HK$78,018,000 (2011: HK$120,642,000) is
78,018,000 L (ZF — —4F : secured by the proceeds on certain civil engineering contracts.
120,642,000 70) BE TEARIRE
K2 TS ARIBVER R -

(b) AEEHEETRE  MRSHER (b) The Group leases certain of its motor vehicles and these leases

BAREMRE  FSEMA—EA (=
T——F: +E+=@A) R=F
——F=ZA=t+—H ®MEMEE®ET
ZARREESBLBRERENT :

are classified as finance leases having remaining lease terms
one month (2011: twelve to thirteen months). As at 31 March
2012, the total future minimum lease payments under finance
leases and their present value were as follows:

AR
The Group
—E—_—F

—ET——%F
2012 2011
FHxT FiBT

HK$’000 HK$'000

wIEHE 8% Total minimum lease payments
7 — 4 A El B Due within one year 13 371
& = F F 5 Due in the second year = 13
13 384
B RmERE Less: future finance charges
R ER on finance leases = (12)
RmEHEaBERE Present value of finance lease liabilities 13 372
MEHEABECRE Present value of finance lease liabilities
R—FRE Due within one year 13 359
8 = 4F EI 8 Due in the second year = 13
13 372

W FIAREIBEMm Less: Current portion due within one year
R—FANEHZ included under current liabilities
MENERD (13) (359)

FIASERBEEZ
FERE DD

Non-current portion included under
non-current liabilities - 13

MEMEABEER EHAMEEFE
- RERMAREREWIER -
HEEEZEFBERTHEA -

Finance lease liabilities are effectively secured by the
underlying assets as the rights to the leased asset would be
reverted to the lessor in the event of default by repayment by
the Group.
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27. B E

M ()

MK AR - (e RS S 2 315 (c)
RE ARABBETALEAR
350,000,000 7T 2 # 7 ZiF o A5 E
BAEER T ERERZEY
BITEMRERENTE =T —
—FXAt+EtB - RZ-ZZTE—=—F=A
“+tNAB(ERBH])  AXEHEE
ERE-Z—=#xA++tH - &
R-Z——&#XA+NAB AREHE
BEARTAER —SERE_T—
=FEAA++H-

(c)

27. BORROWINGS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

As disclosed in note 1, as part of the consideration for the
Acquisition, the Company issued a Promissory Note in
principal amount of HK$350,000,000. The Promissory Note
is unsecured, non-interest bearing and will mature in two years
from the date of issue of the Promissory Note on 17 June
2012. On 28 March 2012 (the “Extension Date”), the
Promissory Note was extended to 17 June 2013. Subsequently
on 19 June 2012, the holder of the Promissory Note indicated
that it might be further extended to 17 September 2013.

—_E—_5F
2012
THET
HK$’000

—T——%F
2011

TET
HK$'000

HIVIBRESFE, ¥ Opening net carrying amount/Fair value

BREZARE on initial recognition (note (i))

(PR 3 () 309,472 285,614
EREEZ W

(PG Gain arising from extension (note (ii)) (34,497) -
FESEF B RAX

(B £ Gii)) Imputed interest expenses (note (iii)) 33,101 23,858
HRERE R E Closing net carrying amount 308,076 309,472

B 5 - Notes:

(i) R EEIE B RIE R A #
REBZA2ARED B
285,614,000 it &
307,810,000/ 7T+ Z BER
ERBEEAEMEENE
BEEARAR ([EEFER
B ERMRREREEETT
2 EEE

(i)

WIER B AL RER 2 REE
#$342,307,000% 7T - RIEK
PEHREEREAAEZRNE
¥ /34,497,0008 7T + ERE
A R M 25 TR AR IE AL
RiREL 2 Wk (HFES) -

(ii) (i)

—Z2—_FF%H | Annual Report 2012

The fair value of the Promissory Note on the
Acquisition Date and Extension Date were
HK$285,614,000 and HK$307,810,000 respectively,
which were determined based on the valuation using
discounted cash flows method carried out by Asset
Appraisal Limited (“Asset Appraisal”), an
independent professional valuer.

The carrying value of the Promissory Note as at the
Extension Date was HK$342,307,000. The difference
between the carrying value and fair value as at the
Extension Date which amounted to HK$34,497,000
which was recognised in Other Income and Gains as
gain arising from extension of the Promissory Note

- 137
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BsE - (8

(c)

(#)

(iy FAREBEERAERFIEE
BB EFIE10.70% (U dE A
B1%) & 11.12% (GE K B H#i1%)
R AT E o BRI B4
33,101,000/ T (=& ——
£ : 23,858,000/ 7T) (Hi7£8)
ERAFEZIB=ER -

AAPMRE 1PN EE - fERUIE =R Z 800
KE ARXFREBTEASER
954,100,000 T2 ERE A HBKRE
B ZEBERARRRERET R R
SAEFARIE T -—RFRAT
+B -

BABMEZEEFAEA ([REFEALD
ZEERE  AUBRERERRETASE
EHIHB IR REFE AR
FR0.228 Tz HAAE (A T R#EH
B) B ABRERA SR 2 KE DR
BABARA 2RO (TRBRREG]) - 7]
BREEXRDHAMNAITER - AR
AERBAIBEREZHRLBRERE
ZHHABERAF ([ERME]) -

MR ERRWEERARZARE
HfR - ©FE/R948,237,000/ 7T © A A
BEYHEENEBRRETZGEE
E o AR EE e = EERED —
BEED - A GIHEITRERER
BRERREE) REHETCRBEZITE
TEG (FTETABM]) -

R RE 2 BB D 2 RAERA
[ S5 FF T 48 i 5 25 2 [F) 5 7 45 1) 26 A
REeERERRNEFE - #aEmE 0 R
TETABN 2 AR EREHEEN
BEEBKRE R GEREET 2
BETE -

ELHREKERRAT

Notes: (Continued)

(c)

(Continued)

(iii) The Promissory Note is subsequently measured at
amortised cost using effective interest method by
applying an effective interest rate of 10.70% per
annum after the Acquisition Date and 11.12% after
the Extension Date. Imputed interest of approximately
HK$33,101,000 (2011: HK$23,858,000) (note 8)
was recognised in the profit or loss in the current
year.

As disclosed in note 1, as part of the consideration for the
Acquisition, the Company issued a zero coupon Convertible
Note in principal amount of HK$954,100,000 which will
mature in five years from the date of issue of the Convertible
Note on 17 June 2015.

At the option of the holder of the Convertible Note (the
“Noteholder”), the Noteholder may convert the whole or part
of the principal amount of the Convertible Note into the shares
of the Company (the “Conversion Shares”) at the conversion
price of HK$0.22 per share (subject to anti-dilutive
adjustments) during the period from the date of issue of the
Convertible Note up to its maturity date. The Convertible Note
is non-redeemable prior to the maturity date. The Company
has the right (the “Extension Option”) to extend the maturity
date in respect of the outstanding amount of the Convertible
Note for another five years.

The Convertible Note was stated at fair value on the
Acquisition Date which amounted to HK$948,237,000. The
fair value was determined based on the valuation carried out
by Asset Appraisal. The Convertible Note contains three
components — liability component, equity component
(presented as “Convertible note equity reserve”) and the
derivative component arising from the Extension Option (the
“Derivative Component”).

The fair value of the liability component of the Convertible
Note was calculated using cash flows discounted at a rate
based on an equivalent market interest rate for an equivalent
non-convertible bond. The fair value of the equity component
and the Derivative Component were determined based on the
valuation carried out by Asset Appraisal by using binomial
valuation model.

Mongolia Investment Group Limited
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27. BB @)

Mist : (&)

(d) (%)

REBARRARER Z IR
BEERD - BmA ROTET AR
DZEREENT

27. BORROWINGS (continuea)

Notes: (Continued)

(d) (Continued)

The carrying values of the liability component, the equity
component and the Derivative Component of the Convertible
Note recognised in the statement of financial position are as
follows:

&SR BE DM FETEHG
Liability Equity Derivative
component component Component
“Z--f “T——4% ZB--f “FT——%F ZB--fF “T——F
2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011
TR THET TR THT Tz THL
HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
REE Carrying amounts
F1 At beginning of the year 502,120 - 434,124 - (80,342 -
RS HERE 2 Fair value on initial recognition
A - 519,945 - 494 565 - (66,273)
ESHERT Imputed interest expenses
(Bi5EG)) (note (i) 52,793 49,580 = - = -
RBTBRRRE Conversion of
(CiEA(D) Convertible Note (note (ii)) (99,519) (67,405)  (85,529) (60,441) 15,828 8,752
REREPERLZ Change in fair value
DREEEH recognised in profit or loss
(B3 (i) (note (iii) - - - - 780 (22,821)
FX At end of the year 455,394 502,120 348,595 434,124 (63,734) (80,342)
P &E Notes:
(i) BEBPHEELFERAERFIEE (i) The liability component is subsequently measured at

R AT E - FIERACE
BEMEHI291%(—F——
F:1291%) - EHAERAL
#752,793,0008 5 (Z T ——
£ : 49,580,000 7T) (Hi5E8)
ERAFERIBEER -

A 750,000,0008% (= ZF—
—4 : 530,000,000%) 5. #2 %
MR R4 165,000,000
T (ZF——% : 116,600,000
BT 2 TR RIRRE 1T (B
BH M FE30(d)) » RHAER
i AHARRERERREE 07
AT ARG RAEN D ZRE
Bz HIE R =R A R IR E
BER  (EREBITIROMER
I8 o

(ii)

—Z——FF% | Annual Report 2012

amortised cost using effective interest method by
applying an effective interest rate of 12.91% (2011:
12.91%) per annum. Imputed interest expense of
approximately HK$52,793,000 (2011:
HK$49,580,000) (note 8) was recognised in profit or
loss in the current year.
(i) During the year, 750,000,000 (2011: 530,000,000)
Conversion Shares were issued upon conversion of
the Convertible Note in total amount of
HK$165,000,000 (2011: HK$116,600,000) as
detailed in note 30 (d). At the time of conversion, the
proportional amounts of the convertible note equity
reserve, the Derivative Component and the carrying
value of the liability component were transferred to
share capital and share premium as proceeds for the

shares issued.
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27. B E »
MisE : (48)
(d) (#&)

(i) PTAETABNOEAAENE -
[IRAPR=P4- Dk = E
R STETABOREGS M5
MRARIIRBITEMEEE -
BEEABIBEMABEFERS
I o

AMEREITAETASN 2R
AEHRA AN GERIL
B oXEHABEOT

I8 Stock price
I8 (E Exercise price
it Volatility

1 [ B ) 2 Risk free rate

27. BORROWINGS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(d)

(Continued)

(iii)

The Derivative Component is measured at fair value
with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
The Derivative Component is carried as derivative
financial asset in the consolidated statement of
financial position until extinguished on conversion or
redemption.

The fair value of the Derivative Component of the
Convertible Note was calculated using binomial
valuation model with the major inputs as follows:

—E——%F

=A=+-—H Ef=—E
31 March 31 March
2012 2011

0.043 0.082

0.220 0.220
48.22% 56.36%
0.349% 1.670%

AR ZEAGEREFRAS
EEHEZRE - THEHA
HREBRZEDAEHANE
HETBREATLE - BAET
ARRER 2 F BRI RGN
ZE—HHBERRANT A
BT —TFRA+-HZB

(iv) R-—ZT——F=A=+—8 "
AMRERAERHZARE
449,095,000 T (ZF ——
£ 1 521,460,000/87T) ° A A
BERAEUFETRRERZ
RAEHHEMNE13.4% (=T ——
F:11.9%) LIRS REMR A
ERTHE o

140

(iv)

As the binomial valuation model requires the input of
highly subjective assumptions, change in subjective
input assumptions can materially affect the fair value
estimate. Further details of the principal terms and
conditions regarding the issue of the Convertible Note
have been set out in the circular of the Company
dated 12 May 2010.

The fair value of the liability component of the
Convertible Note at 31 March 2012 amounted to
HK$449,095,000 (2011: HK$521,460,000). The fair
value is calculated using cash flows discounted at a
rate based on an equivalent market interest rate for the
similar non-convertible note, which is 13.4% (2011:
11.9%).

EHREEEAER2AT | Mongolia Investment Group Limited
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27. fEE @ 27. BORROWINGS (continued)
MisE - (&) Notes: (Continued)
(e) BHRBEZHMER (e) Other information about the borrowings:

REFRAANERFF =
Effective interest rate per annum at reporting date
—E-—C—fF —T——fF
2012 2011
REE B EFIR El 7 Fll = FEDFI & 7 A1 &
Original Floating Fixed Floating Fixed
currency rates rates rates rates
WITERRBEX BT
Bank loans and overdraft HK$ 2.65%-3.22% - 1.72%-281% -
MmEAEEE BT
Finance lease liabilities HK$ - 3.75% - 2.80%-3.75%
EERA  AEBEZRBRIETREDE In the opinion of the Directors, the carrying amounts of the
EvEEOBEHEALRERTEZAR Group’s current and non-current borrowings approximate their
BRE - ERBEEZARBEIHRIE fair values of comparable financial instruments. The fair values
FEHRRBAEREEMBIERFTH - of the non-current borrowings are calculated by discounting
their expected future cash flow at market rate.
(f) R-ZT——F=F=+—H x&£H (f) As at 31 March 2012, the Group had available bank facilities
Z Al B)FARITREE FE A211,200,0007 of HK$211,200,000 (2011: HK$188,202,000), out of which
JT(ZZ——4% : 188,202,000/ 7T) ° HK$128,167,000 (2011: HK$50,557,000) was not utilised.

H 128,167,000 7T (ZE——4F
50,557,000 7T) S & B A -

28. BT 28. GOVERNMENT SUBSIDIES
—RREER T HBATES S BT A subsidiary in Mongolia received subsidies from the
HaL o BA AR S EE R R A R TR government of Mongolia for financing the establishment of a
MBS o mFPMIAE R ITRE R B TR processing plant for smokeless fuel product. Since the
TIEARKR AR EBRTEE) - W W investment cost for constructing the processing plant as well
ERALAIERHaRE - BENITRYE— as the related government subsidies are still subject to
S E AT EE34(b) © negotiation with the government, the received subsidies are

recognised as non-current liabilities. Further details about the
processing plant are set out in note 34(b).

—ZE— %% | Annual Report 2012 ]-41
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29.

142

iR FE B 18 29. DEFERRED TAX
AR MR EEHIBEAaER Deferred tax liabilities recognised in the consolidated statement
HERERZSBMT - of financial position and their movements during year are as
follows:
AEE The Group
BARTHEEUR
REER2ANERE
Fair value adjustments on
MEFERE exploration and evaluation Bt
Accelerated tax depreciation assets and mining licences Total
Z§-2f “T-F  Z®-If tg-f
2012 211 2012 2012
Thn ThL TiEx 7 TiEx
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RER) At beginning of the year 5,684 5,684 594,292 - 599,976 5,084
REBAHES (W33 Arising from business combination (nofe 33) - - - 600,637 = 600,637
RERAEA () Credit to profit or loss (note 9) - - (411,521) (88350)  (411,521) (88,350)
Eif% Exchange realignment 43 - (47,238) 82,005 (47,195) 82,005
REXR At end of the year 5727 5,684 135,533 594292 141,260 599976

RRER KR HESEERAETS
BARRERTUE AN ] B EEIEER - At
AEBELRAREBELE ZHIARIEL
4,908,000 7T (= F ——4 : 184,0007%
TO) RELERIREE © RBRTHE
ZEREBR TSR - [ - ARARE
EAREETRR > ARETERN KRG E
EA Z IR E1E479,915,000/8 T (FHER
1,678,000,000@ 18 £52) (ZT——4F :
10,930,000/ 7T (#2 & #*1,675,000,000
RER)) BRBEERAEE - RREBIA
ELEZBBEBEEFEHHBEEAGE R
ERBREHBEEMEHIAMER RS
o REREEARZREERERNE
BEARNENFAZERTHEASH
o BEEXER BREEHEARS
BB EEEZERNEREEETAE
ZIRERETE -

The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect
of tax losses arising in Hong Kong of approximately
HK$4,908,000 (2011: HK$184,000) as it is not probable that
future taxable profits against which the losses can be utilised
will be available in the relevant group entities in foreseeable
future and these tax losses do not expire under current tax
legislation. In addition, the Group has not recognised deferred
tax assets in respect of tax losses arising in Mongolia of
approximately HK$9,915,000 (equivalent to MNT1,678,000,000)
(2011: HK$10,930,000 (equivalent to MNT1,675,000,000))
due to unpredictability of future profit streams. The tax losses
arising in Mongolia is subject to the agreement of the local tax
authority and shall be carried forward according to the relevant
provisions of Corporate Income Tax Law of Mongolia under
which the tax statement losses of Infrastructure and Mining
companies shall be deductible from taxable income of
subsequent four to eight years since the loss incurred. The
loss carry-forward period of a particular mining entity shall be
determined by the Mongolian government after taking into
consideration the investment made by the entity in its mining
operation.
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30. g2 30. SHARE CAPITAL
EBEREE
[EfE] Number of ot
Par value ordinary shares Total
BT BT
HK$ HK$'000
EE Authorised
R-E—ZFMA—H At 1 April 2010 0.05 2,000,000,000 100,000
#n (K5t (a) Increase (note (a)) 0.05 48,000,000,000 2,400,000
W-ZE-——%=H=+-H At 31 March 2011 and 31 March 2012
K=—E--f=RA=+-H 0.05 50,000,000,000 2,500,000
BRETRAR Issued and fully paid
R-E—ZTFMA—H At 1 April 2010 0.05 825,880,000 41,294
RITEBREMET 2/, Share issued upon exercise of share options 0.05 2,100,000 105
BEEEZ4T 2 RMh (B EE(b))  Shares issued under placing (note (b)) 0.05 3,800,000,000 190,000
BIARERD (M) Issue of Consideration Shares (note (c)) 0.05 1,970,000,000 98,500
HATRREE () Conversion of Convertible Note (note (d)) 0.05 530,000,000 26,500

i——¢ A=+—H  At31 March 2011 and

“E——FpA—H 1 April 2011 0.05 7,127,980,000 356,399
*EB%@EE% T2 1817 (BH5E(b))  Shares issued under placing (note (b)) 0.05 1,320,000,000 66,000
RBARRERE (M) Conversion of Convertible Note (note (d)) 0.05 750,000,000 37,500
R-B--—F=ZH=1+-H At 31 March 2012 0.05 9,197,980,000 459,899

—Z——FF% | Annual Report 2012 ]-43
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GER

(a)

(b)

BER-_Z—ZFHA-T/\BBBE
ZREBR  ARABBEBRBEINER
48,000,000,000% 3 A% 19 1§ E % T ik
B 100,000,000%& T (9 &
2,000,000,000% & ix I f50.05/% 7T <
f& 7)1 % 2,500,000,000% 7t (5 /&
50,000,000,0000% & % E £0.057% 7T
ZRAD) °

RZZE-ZFXA+EA - ERUE
FHZED—BGN  AEETEKER
F[%0.12/% 7L Bt & 3,800,000,000 % 7
AEF A ((EBEEEL]) - BEEE
1EE A 2 PR 15 3R 73456,000,0007% 7T
(R #01BR B 7 3 17 7 < 4,560,0007%8
7o) ° B RIERE N REEE
ZHRERE - RIBEEFRIZTRN
CRIESHRR D BITH) D RIS AR A
Z B e B 40 i 8 AR 4 91190,000,000
78 7T % 266,000,000/ 7T ©

RZZE——FOA+=R " AEER
BKEREBKROO.067 % T E
1,320,000,000/% A< 2~ BT AR 1 ([ER &
BI1H2]) - KEFH2EL ZFSHUR
7388,440,00078 7T CRHIRR B 17 8 7751
521,776,000/ 7T) ° {RIEALEFIH2E
TR CREBER D BEITR) H81%
AR A Z A R B D B Bk 1 0
66,000,000/ 7t }& 22,440,000/ 7T °
PRSI FRBRAERNEE —REE

ELHREKERRAT

Notes:

(b)

Pursuant to a resolution passed on 28 May 2010, the
authorised share capital of the Company has increased from
HK$100,000,000 divided into 2,000,000,000 shares of
HK$0.05 each to HK$2,500,000,000 divided into
50,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.05 each by the creation of
an additional 48,000,000,000 new shares.

On 17 June 2010, as one of the conditions to the Acquisition,
the Group completed a placing (the “Placing 1") of
3,800,000,000 new shares of the Company at HK$0.12 per
share. Proceeds generated from the Placing 1 amounted to
HK$456,000,000 (before share issue expenses of
HK$4,560,000). Part of the proceeds was used for financing
the settlement of the cash consideration for the Acquisition.
The issue of the shares under Placing 1, before offsetting
share issue expenses, resulted in the increase in share capital
and share premium account of the Company by
HK$190,000,000 and HK$266,000,000 respectively.

On 13 April 2011, the Group completed a placing (the
“Placing 2") of 1,320,000,000 new shares of the Company
at HK$0.067 per share. Proceeds generated from the Placing
2 amounted to HK$88,440,000 (before share issue expenses
of HK$1,776,000). The issue of shares under Placing 2,
before offsetting the share issue expenses, resulted in the
increase in share capital and share premium account of the
Company by HK$66,000,000 and HK$22,440,000
respectively. The net proceeds is intended to be utilised as
general working capital of the Group.

Mongolia Investment Group Limited
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MisE : (&) Notes: (Continued)

WM EIMBEE AR EST
1,970,000,0000 KB 1E R U IEF
BZBHRE - RERNDZAREGRR
BARRBRMNUKBEEERB M2 WK
BER0.228 7L H) /433,400,000
BT BITRERNDABSCEARFZ
i 7S K2 s A i 8 B 4% 9198,500,0007
7T }2.334,900,0007% 7T °

FRN - BEEFEEAKRER0.22BT (=
T——F 0228 2 HBERBRE
165,000,000/ T (=T ——4 :
116,600,000/ 7T) 2 Al R 2% - &
It & B 317 A $£750,000,0000% (— =
——4F : 530,000,0000%) X A& (5 °
HRBELE  BRAKBRODRERES
5 R in37,500,0005 7T (—F ——
4 : 26,500,000/ 7T) K& 131,720,000
B (ZF——%F 92,594,000/
T0) - BBEANIME IR flER 2
AR R ESEE  TTET AT D
R a@Esmz e FaE27(d) i) -

—H %4 | Annual Report 2012

As disclosed in note 1, the Company issued 1,970,000,000
Consideration Shares as part of the consideration for the
Acquisition. The fair value of the Consideration Shares,
determined based on the closing market price of the Company
on the Acquisition Date of HK$0.22 per share, amounted to
HK$433,400,000. The issue of the Consideration Shares
resulted in the increase in share capital and share premium
account of the Company by HK$98,500,000 and
HK$334,900,000 respectively.

During the year, the Noteholder converted the Convertible
Note in total amount of HK$165,000,000 (2011:
HK$116,600,000) at the conversion price of HK$0.22 (2011:
HK$0.22) per share whereby a respective total number of
750,000,000 (2011: 530,000,000) Conversion Shares were
issued. As a result of the conversion, share capital and share
premium has increased by HK$37,500,000 (2011:
HK$26,500,000) and HK$131,720,000 (2011:
HK$92,594,000) respectively, the aggregate of which
represents the proportional amounts of the convertible note
equity reserve, the Derivative Component and the liability
component at the time of conversion (note 27(d)(ii)).
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ARARBEREZBRRN _FTREF -
AZTHRBEBZ EEABRRFRN—RE
PogEnt &l (Tt 8l)) - ZAt8lE s E R
ARABRSEEH R REEBEERME
HEAEHZ BB - T8l 2 A BRSH
EEE  (VARBZHIT  JFITHEL
FRTESHASERET ARG CE
RB(BEAR]) 2EE (DAKEREM
BMBABCHEMERSRTIEAR : (i)A
SEHEABBAR 2P - HER - K
2 A%A BER BAA BRERIEE
B (MEMEERERERAER X
A MZEEFZXBALBHEERIET
HE - BEEG - (DRGDETZAL
EWEG) - (RGBT ZEAMALER
BEHZ A o %at 8z EEBGEFBRM
T

(1)  ARARMBRERSLERART
XNIBTHER/RLRE -

(2)  ZRIEIETERRNDZABETS
ERTI=Ehz&aE : )ERQ
AlZBMNEE: (IRRTARER
2EEZH (BREERBRITE
XZBTRBRARETESR S
BBy (Ix&A8])) BREN
RE R R RERMAIIZHE ™
B RNEERTRERBEE
2 HAEERER S B ESRERNRN
B P A RER T 2 FH R

go

(3) ERERIREZATEIZ K B
PRI AR RIS B R 2 &% B st
TEBI0F 2 HE A RERITE -
BB ETTEBRER L AR A Z

AR o

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the
“Scheme”) pursuant to a written resolution of all the then
shareholders passed on 25 February 2006. The purpose of
the Scheme is to recognise and acknowledge the contributions
that the eligible participants have made or may make to the
business development of the Group. Eligible participants of
the Scheme include (i) the Company’s executive, non-executive
or independent non-executive Directors or a director of an
entity in which the Group holds an interest (the “Affiliate”);
(i) other employee or officer of the Group or any Affiliate; (iii)
customer, supplier, agent, partner, consultant, adviser or
shareholder of or contractor to the Group or any Affiliate; (iv)
the trustee of any trust the beneficiary of which or any
discretionary trust the discretionary objects of which include
persons under (i), (i) and (iii); and (v) a company beneficially
owned by any persons under (i), (i) and (iii). The principal
terms of the Scheme are summarised as follows:

(1) Upon acceptance of the option, the grantee shall pay
HK$1 to the Company as consideration for the grant.

(2) The subscription price in respect of each share under
the Scheme shall not be less than the highest of (i) the
nominal value of the Company’s shares; (ii) the closing
price of each share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the date of offer to the eligible
participant, which must be a day on which licensed
banks are open for business in Hong Kong and the
Stock Exchange is open for business for dealing in
securities (“Trading Day”); and (iii) the average closing
price of each share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheets for the five consecutive Trading
Days immediately preceding the date of offer to the
eligible participant.

(3) An option may be exercised in accordance with the
terms of the Scheme at any time during the period
which shall not be more than 10 years from the
business day on which the option is deemed to have
been granted. There is no minimum period for which
an option must be held before it can be exercised.

ELREEEAEMRLT | Mongolia Investment Group Limited
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(4)

(%)

(6)

RIERETTEHE M ~ #IERBA
SAEE ST MBE AR LTS -
HEm - R 8B A BHA
B REKFABEZBERELE
B BERIEAS R AR

AR BRIBZ AR BEME
fEt BRI 2 P R AR 1T {2
A TRITZRERMNEE A HT
BHEAARRABRMNNERZA EHE
BARBEBHITRAZI0% ° IRE
AR RERA S £ #kat 8%
BLR - WEEH 2 Z8IREL
[RASEBRRNBIRAEG Lt
ZAENE B 2 BERITRMAR
10% -

EAFEZTBIEMEMEZIE
AT RRARIEZE &8I R AR E]
EREALET BB RO M EARTT
1 BT TR ] T 31T 2 X
EREHE  AATFEETRE
BTN 42812 30% ° BRIFERIGAR
Ryt - BRIPEM 1218 A HIE
AR TIEMABIRSEE ZBE
(BHREETTE - EEHEREARITE
ZIBRRE) TR B 1T s T 3
TZEhEESHEEITBBATEE
BT B Z1%

Bl R EIRM A (B ==
TERF_A-THB)BATFA
BB AR e

R AR N, T 455 B A MRER AR B 3K
RERAXERBER -
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4)

An option will lapse on expiry of the exercise period of
the option, on cessation of employment, or on cessation
to be customer, supplier, agent, partner, consultant,
adviser or shareholder of or contractor to the Group or
any Affiliate.

The maximum number of the Company’s shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted
under the Scheme and any other scheme of the
Company shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the
issued share capital of the Company as at the date of
listing of the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange.
The Scheme mandate limit may be refreshed by the
shareholders in general meeting from time to time
provided always that the Scheme mandate limit so
refreshed must not exceed 10% of the total number of
shares in issue as at the date of approval of such
refreshment by the shareholders in general meeting.

Notwithstanding any other provisions of the Scheme,
the maximum number of the Company’s shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Scheme and
any other scheme of the Company must not in
aggregate exceed 30% of the total number of shares
in issue from time to time. Unless approved by the
shareholders, the maximum number of shares issued
and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted
to any eligible participants (including exercised,
cancelled and outstanding options) in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the total number of
shares in issue from time to time.

The Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of
ten years commencing on the date of adoption of the
Scheme, i.e. 25 February 2006.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to
dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.
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31. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

(Continued)
2% B R 2 R R R Terms and conditions of the share
options granted
EETFTARRETESERAEEETE Details of the outstanding share options granted to certain
B 5en  BREREERZHRITEZ Directors of the Company and certain employees, sub-contractors,
RSB consultants and suppliers of the Group are as follows:
ZERE
BEA2 iy
ARARRE REAHZ
Company's  ALAFRE
BERE share price Company’s
BREHA T8 T8  immediately share price
BRERL A S Number of Exercisable  Exercise  before grant on grant
Options grant date options granted price date date
BT BT BT
HK$ HK$ HK$
—“EENF-A+NH 18 February 2009 64,000,000 B3k (a) 0.148 0.150 0.148
note (a)
“ETNFENAZTRA 25 August 2009 15,900,000 fitzE(b) 0.385 0.350 0.380
note (b)
“E-EF+AZTAH 25 October 2010 560,000,000 M5 (c) 0.171 0.173 0.171
note (c)
B EE Notes:

(a)
(b)

(c)

148

ZEEBRERRLEBHERE  JRNE
WEREERAREE_T——F /A
+HABTE -

(a)

ZEBERERNBELAHRE  TRE
MBEREEAREE_T——F/\A=
+—B176 -

(b)

ZEBBRENTER (HEFNELA
HIEE) MRk GE - N2 —TF+
AZ+thBEEEMNEREE S -
140,000,000 AT 7 4% i H HA 2 61E
P25 8 - H#r420,000,0001 1 H iz
SoEEAAERSE DS RE - A
BBERERGERRATE TR
“ZE-RETA-THRBARER -

=

(c)

These share options vest on the date of grant and are
exercisable from the date of acceptance of the options up to
29 February 2012.

These share options vest on the date of grant and are
exercisable from the date of acceptance of the options up to
31 August 2012.

These share options vest upon commencement of the exercise
period which is determined by the Directors on the grant date.
Among the share options granted on 25 October 2010,
140,000,000 options vest after 6 calendar months from the
grant date, and the remaining 420,000,000 options vest in 5
equal tranches in every 6 calendar months thereafter. All the
options are exercisable from the vest date and will expire on
25 October 2020.

EHREEEAER2AT | Mongolia Investment Group Limited
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31. URGO X 2 {8 31. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

(Continued)
BRE2SB3 R HEMEFS Movements of the share options and
THEE their weighted average exercise price
RAMBRFEENEREZEHOT : The movements of the share options during the current

financial year are as follows:

BREHE
Number of share options
BRE RA-EB—-fF R=Z-=%
RS mE—H =A=t—F
EBA Options grant At 1 April R BT 2Rk At 31March
Grantees date 2011 Granted Exercised Forfeited 2012
T4 T T3 T T4
'000 '000 '000 '000 '000
% ZETNENRZTHA 2,600 - - - 2,600
Directors 25 August 2009
“Z-ZE+A-+hA 315,000 - - (73,750) 241,250
25 October 2010
317,600 - - (73,750) 243,850
B8 ZETNENAZTHA 650 - - (100) 550
Employees 25 August 2009
“Z-ZF+A-+hA 85,000 - - (45,000) 40,000
25 October 2010
85,650 - - (45,100) 40,550
REKE Mt e “EENF-A+NA 48,000 - - (48,000) -
Suppliers of 18 February 2009
services or goods ZETNFENRZTHA 600 - - - 600
25 August 2009
“Z-ZF+A-+hA 160,000 - - (95,000) 65,000
25 October 2010
208,600 - - (143,000) 65,600
At 611,850 - - (261,850) 350,000
Total
MEFHTRE
(BRER) 0.171 - - 0.167 0.173

Weighted average
exercise price
(HK$ per share)

—Z——FF% | Annual Report 2012 ]-49
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31. URGO X 2 {8 31. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

150

BRECSBREMELES
TEE @)

RE—HBRFENBREZBMNT

(Continued)

Movements of the share options and their
weighted average exercise price (continued)

The movements of the share options during last financial year

are as follows:

BREZE
Number of share options

BRE H-F-%F n-g--%

BHAH mA-H ZA=+-H

ARA Options grant At 1 April B BT B2EK At 31March

Grantees date 2010 Granted Exercised Forfeited 2011

Fin Fin T4

'000 1 ] '000 '000

£ ZZETAFNAZ+HA 3,200 - (600) - 2,600
Directors 25 August 2009
“Z-Z5+AZTAA

25 October 2010 - 315,000 - - 315,000

3,200 315,000 (600) - 317,600

EE ZEENFENAZTHA 1,700 - (300) (750) 650
Employees 25 August 2009

“Z-TF+A-+HA - 85,000 - - 85,000
25 October 2010

1,700 85,000 (300) (750) 85,650

PR S E m it “ETAFE-ATNA 48,000 - - - 48,000
Suppliers of services 18 February 2009

or goods ZEENENAZTAA 1,800 - (1,200) - 600
25 August 2009

“E-ZETA-T1H - 160,000 - - 160,000
25 October 2010

49,800 160,000 (1,200) - 208,600

At
Total 54,700 560,000 (2,100) (750) 611,850
MEFHTEE (BRER) 0.177 0.171 0.385 0.385 0.171

Weighted average
exercise price
(HK$ per share)

M-T——F=A=+—AHKTE2HE
BAEMITEEN TE%0.171455£0.385
BT (ZT——4% : 0.1488TE0.385/8
) HRZE——F=A=+—HKMN
BT HFBAENFHABAIFE (ZT——
& : 8.85%F) - RAFEMEBRIERT
£ « & $£2,100,0001p BB A A L F 5
1E - AR RREBREITER 2 T
HRRE B FRR0.635 T -

The exercise prices of the outstanding share options as at 31
March 2012 range from HK$0.171 to HK$0.385 (2011:
HK$0.148 to HK$0.385) per share and their weighted average
remaining contractual life as at 31 March 2012 is 8.49 years
(2011: 8.85 years). There were no share options being
exercised during the year. In last year, a total of 2,100,000
share options were exercised and the weighted average share
price of the Company at the time the options were exercised
was HK$0.63 per share.

EHREEEAER2AT | Mongolia Investment Group Limited
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AEEHERHEMBRE (T ——
£ : 560,000,000173) °

REBEE-ZT——F=A=1+—HILFER
Rz BN AR ENTREX0.0590/8
JLE0.08478TL - RTESF - BEENE
B2 IR R BT RE R B HiET
ENEaRTARAEMETE  KHERE
ToERERBREAAEE —BHRRHE
HEBMRERERE ZREAIEHNE
o BT R MR < BB R A (B
TIRBFARERBOTEMEE

RBE-T——F=A=1t—HLFER
B2 BRE 2 AR ERBEERRE =
EAEEERN ([ZRADFE - KA
ZBRAZBIBFINWT

FARARE (BTT) 0.171
BRITEE (BT 0.171
TEHRR 18 (%) (5 (a)) 57.78%
42 [ B K1 % (%) (9 5% (b)) 2.0970%
% B U 5 (%) 0%

8 HA R R R U () 48—72
P&t :

(a) BHKEN2RAZELAABEZSE
[E] #2578 i 2 5E

(b) BB IR E B B8 2 E8 50
RS B 5 B -

Z—_—FF% | Annual Report 2012

No share options were granted during the year (2011:
560,000,000).

The fair values of the share options granted during the year
ended 31 March 2011 ranged from HK$0.0590 to HK$0.0847
per share. The fair value of the share options granted to the
Directors, employees and sub-contractors was determined
based on the fair value of the equity instruments measured
on the date of grant. Share options granted to the sub-
contractors are an incentive to them for their continuing
contribution to the Group for providing services similar to those
rendered by its employees. The fair value of the share options
granted to the consultants and suppliers was determined based
on the market price of the services provided.

The fair value of the share options granted during the year
ended 31 March 2011 was determined by an independent
valuer using the binomial option pricing model (the “Model”).
Details of the inputs to the Model are as follows:

Share price (HK$ per share) 0.171
Exercise price (HK$ per share) 0.171
Expected volatility (%) (note (a)) 57.78%
Risk-free interest rate (%) (note (b)) 2.0970%
Dividend yield (%) 0%
Expected life of option (years) 48-7.2
Notes:

(a) Expected volatility is determined by reference to the historical

volatility of weekly return for companies in the same industry.

(b) Risk-free interest rate represents the yields to maturity of Hong
Kong Exchange Fund Note with respective terms to maturity
as at the valuation date.
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RANF E BIRA BRES| BLZ AR 1
Z e #H S5 A4,710,0008 T (ZF
——% : 14,711,000 70) © R BT
XY o Hip - R TEFRIEE ZBIRERT
A DARR 9 S 1+ 2 8 © %8 &5,276,000
B (ZZF——% : 10,508,000/87T) * K
RSB E—FERTFTETEBZARE
8 IR e i 43 [o] B AR 4 7 &2 566,000 7T ©
FAFE£1%84,710,0008 T (=T ——&F :
14,711,000 7) Jhat ABERR R B
RZEETEAURREET ARG F2
X5 WU REREMEE -

RAVBEE  HTEF  EEMERZ
213,750,00017 7 57 /& & B LA S 3% T 14
fER I — % & B 248,100,00007 E S EiE
IREE BRI - BORBCREEBAREM
= AU BEERFEERRIIER B
BREHEEREMS - HESE
1,113,000/ T C IR EFHERER
AERE - RE-MRFE RTEEZ
750,000 B 57 BB AR i B R U - HERE
fE AR A 52 79,0007 7T 2 i AR R e s
BEREB BN -

RZE——F=A=+—HERTERA
F17{E 2 BEAAE S B 4155,000,0001% (=
T——% : 51,850, ooo@) (EEAARA
RIEETRMONLI2% (ZE——F
0.7%) ° WZEBREDBUEITHE - Hﬁﬁ
BANA R)ZBEESNEE1T106,250,0008% (=
——% : 51,850,0000%) & AL - %i‘é
5,313,000 L (=F——%F :
2,593,000/ 7T) 2 A& A< 5 13,659,0007% 7T
—F——% : 5993000/ T) Z B

=

The amortised amount of share-based compensation arising
from existing share options during the year which amounted
to HK$4,710,000 (2011: HK$14,711,000) was recognised as
administrative expenses. Of which, share-based compensation
in respect of share options granted to the directors and
employees amounting to HK$5,276,000 (2011:
HK$10,508,000), offsetting with the reversal of share option
expense amounting to HK$566,000 arising from the forfeiture
of unvested share options granted to certain consultants in
prior year. The corresponding amount of HK$4,710,000 (2011:
HK$14,711,000) has been credited to the share option
reserve. No liabilities were recognised as those are equity-
settled share-based payment transactions.

During the current financial year, 213,750,000 unvested share
options granted to directors, employee and consultants and
48,100,000 vested shares options granted to suppliers and
an employee were forfeited. For the forfeiture of the unvested
share options, they are recorded as a reversal to current year’s
profit or loss account and for the forfeiture of vested share
options, the corresponding amount of HK$1,113,000 was
transferred from share option reserve to accumulated losses.
During last financial year, 750,000 vested share options which
were granted to employees were forfeited and the
corresponding share option expense of HK$79,000 was
transferred from share option reserve to retained profits.

The number of outstanding share options which are exercisable
as at 31 March 2012 was 155,000,000 (2011: 51,850,000)
which represent approximately 1.2% (2011: 0.7%) of the
Company’s shares in issue on that date. The exercise in full of
these share options would result in the issue of 106,250,000
(2011: 51,850,000) additional ordinary shares of the Company
including additional share capital of HK$5,313,000 (2011:
HK$2,593,000) and share premium of HK$13,659,000 (2011:
HK$5,993,000).

ELREEEAEMRLT | Mongolia Investment Group Limited
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32. f##E 32. RESERVES
R EE The Group

—EF——F —T——F
2012 2011
FHxT T T
HK$’000 HK$'000
B 1n i B (FiEE(a)) Share premium (note (a)) 1,056,066 903,682
A GHEE (P 5E(b)) Merger reserve (note (b)) 13,805 13,805
RN REREE (I REW) Share option reserve (note (d)) 21,059 17,462
& NBE B 7 (BT (e)) Capital redemption reserve (note (e)) 6,629 6,629
VE 5 1 (B RE() Translation reserve (note (f)) 107,075 244,261

AR ERERFEE Convertible note equity reserve
(Kt3E27(d)) (note 27(d)) 348,595 434,124
ZEHBE Accumulated losses (1,671,653) (284,982)
(118,424) 1,334,981

—ZE— %% | Annual Report 2012 ].53
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32. @®E @ 32. RESERVES (continuea)
b/ NY/NE] The Company

TRREE

ERERE HrRORE BERfE
R RE BB Share Capital Convertible ZitER
Share Contributed option redemption note equity  Accumulated

premium surplus reserve reserve reserve losses

THx TEL TERL TER TEL

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(3t @) (W3 (Af3k(@) (Hfzk(e) (BzE27(d))
(note (a)) (note (c)) (note (d)) (note () (note 27(d))

R-E-EFNA-H At 1 April 2010 213,742 76,249 3132 6,629 - (12,416) 287,336
TEEBR Loss for the year - - - - - (148412) (148412)
EARERR (13000 Issue of shares under placing
(note 30(b)) 266,000 - - - - - 266,000
ETRL (H300) Share issue expenses (4,560) - - - - - (4,560)
(note 30(b))
BARERD (H30(c) Issue of Consideration Shares
(note 30(c)) 334,900 - - - - - 334,900
REFEHZBIE (531)  Share options granted in
current year (note 31) - - 14711 - - - 14711
R BRE Share options forfeited - - (79) - - - (79)
RApERENET RN Shares issued upon exercise of
share options 1,006 - (302) - - - 704
BOMAREE (MH27(d)  Issue of Convertible Note
(note 27(d)) - - - - 494 565 - 494 565
RRTRREE Conversion of Convertible Note
(R 27(0) i R30(d) (note 27(d)(ii) & 30(d)) 92,594 - - - (60,441) - 32,153
RZB--5=F=1+-BRK  At31 March 2011 and
“E--ENE-A 1 April 2011 903,682 76,249 17,462 6,629 434,124 (160,828) 1,277,318
rEEER Loss for the year - - - - - (1,478,806)  (1,478,806)
EARERR (W30(0) Issue of shares under placing
(note 30(b)) 22,440 - - - - - 22,440
TRt TRZ (E30(0) Share issue expenses
(note 30(b)) (1,776) - - - - - (1,776)
WRIAZ T2 B (W3E3D) Share-based compensation
(note 31) - - 4710 - - - 4710
R BIRiE Share options forfeited - - (1,113) - - - (1,113)
RATAREE Conversion of Convertible Note
(BF27(0) i R 30(e) (note 27(a)(ii) & 30(d)) 131,720 - - - (85,529) - 46,191
R-E-ZE=f=1-H At 31 March 2012 1,056,066 76,249 21,059 6,629 348,595 (1,639,634) (131,036)
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(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

F——FFH

—4F = F=+—HIFFJZ For the year ended 31 March 2012

*ETFIE%X%%&WJ%Z:Z“T&( h

NTEEMREN - KA RIEE]
RARRMDHEERZESARIIRT
RATRE - EEEEZESIKRER
Hig - AARIEGRNERBAERAE
X REPER B EG -

AEBEZAHREBREREARENA
REVER T LT AT 2 BRI
BHBARZEABERESRAR
BIBITAER B RAHRE L ZH

ZS’“ﬁZf%U\@ﬁ??‘éffETFZKE EI)REN
NEBAD FERE R P E T ATETT 2 AR

PR B AR 2 REKARTRAR

BIBITAMER B RAHRE L ZH

BREREECRLBREZAA
B - AR ISHNM LS. 18P B LA
P Se A Z M ER MBS EBUR -

AEABERFEREERARE SN MR
ERFBERNEEZSHE -

PE X R B A A RR M TS 145750
SR BEAEBINEBN I IEHREK
PREEAERE L 2% o

Annual Report 2012

Notes:

(a)

(b)

(d)

(f)

Under the Companies Law Cap. 22, (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands, the funds
in the share premium account of the Company are
distributable to the shareholders of the Company provided
that immediately following the date on which a dividend is
proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position
to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

The merger reserve of the Group represents the difference
between the nominal value of the aggregate share capital of
subsidiaries acquired over the nominal value of the share
capital of the Company issued in exchange pursuant to the
reorganisation of the Group taken place before the listing of
Company on the Stock Exchange.

Contributed surplus of the Company represents the difference
between the costs of investment in subsidiaries acquired over
the nominal value of the share capital of the Company issued
in exchange pursuant to the reorganisation of the Group taken
place before the listing of Company’s shares on the Stock
Exchange.

Share option reserve represents the fair value of share options
granted as further explained in the accounting policy adopted
for share-based compensation in note 3.18.

Capital redemption reserve represents the transfer from
retained profits of the amount equivalent to the par value of
the shares repurchased.

Translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences
arising from the translation of the financial statements of
foreign operations in accordance with the accounting policy
adopted in note 3.14.
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33.

EBREH

AN EELRTIL - AEBER T —TF
ANATEATRKEEE - Mongolia
Investment BVIZ 7] #% 511 & & & B ER K
BRHEZ AR EREERESEIEN 2

FREEMT

33. BUSINESS COMBINATION

As mentioned in note 1, the Group completed the Acquisition
on 17 June 2010, the fair values of the identifiable assets and
liabilities of Mongolia Investment BVI as at the Acquisition Date

and the corresponding carrying amounts immediately prior to
the Acquisition are as follows:

IREE
ARE Carrying
Fair values amounts
FAT FAT
HK$'000 HK$'000
Y - BN Property, plant and equipment 13,368 13,368
AT L E IR Prepaid land lease payments 675 675
iR R HEE Exploration and evaluation assets 2,429,431 1,481,414
HMBEARBERIES Other prepayments and deposits 3,511 3,511
B 5 & H b EUEIR Trade and other receivables 4,104 4,104
ReRFASEEYD Cash and cash equivalents 2,785 2,785
B 5 I H fth fE S 5UIR Trade and other payables (7,363) (7,363)
FE A BB 5 R IE Amounts due to related parties (13) (13)
RITIEE Bank borrowings (5,581) (5,581)
B8 75 B Government subsidies (6,730) (6,730)
EERIRAE Deferred tax liabilities (600,637) (363,633)
BEAEEFE Net assets acquired 1,833,550 1,122,537
& (MEE17) Goodwill (note 17) 33,701
e s E1B4AK A (f5E(a))  Total cost of the Acquisition (note (a)) 1,867,251
LIRS EE 2 WEARE Purchase consideration settled in cash 200,000
W T B AR 2 Less: cash and cash equivalents
ReRBEEEEY in subsidiaries acquired (2,785)
e R FEE Net cash outflows 197,215
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33. ¥ 56t

GER

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

—Z2—_FF%H | Annual Report 2012

RERKERBZARBEERS

33. BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

The fair value of the consideration at the Acquisition Date

comprised:
FHB T
HK$’000
Re Cash 200,000
RERS (HEE30(c) Consideration Shares (note 30(c)) 433,400
A EE (H5E27(c) Promissory Note (note 27(c)) 285,614
Al iR (M 3E27(d) Convertible Note (note 27(d)) 948,237
1,867,251

BERENK GBS RERESX
% ARREREARARENERE
BHGERAZ L THARAREE
TERHBEAREREL AKX
R o

85 REMBKHKAEZ AR EREE
734,104,000/ 7T ° 5% 5 FE 4 FOR I
BE - BFRMEHRIET 28D -

B EXXFTiiE SN - WHEBZEDERE T
B ARE (RRANRE]) BEZIER
A o IRIRZ RN RARHE - MR
ERBEEER N \EAANGTFRRZ
HERS ((F-HBEHEERS) BT
Camex LLC K Kores P43 £ 18 #h £ k& R
(FF5E19) 2 A s Bk Camex LLC R E
B AR (T iERA NIEREER (I
F18) ZTNE) 2 AR E (A RE]) T
> 1A1,550,000,00058 7T » AQ AIZA[A)
HP— 2B RTEEER((BEE
Bl)  BEEBRZACEES:

(b)

(c)

(d)

The goodwill was attributable to the exploration and mining
business in Mongolia and such Acquisition enables the Group
to diversify its existing business portfolio and broaden its
source of income arising from natural resources business in
Mongolia.

The fair value and the gross amount of trade and other
receivables amounted to HK$4,104,000. None of these
receivables was impaired and it was expected that the full
contractual amounts could be collected.

Apart from the above, included in the acquisition agreement
were some terms and conditions relating to contingent
consideration (the “Contingent Consideration”). Under such
terms and conditions, the Company was required to issue a
compensation note (the “Compensation Note”) to one of the
vendors in case of the fair value of the seven exploration
licences (note 19) held by Camex LLC and Kores or the fair
value of Camex LLC and its subsidiaries (excluding TNE which
is holding four mining licences (note 18)) (the “Fair Value”)
as shown in the valuation report to be submitted in eight
months after the completion of the Acquisition (the “Second
Valuation Report”) was not less than HK$1,550 million. The
principal amount of the Compensation Note shall be:
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33. ¥ 66t

BsE - ()

(d)

158

33 BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(&) (d) (Continued)

(i) NRME - WE B ERERN (i) the Fair Value, if such Fair Value as shown in the
TZARBEFERHER Second Valuation Report was equal to or more than
1,550,000,0007 jT B KR HK$1,550 million but less than HK$3,100 million; or
3,100,000,000/% 7T ; 3K

(ii) 3,100,000,000/% 7t + fixi 56 = (ii) HK$3,100 million, if the Fair Value as shown in the
DIEEREMRZANBEZER Second Valuation Report was equal to or more than
sk % 7 3,100,000,0007 7T ° HK$3,100 million.

WM —HHEERSHARAZAAERR No payment shall be made if the Fair Value as shown in the

1,550,000,00078 7 + R 5 {E HE Second Valuation Report was less than HK$1,550 million.

B

BIBWEHE  ARRRBEHESE Pursuant to the acquisition agreement, the Company and the

BEGARE N LB HEKRE-H vendors shall use their respective best endeavours to obtain

HERE  BE-_MEERS 2B or procure the Second Valuation Report and the Second

EABRESKARME ° Valuation Report should be produced in form and substance

satisfactory to the Company.

HRE_HEBEREMTNIERE As the necessary work required in coming up with the Second

ERTK  BEE_HEERSEE Valuation Report could not be completed in time and the

RUEE B 8318\ @ A A )5 - BB Second Valuation Report could not be issued within eight

iR G BERESZRITEE months after the Acquisition Date, no Compensation Note

e g was issued to the vendors in accordance with the terms of

the acquisition agreement.
ELREEEAER2T | Mongolia Investment Group Limited
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34. EiE
(a) REFHERIE
AEE

RELHWFBF A BECEHE
MR ARENZ&IERSBRN

34. COMMITMENTS
(@) Operating lease commitments
The Group

The future aggregate minimum lease rental payable
under non-cancellable operating leases in respect of

™ land and buildings was as follows:

—E——F —T——fF

2012 2011

F#ExT FHEIT

HK$’000 HK$'000

—F RN Within one year 8,930 3,121
E_FEFRTF In the second to fifth years

(BIEERMT) inclusive 6,613 3,902

15,543 7,023

AEERBELKEHEHEETY
X ZEHENIREME=F
(CE——F - ME=HF)  XFIH
REHAERSEEENENER
R - ZEMREL B EMHA
B -

b /NI
RZE——FR-_FT——F=A=

T—B  ARRLEEAEREL
HEALE -

—Z——FF% | Annual Report 2012

The Group leases certain properties under operating
leases. The leases run for an initial period of two to
three years (2011: two to three years), with an option
to renew the leases and renegotiate the terms at the
expiry date. The leases do not include any contingent
rentals.

The Company

The Company did not have any significant operating
lease commitments as at 31 March 2012 and 2011.
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34. A »
(b) EAREE

34. COMMITMENTS (continuea)

(b) Capital commitments

REH

The Group

—E—_-F —E——F
2012 2011

TR TAT
HK$’000 HK$'000

EEWMHE - BEKRZMHE  Purchase of property,

(Bit3E) plant and equipment (note) 27,314 29,343
I B8 = PRl Acquisition of technical know-how 2,703 2,703
EBEBENFEEE 2 Other commitment related to exploration
e and evaluation activities 1,628 2,307
31,645 34,353
B EE Notes:

REAMA-_ZZREFNATNAR
SHBEEBRAKERIIN _—FF
RNETA+T - BEZRFHEEMNZ
B2E - INEREZINTR - AEERE
MBER > @HBaEREKAE
5,835,000,000& & £ 52 (FHER K
34,500,000/ 7T) ° shlt - EE—TF
NE+ZA=+—H INEBEJERE
1,186,000,000@ 4% B3 (FHE R K
7,000,000/ 70) Z ERAF#BY - FRE W
REZEERBAER SENIHENR-F
ZENE=ZARAEERLEE  B8F&E
EREBREZEERHER-_ZZN
% = AR E5,835,000,0008 1% £ 7
(F8E 7 4734,500,000 7T) © AT
HETIBEAPBREZAY  ZERR
B AR M ARERK ©

Pursuant to the tender submitted to the relevant government
authority of Mongolia dated 18 August 2006 which was
accepted by the government authority on 11 October 2006,
TNE has to establish a processing plant for the production of
smokeless fuel product at an estimated investment cost of
MNT5,835 million (equivalent to approximately HK$34.5
million). In connection to this, TNE received subsidies from
the government amounted to MNT1,186 million (equivalent
to approximately HK$7million) in aggregate up to 31
December 2008. The tender refers to a number of
performance targets including the commencement of
operation and production of the processing plant in March
2008, the production of a specified quantity of smokeless
fuel per year and the capital injection of MNT5,835 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$34.5 million) by March 2008.
However, the performance targets are not yet achieved up to
the date of these financial statements.

EHREEEAER2AT | Mongolia Investment Group Limited
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BsE - ()

RIBG)TNEEZ B AR R] B ]
RZFEEN\FTANBZERERD
BE - WRATNEER Z #BNE AE
FREZINTR - WHERRFERES
ZEBREEINES  (NEEE
EREERETRAREFTE RS K
BN EZBTHEER &
(INEERIFE - ERANBER
HIRZBERIE - NEE AR
RASBUFR T A RE B SKTNES R IR
BRRR  MESCEHNME - H
RERBZREMLZ R FTEY
AEEEREANBEE -R-F
——F=A=t—HE@BEERE
FEIM AR 2 A ESENR
4,495,000,000E#% 2 52 (HHE R4
26,600,000/ 7T) » WA SH
B - RINEERZBUTHEARIERTIR
BB A B EIN TR &R 2 5
SMEBNEEZR A AT - EUEREY
EHBEHEBEINIERRBD AR
(P 5E28) -

—H %4 | Annual Report 2012

Notes: (Continued)

Based on (i) a contract accomplishment notice dated 8
October 2008 which was signed by TNE and the government
authority confirming that the subsidies granted to TNE have
been used for the construction of the processing plant and
that the government has agreed to provide additional funding
for the project; (ii) management has been actively
communicating with the government authority regarding
revising the existing investment plan as well as seeking for
additional subsidies; and (iii) the legal advisors of the Group,
having considered the tender, the contract accomplishment
notice and the circumstance arising, opine that it is very
unlikely for the government to hold TNE responsible for the
performance targets, the Directors have assessed that the
fact that the performance targets as set forth in the tender
are not yet achieved do not result in the significant financial
impact to the Group. The outstanding commitment with
reference to the existing investment plan amounted to
approximately MNT4,495 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$26.6 million) as at 31 March 2012 is disclosed herein.
The entire amount of the government subsidies received were
accounted for as non-current liabilities (note 28) until TNE
and the government authority have come into a conclusion
on the revised investment plan and the additional subsidies
for the processing plant.

The Company did not have any significant capital
commitments as at 31 March 2012 and 2011.
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(b)

RBEMBFE - AEERIED
TR TIRE KRN BRRHME
BR - RNE—FHFE - NAF—
KB A BERZMBERRZKE
KEER REBEAHRAL
9,500,000/ 7T - AEBEE K
8,600,000/ T Z Z 1 KB [F 7% R
DERRERER - ZEHREAH
EEETARFDR - N -_T——F
=A=t—BRBERTBHRKA
H o ORRFAMNEETT - RER
Hig ZERRUBEER - 1R
BASEZZEERZER  EFR
RAEEEETS - NMEREH
o BRARSNRBERERER -
At EERA/ZROEBEZHER
PARRI R AR B A (E T E AR

=27
B -

RBAMBRFEE  ARE—RWE
REMEREEWEBEE—KRESE
FIFTIRE R ENERREAREH -
RES A ££495,900,0008 7T ©
AEEBEEEHRFABRIL L
500,000 7T 2 & SR MZ R 5
BERERBAR - HEREWEE
BUE—#1T8) - FA - ERREZ
BRTEEETEARL AR H#
REERR - AEAER=_Z—=
FHABRT RZTE—F=H=
T—HRBEAMBHRFZAH - %
EHRWESKNER - BEAEE
FRBECER  EFRAELEH
HRECZHRRAERZ S HMFHE
%At  EFERAEZESBEZ
AR AT ge ¥ A& B E A A
BERUBTE -

ELHREKERRAT

In prior financial years, the Group received from an
ex-subcontractor two claims in respect of two
completed projects. During last financial year, a writ of
summons was served to a subsidiary of the Company
as defendant in respect of those two claims seeking
the recovery of a sum of approximately HK$9.5 million
in aggregate. The Group made a counterclaim against
the ex-subcontractor for overpayment of approximately
HK$8.6 million. The claims are under legal
proceedings. As at 31 March 2012 and up to the date
of these financial statements, the legal proceedings are
still in progress. There is no material progress in respect
of the claims subsequent to the reporting period. Based
on the advice from the legal advisers of the Group, the
Directors believe that the Group has a good case not
only to defend but also to counterclaim the overpaid
amount. Accordingly, the Directors consider that the
claims from the ex-subcontractor will unlikely result in
any material financial impact on the Group.

In prior financial years, a writ of summons and
statement of claim were served to a subsidiary of the
Company as defendant in respect of the claim seeking
the recovery of a sum of approximately HK$5.9 million
in aggregate from an ex-subcontractor. The Group
made a statement of defence and counterclaim against
the ex-subcontractor for a sum of approximately
HK$0.5 million, and no further action was taken by
the plaintiff afterwards. During the year, the intended
administrator of the estate of the deceased plaintiff
proposed to resolve the claims by way of the mediation,
and the mediation is scheduled to be held in July 2012.
As at 31 March 2012 and up to the date of these
financial statements, there is no material progress in
respect of the claims. Based on the advice from the
legal advisers of the Group, the Directors believe that
the Group has a good defence against the plaintiff.
Accordingly, the Directors consider that the claims from
the ex-subcontractor will unlikely result in any material
financial impact on the Group.

Mongolia Investment Group Limited
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(d)

RZE——F=ZA=+=H &2
AMBEEREMALT(RE]D
KRB REMEBERIREFA - HA
REFBZIEERE - BRI
RARBEEEN =T —F=A
T —HEBRRZETRER
MBS 2@ H< o BRREIER
RAEREEERERR - AR
ARIBHIZBRERNFAEA -
RECRLIFEFARFISEFE - A
i BEAYBEREBEH - REL
EHETHEBIFLEARGHBNER
LA EY o BIRAQ T FTEE = AR B R
ZER - FRENEHSRBEN
ATREMERREL - FE - RIPELEHR
BER=_ZT——FWA+=HFTK
(FfF5£30(b)) °

B EXCRREON - RZZT—ZF=H
=t+—H  AEERBEXKBE
PERLBERMBLAR - ARA
FAT5ER R B R RIS RIARIR - B0
PR 2 S aa e R R AT AR (E
TR EEARCBERHZRR
AR BP0 % F Rl R R R
BZBREWA) © Bt - &EFFR
RERZBEEERTEHAEE
ZHEIRRERBEA TN E -

Z—_—FF% | Annual Report 2012

On 23 March 2011, two of the Company’s Directors
and others (the “Plaintiffs”) commenced legal
proceedings to claim against the Company and other
directors for various relief including an injunction
preventing the Company from proceeding with the
proposed placing of shares pursuant to the resolution
passed by the Board on 21 March 2011. The Plaintiffs
have not claimed against the Company for damages
and the liabilities of the Company are limited to costs
at this stage. The Plaintiffs have made an application
for an interlocutory injunction. However, up to the date
of these financial statements, the Plaintiffs have not
fixed a hearing date for the application of interlocutory
injunction. Based on the advice of the Senior Counsel
retained by the Company, the Plaintiffs’ application for
injunction has little hope of success. As a matter of
fact, the placing of shares has been subsequently
completed on 13 April 2011 (note 30 (b)).

Apart from the above, as at 31 March 2012, a number
of lawsuits and claims arising from the normal course
of business were lodged against the Group which
remain outstanding as at the date of these financial
statements. Claim amounts are not specified in some
of the applications of these lawsuits and claims. In the
opinion of the Directors, sufficient insurance coverage
are maintained to cover the losses, if any, arising from
most of these lawsuits and claims and therefore the
ultimate liability under these lawsuits and claims would
not have a material adverse impact on the financial
position of the Group.
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36. ER 36. GUARANTEES
REMEAR - NARMEL N ERIBHER As at the end of the reporting period, the Company issued the
(N following significant financial guarantees:

—EB——fF ===
2012 2011
F#Ex FHIT
HK$’000 HK$'000
LATIEE 2R Guarantees in respect of:
RITRTETHEB AR Credit facilities granted by banks to
ZIEERmE certain subsidiaries 85,983 137,645
RITA—RHB R A Performance bonds issued by banks
2 BPEBEINNENRE to a subsidiary’s customer = 10,000
ETFWEAREL Finance lease arrangements entered
ZREHERH into by certain subsidiaries 13 372
85,996 148,017
AReEREETHBARMBITIEHR The Company, together with certain of its subsidiaries, issued
XER  (EEAAKBRARRHEEREZ cross guarantees to bankers as part of the security for credit
DR o facilities granted to the subsidiaries.
EXRARM LM BIERES 2 VT In the opinion of the directors, the financial impact arising
FEWTERN - Bt Fil SRR & from providing the above financial guarantees is immaterial
AZERHERE - and accordingly, they are not accounted for in these financial
statements.
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37. BERR S 37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(i) BEREQARIZRS (i) Transactions with related companies

—E—_-F —E——F
2012 2011

TR TET
HK$’000 HK$'000

TR FEBEABMRAFZ  Rental expenses for office premises paid

MAERSHAL to Grand Media Limited (Note (a))

(P 3 (a)) 984 984
TRFEBRABMRATZ  Interest expense to Grand Media

F 2R (FifE(a) Limited (Note (a)) 75 -
ERAHZEREEZ Gain arising from extension of

Wz (B 7 (b)) the Promissory Note (Note (b)) 34,497 -

B EE - Note:

(a) RRBEFRMALE - RE (a) The directors of the Company, Mr. Yuen Chow Ming,
WAL REREEENERE Mr. Yuen Wai Keung and Mr. So Yiu Cheung, have
RATIDBIHEB3I4% ~ 33% K% equity interests of 34%, 33% and 33% respectively
33% 2 W& HE - in Grand Media Limited.

(b) EHEBBRBEARBAIETFE (b) The Promissory Note holder is Sino Access Holdings
£ B 2 A7ASino Access Limited, a company owned by Mr. Wong Ching Ping
Holdings Limited * R =ZF—= Alex who has material equity interests of 20.86% in
FZA=+—HEEFEAH the Company as at 31 March 2012.
BARRDA20.86% 2 EAK
o

(i) EEEEBAE (ii) Key management personnel

BINABRENISEZEEEE Included in staff costs are key management personnel

ABFHE - compensation which comprises the following

categories:

—_E—_F

2012

FHET

HK$’000
HF4 RN EWEM  Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 10,517 11,615
LA 25 45 B A0 LA AR 17 Equity-settled share-based compensation 5,276 8,275

Stz E

RKEFIET Bl Retirement benefits scheme contributions 173 164
15,966 20,054
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EAXEHE

AEBNENEE B IRTREAEBER
BLE  NMABRRIRHOR - FKRE
Hib Mz ERE NS - W RENE
AIRBIAREEARKA - ARMERAKE
B AN & -

AEBERERNB B EKNEEEITHER
B ZLETRFEBRAERTE -
FEERERERBRTEFRRESEDE
BIRITER o REFFSGAEEREE « i
RAECEIEE AEEHGHABRNT
AR Z R B EBITHAR D - RBEZT—
TERTE——F=ZR=+—HIFE
WAREHEREARNEZ - BURREFEL
EfIFHEE o

38. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to
provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to
reduce the cost of capital and to support the Group’s stability
and growth.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of gearing
ratio, i.e. net debt to equity. Net debt includes borrowings less
cash at banks and in hand and pledged bank deposits. To
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust
the dividend payment to shareholders or issue new shares as
it sees fit and appropriate. No change was made in the
objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during
the years ended 31 March 2012 and 2011.

—E——F —T—%

2012 2011

FBT T T

HK$’000 HK$'000

&% Debt 846,501 949,609
W IRITEF ARG HE Less: cash at banks and in hand

BERIRITE R and pledged bank deposits (335,417) (323,167)

FEDS Net debt 511,084 626,442

BN EmBE Capital represented by total equity 340,924 1,690,984

BEARBELXK Gearing ratio 150% 37%
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39. @I H 39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
() I EER (@) Categories of financial instruments
REM
The Group
—=f —F——F
2012 2011
FTEx FHIT
HK$’000 HK$’000
B%EE Financial assets
BARERIEZFIER Financial assets at fair value through
LB EE profit or loss — Derivative
— TEUBEE financial assets 63,734 80,342
B & EW R IE Loan and receivables (including cash
(BIERITHEE at banks and in hand and
NG i v i pledged bank deposits)
RITEH 421,075 411,667
BKaE Financial liabilities
RESAKATIERR  Financial liabilities at amortised cost 944,667 1,025,138
MBAas
RAF
The Company
== —F——%F
2012 2011
FTEx FHIT
HK$’000 HK$’000
M EE Financial assets
BARERIBZEYIER Financial assets at fair value through
2B EE profit or loss — Derivative financial assets
— PTERBEE 63,734 80,342
BRIk EWHIE Loan and receivables (including cash
(BIERITTER at banks and in hand and
MR & e K pledged bank deposits) 473,293 425,316
RITFR)
g =R Financial liabilities
LB SR AT BR &Y
Mg aR’ Financial liabilities at amortised cost 770,227 818,637
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(b) #%BTA2FIHIY

U I‘E

SRITARN
WA/ (FAX) &
Wz, (E518)

UTEEZHE
WA/ (%) :
BER R EKRIE
1R8BS A AN P BR
MBS A&
TR EERITETA
BHRZAREES
(Bt =E27(d))

ERANEEES
Wz (BE5E27(c)

— =4 =H=+—HI-F/Z For the year ended 31 March 2012

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial results by financial
instruments

rEH
The Group
_:qg

—F——F
2011
THT
HK$'000

2012
FERT
HK$’000

Income/(expense) and gains/(losses)
on financial instruments:

Interest income/
(expenses) on:

Loans and receivables 285 2,067
Financial liabilities at
amortised cost (88,145) (76,158)
Fair value change on the Derivative
Component of the Convertible Note
(note 27(d)) (780) 22,821
Gain arising from extension of
Promissory Note (note 27(c)) 34,497 -

(c)
x

ARENEBSEEE T REEN

MEEEEEREEERK

(c)

Financial risk management
objectives and policies

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial

AR BREMERKR (EEA risks which comprise market risk (mainly interest rate
xR REERR) - EERR risk and currency risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
ErgtEeRE o NEEAEER The Group’s overall risk management focuses on the
BEIREERIES M SE LT unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
MEZ  WRERDHEFERZEAR minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s
SENBERBMERBETF financial performance. Risk management is carried out
2 -RAREERFEETEEREE by key management under the policies approved by

FEMENBRNIT - AEEWE the board of directors. The Group does not have written
FIEEZEREREEBR o A A risk management policies. However, the directors and
%@Z%%&%%&%ﬁ/\ﬁﬁ%ﬁ% senior management of the Group meet regularly to

TEE - R R ERR LT

%EEEM%HB&RE’\J%E% °

168

identify and evaluate risks and to formulate strategies
to manage financial risks.
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30. T A w»
(d) BiEkREE
™™ 15 & ke — R =R &

MNEEBRBEMTE L AAERR
ERERET SN EBCMKE 2
RERAARE - NEEZ WA R EER
EREBER BN T 5 R E
b o REE 2 FI &R a3 E R AR
IS - REBORITEERZEH
it B EAKERERSRERN
KRy - REHRAPHARERZR
TEEZN X REERRIKE
27 FE - NEE B AW EA K
K - EEEESREERNE
R - WEBAREREREHEX
GOENESEN

AEEB E—FEURRTHERE
A 2= [ B B ORI R A B R

WA RMEARGEH I E - BEE
BAEERE2RPR2FBRT
EENREENAIER B &
A (B L BERERZERK
AR TINSRESHN - WATRE
HEEAZR)WT :

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(d) Financial risk management
Market risk — interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value or
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rate. The Group’s
income and operating cash flows are substantially
independent of changes in market interest rates. The
Group’s interest rate risk mainly arises from bank
borrowings. Majority of the bank borrowings are
arranged at variable rates which expose the Group to
cash flow interest rate risk. The interest rate and
repayment terms of the bank borrowings outstanding
at the reporting date are disclosed in note 27. The
Group currently does not have an interest rate hedging
policy. However, the management monitors interest rate
exposure and will consider hedging significant interest
rate exposure should the need arise.

The policies to manage interest rate risk have been
followed by the Group since prior year are considered
to be effective.

Management’s best estimate of the Group’s exposure
to a reasonably possible change in interest rates on its
floating rate bank borrowings, with all other variables
held constant, at the end of each reporting period are
as follows (in practice, the actual trading results may
differ from the sensitivity analysis below and the

difference could be material):

RBEEBERETTEER
(3gm) mD>
(Increase)/Decrease in loss after
tax and accumulated losses
—E——F —T——fF
2012 2011
FET FABTT
HK$’000 HK$'000
E2H(TEED Increase/Decrease in
o, m A basis points (“bp”)
+ BOE 2, +50 bp (346) (574)
— SOE 2 - 50 bp 346 574

Z—_FF%H | Annual Report 2012

169



B 75 R = MY &
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE_—_ZFT——F=H=+—HIFFJZ For the year ended 31 March 2012

39. €@ T E

(d)
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HERAREE &

i

miERKE -FXER &)
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NMEZFHWIATERNEBER 2 H
AR ER D - ERE LA BRED
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——F=A=+—BNEENE(E
HAMBRFEAN—BEFE -

w5 E R - G E R

EREREERMTIARABEIARRK
e nE R HEE RS Tk g 2 &
% o NEEARAEERNEER
SEEGERKRE REBOHRHD
RIAE TR EE R REHERER
BREBARE T IARTIIEZER
BB REAEBZEREENA
B BT B HR 2 ERINER
% AAHAEEREZERSHME
R aEERZESHEER -
S A BB A B M ARRT SLE P INE
RBHERITAETR - A - B
ERESRIINERR - WHRLE
R EBERERIMNER R

AREBEB E—FEARNTHER
B E R BREESB K

ELHREKERRAT

39 FINANC'AL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(d)

Financial risk management (continued)
Market risk — interest rate risk (Continued)

The changes in interests rates do not affect the Group’s
other components of equity. The above sensitivity
analysis is prepared based on the assumption that the
bank borrowings as at 31 March 2012 and 2011 existed
throughout the whole respective financial year.

Market risk - currency risk

Currency risk refers to the risk that the fair value or
future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The
Group/Company mainly operates and invests in Hong
Kong and Mongolia with most of the transactions
denominated and settled in HK$ and MNT respectively.
Other then certain USD-denominated loan account with
group companies, no material foreign currency risk has
been identified for the monetary assets and liabilities
in Mongolia as they were largely denominated in a
currency same as the functional currency of the
Mongolian entities to which these transactions relate.
The Mongolia subsidiaries have not entered into any
derivative instrument to hedge the foreign exchange
exposures, however, the management continuously
monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider
hedging significant foreign exchange exposure should
the need arise.

The policies to manage currency risk have been

followed by the Group since prior year are considered
to be effective.

Mongolia Investment Group Limited
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39. €@ T B » 39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuea)
(d) BBEEBRERE @ (d) Financial risk management (continued)
miZREk - E¥ER (&) Market risk - currency risk (Continued)
WA HMERERTE  SBE Management’s best estimate of the Group’s exposure
HAEENZE2RPREEER R to a reasonably possible change in MNT against USD,
ELHEGNSIER 2 BERAR with all other variables held constant, at the end of
EEF (BB L EBRE&ERNEE each reporting period are as follows (in practice, the
BRI THBURE DT - WA BEHIR actual results may differ from the sensitivity analysis
BERER)WT : below and the difference could be material):

REEBEERZETTEE
(1) "D
(Increase)/Decrease in loss after
tax and accumulated losses
—E-—F —F——%F
2012 2011
FHET T T
HK$’000 HK$’000
BREREET MNT Strengthen/weaken
HE/HE against USD
FHE10% Strengthen by 10% 13,014 10,986
B7E10% Weaken by 10% (13,014) (10,986)
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EERRESRIAZRXSETFA
RERBERIBEERM T AZ RRETHE
B BRASEAXVBERZ
Rk o

AEBBREEERSHTF - T
HEEERR - BENFARES
SEAMIRTT BT S RES
ZEY (i3525) MEE R E 1
MERIE - TREBER R
EEABAEM, S RAED
¥ AREERRRE - NEEE
HEBANTERREITIFEREE
FEAG - R BE B E MR IB A R Y
BREC - EUEREREBRBEMER
REWHENEERR - tIBEHEXR
BREEIER - AEEGHEREST
B oo ERENSE2HRAHE
Bl sk HERAR S FE UG AT R B &
8 - AR A E SRR R
BRERBE - AEEFBRTFELN
RERAEEBER ’][wu¢%Eiﬂ#ZK
SEEEZEERBE TS ZE
@Kio$%ﬂ2%%éémﬁu
B EMEERAER &M -

RZEBE——F=A=+—H E5
JEW R TBAERENTE% (ZF ——
F 1 73%) REARNE EKBETIEA
BEBDBIEATF - BEASE
EEY 2 E 5 KEMEKKIEZ
SERRAE — SEIRE R
23 EE -

RRENEFEERRR - AEEE
BEEEEERBROBE -

Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty to a
financial instrument would fail to discharge its
obligation under the terms of the financial instrument
and cause a financial loss to the Group.

The Group limits its exposure to credit risk by rigorously
selecting the counterparties. Credit risk on cash and
cash equivalents (note 25) is mitigated as cash is
deposited in banks of high credit rating. Customers of
engineering contracting business are mainly
government departments/organisation and reputable
corporations and thus credit risk is considered low.
Credit risk on other loans and receivables is minimised
as the Group performs ongoing credit evaluation on
the financial condition of its debtors and tightly monitors
the ageing of the receivable balances. Follow up action
is taken in case of overdue balances. In addition,
management reviews the recoverable amount of the
receivables individually or collectively at each reporting
date to ensure that adequate impairment losses are
made for irrecoverable amounts. The credit policies
have been followed by the Group since prior years and
are considered to have been effective in limiting the
Group’s exposure to credit risk to a desirable level. None
of the Group’s financial assets are secured by collateral
or other credit enhancements.

At 31 March 2012, 78% (2011: 73%) of the total trade
receivables was due from the Group’s largest customer
within the waterworks engineering contracting business
segment. Further quantitative data in respect of the
Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from trade and
other receivables are disclosed in note 23.

The policies to manage credit risk have been followed by
the Group since prior year are considered to be effective.
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39 FINANC'AL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(d)

Financial risk management (continued)
Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will not
be able to meet its obligations associated with its
financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash
or another financial assets. The Group’s policy is to
regularly monitor its liquidity requirements and its
compliance with lending covenants in order to maintain
sufficient reserves of cash and adequate committed
lines of funding from major financial institutions to meet
its liquidity requirements in the short and long term.

The liquidity policies have been followed by the Group
since prior years and are considered to have been
effective in managing liquidity risk.

The table below analyses the remaining contractual
maturities of the Group’s and the Company’s financial
liabilities at the reporting date which are determined
based on contractual undiscounted cash flows and the
earliest date the Group and the Company may be
required to pay:
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39. T A 39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continved)
(d) BBEEBRERE @ (d) Financial risk management (continued)
REBESRRE (&) Liquidity risk (Continued)

EFHNRTERERE
Contractual undiscounted cash flow
1FAT
EEREER 1225 2E5%
fREE Within Between Between

Carrying 1 year or 1and 2 2and 5

amount on demand years years
THT THET TET THT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

rEE The Group

W=-ZZE--F=H=1+-H Asat31 March 2012

fHBRITEER Interest-bearing bank borrowings and

MEREAE (HE@) finance lease liabilities (note (a)) 83,031 83,475 - -
B HENFR Trade payables 66,006 66,006 - -
[EFHRE R Retention payables 16,037 16,037 - -
HiENZFEREFER  Other payables and accruals 16,123 16,123 - -
GRERER Non-interest bearing Promissory Note 308,076 - 350,000 -
SETRRER Non-interest bearing Convertible

—BEHH (D) Note-liability component (note (b)) 455,394 - - 672,500

944,667 181,641 350,000 672,500

W-ZZ——F=H=+-—H Asat31 March 2011

8 RITEER Interest-bearing bank borrowings

BERESE (M) and finance lease liabilities (note (a)) 138,017 138,380 13 -
E A Trade payables 61,238 61,238 - -
[ERRBIA Retention payables 3911 3911 - -
HibENZIELEER  Other payables and accruals 10,380 10,380 - -
REERLER Non-interest bearing Promissory Note 309,472 - 350,000 -
RETBRKREE Non-interest bearing Convertible

—gEHH (HED) Note-liability component (note (b)) 502,120 - - 837,500

1,025,138 213,909 350,013 837,500
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39. T A 39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continved)
(d) BBEEBRERE @ (d) Financial risk management (continued)
REBESRRE (&) Liquidity risk (Continued)

EFTNATERERE
Contractual undiscounted cash flow
15/
EEREE 122F 225
REE Within Between Between

Carrying 1 year or land 2 2and 5

amount on demand years years
AT THT THT FTHET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

NN The Company
W-ZZ2—-F=H=+—H Asat31 March 2012
HioENZERESER  Other payables and accruals 247 247 - -
FERH B A RIZIE Amounts due to subsidiaries 6,757 6,757 - -
FEELEE Non-interest bearing Promissory Note 308,076 - 350,000 -
G EMHBEEE - A&  Non-interest bearing Convertible
(FI5E(b)) Note-liability component (note (b)) 455,394 - - 672,500
770,474 7,004 350,000 672,500
BRI BER Financial guarantees issued
ERNZSEE Maximum amount guaranteed
(M) (note () THEA NA 85,996 - -
R-E-—F=A=+—H Asat31 March 2011
HiERFELEFER  Other payables and accruals 288 288 - -
FERH B AR Amounts due to subsidiaries 6,757 6,757 - -
RERRLER Non-interest bearing Promissory Note 309,472 - 350,000 -
REMRREE - AEIHH  Non-interest bearing Convertible
(FI5E(b)) Note-liability component (note (b)) 502,120 - - 837,500
818,637 7,045 350,000 837,500
BELNIBEER Financial guarantees issued
ERNE=RESE Maximum amount guaranteed
(PEE(c)) (note (c)) THEA NA 148,004 13 -
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39 FINANC'AL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(d) Financial risk management (continuea)

(e)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Notes:

(a) The interest on borrowings is calculated based on
the amount of borrowings outstanding as at 31 March
2012 and 2011 at the respective interest rates, taking
into account the repayment dates of the respective
borrowings.

(b) For the liquidity analysis, it is assumed that the
Extension Option as disclosed in note 27(d) will not
be exercised by the Group and the Company.

(c) The contractual financial guarantees provided by the
Company are disclosed in note 36. As assessed by
the directors, it was not probable that the subsidiaries
would default the repayment of the bank borrowings
and the finance lease liabilities. In addition, it was
not probable that the banks would claim the Company
for losses in respect of the guarantee contracts due
to security in place (i.e. pledged bank deposits and
proceeds on certain civil engineering contracts of the
relevant subsidiaries as mentioned in note 27(a)) for
the bank borrowings. Accordingly, no provision for
the Company’s obligations under the guarantees has
been made.

Fair value measurements recognised
in the statement of financial
position

The following table presents financial assets and
liabilities measured at fair value in the statement of
financial position in accordance with the fair value
hierarchy. The hierarchy groups financial assets and
liabilities into three levels based on the relative reliability
of significant inputs used in measuring the fair value
of these financial assets and liabilities. The fair value
hierarchy has the following levels:

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets and liabilities;
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(e)

Fair value measurements recognised
in the statement of financial
position (continuea)

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived
from prices); and

Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based
on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the
financial asset or liability is categorised in its entirety
is based on the lowest level of input that is significant
to the fair value measurement. The financial assets and
liabilities at fair value in the statement of financial
position are grouped into fair value hierarchy as follows:

AEBRALT
Group and Company
EZEX F=BR it
Level 2 Level 3 Total
THT THT TR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

F-ERX

Level 1
BT
HK$'000

—E-"%=H=+-H 31 March 2012
THEREEE-TRREE  Derivative financial assets -
ZOTETEEH Derivative Component of
(F5E27(d)) the Convertible Note (note 27(d)) - 63,734 - 63,734
“E——%=f=+—-H 31 March 2011
THEREEE - TRREE  Derivative financial assets -
ZOTETEEH Derivative Component of
(F3E27(d)) the Convertible Note (note 27(d)) - 80,342 - 80,342
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RZB——ERA-F+XE  ARF—F
MBAR([BER]) RARGHES ([&E
B REMNEBERR L —BEKEE
Eta (EARA-—T——FA—BZ
wrRBRETRAER) (FEIMATBER
B Bt BAEAKRGREELE A
BEFEAKREREEERERERR AR
ZEBEBHITRD  BREA
1,500,000,000 7T (Al ) ([
&) - e ARRBET - REBUAT
FIHAEE - (1) 2 488,000,000
TC ¢ (R 5 0.25/%8 T id B R B 1T
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RATEBITRABITRAF FRERK
EE0.058 T 2 A E@IRE AR AT
BT RAREITRAF —REREE.25
BILZHE ML BIRZ RN E FHERERE
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B 7 — BN N R R AR R T AR
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A subsidiary of the Company (the “Purchaser”) and the
Company entered into a conditional sale and purchase
agreement on 26 May 2012 (as amended and supplemented
by a supplemental agreement dated 1 June 2012) (together
the “SPA”) with the vendors (the “Vendors”) and various
management shareholders pursuant to which the Vendors have
conditionally agreed to sell and the Purchaser has conditionally
agreed to purchase all the issued shares of Sinbo Investment
Limited at the aggregate consideration of HK$1,500 million
(subject to adjustment) (the “Consideration”). Subject to
adjustment as aforesaid, the Consideration will be settled by
(1) cash of approximately HK$88 million; (2) by allotment and
issue of 818,548,000 new ordinary shares of the Company at
HK$0.25 per share (upon the proposed share consolidation
of every 5 existing ordinary shares with a par value of HK$0.05
each in the issued and unissued share capital of the Company
into one new consolidated ordinary share with a par value of
HK$0.25 each in the issued and unissued share capital of the
Company becoming effective); and (3) the issue of the
convertible notes with an aggregate principal value of
approximately HK$1,207 million.

It is one of the conditions precedent to completion of the above
acquisition that Sinbo Investment Limited, through its indirect
wholly owned subsidiary Beijing Peace Map Information and
Technology Limited, a wholly foreign owned enterprise
incorporated in the PRC, shall have contractual arrangements
(the “Structural Agreements”) with Peace Map Co., Limited
(“Peace Map”), a company incorporated in the PRC, and/or
its shareholders so that following completion of the above
acquisition, the Group will, pursuant to the Structural
Agreements, effectively control the business and affairs of
Peace Map and its existing subsidiaries (collectively as “Peace
Map Group”), which are principally engaged in the business
of aerial photography, aviation, and aerospace remote sensing
image data processing, provision of geographic information
system software and solutions, and from which all the
economic benefits and risks arising from the business of the
Peace Map Group will be transferred to the Group.
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B I5 R R M A
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE_—_ZFT——F=H=+—HIFFJZ For the year ended 31 March 2012

| | V/
40. EH B HESH @ 40. EVENTS AFTER THE END OF
REPORTING DATE (Continued)

RREEEZEYHBHREKR 2B IE - bt Because the above acquisition has not yet been completed
W EIE R AR T - BHEA AN TK B up to the date of approval of these financial statements, it is
R BB E REET B EE Y not practicable to disclose further details about the acquisition
E—DHFBYATT c WEEE 2 ETHF contemplated by the SPA to take place on the completion date.
BEHRARBIBHEDR A= —F+ Certain details of the acquisition have been set out in the
ZATZHBRZZE—Z=ZFXA=ZTHZA Company’s announcements dated 12 December 2011 and 20
i o June 2012 respectively.
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B HEE
FINANCIAL SUMMARY

ATHI 2 AEEBERETRFE 2 EEAKR A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group

BERAEEE I RHEAC TIBEEZIEIR  for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published audited

= o WIEE W TR E BRI MwE 2 — 25 ° financial statements, is shown below. This summary does not form
part of the audited financial statements.

EF RESULTS

BE=A=1t-BLFE
For the year ended 31 March
“2EN\F —2ENF -2-BF _% o

2008 2009 2010 2012
TET TAET TAT BT TR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000

g Revenue 648,475 660,870 675,959 874,961 935,574
NEEHF, (EE) Profit/(Loss) for the year 24,885 6,391 (17,281) (370,586) (1,388,046)
BEERARE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

R=BA=+—H
As at 31 March
“EENE —T% —F-T% —T—F =B-=%

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
TET TAET TAT TR TER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000

BEE Total assets 773,315 612,615 568,216 3,323,955 1,433,868
mak Total liabilities (335,477) (229,433) (203,948)  (1,632,971) (1,092,944)
iR Total equity 437,838 383,182 364,268 1,690,984 340,924
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